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TMC Life Sciences Berhad

TMC Life Sciences Berhad (“TMCLS”) is one of the fastest growing
healthcare groups in Malaysia. Listed on the Main Market of Bursa
Malaysia Securities Berhad since 2005, the Group aims to be the
“Integrated Healthcare System of Choice in Southeast Asia”, delivering
quality, value-based care to its customers. 

The Group’s business includes: 

• Thomson Hospital Kota Damansara                                    • TMC Fertility
• Thomson TCM                                                                  • TMC Care Pharmacy 
• Thomson Iskandar 

TMCLS is in the midst of a major expansion plan, with significant additional capacity and capabilities projected to come on
stream in 2021. The plan includes expanding its flagship hospital, Thomson Hospital Kota Damansara, and developing a
new integrated medical hub - Thomson Iskandar - in Johor Bahru.
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Thomson Hospital Kota Damansara

Celebrating Life

Established in 2008, Thomson Hospital Kota Damansara
(“THKD”) is the flagship hospital of TMCLS. Located in a prime
alcove of Kota Damansara, Selangor, THKD is easily accessible
via all modes of transportation, including the Mass Rapid
Transit (“MRT”) system. 

It is a multi-disciplinary tertiary care centre equipped with
advanced medical technology and modern infrastructure to
deliver quality, affordable healthcare solutions and a superior
service experience for our local and international patients. The
205-bedded hospital is served by a panel of over 110
consultant specialists - all highly trained with commendable
track records in their medical and surgical disciplines.

With facilities ranging from a 24-hour Accident & Emergency
department and cardiac and vascular catheterization labs to a
full-fledged International Patient Centre, THKD is able to fulfill
all your healthcare needs. In addition, THKD is accredited by
the Malaysian Society for Quality in Health (“MSQH”). It is also
the first in Malaysia to offer ENT, Head and Neck CO2 laser
treatment, while also being one of four private hospitals in
Malaysia to offer specialized interventional neuro-radiology
services. 

The Hospital’s recent awards include Best Quality Initiative
(IMTJ Medical Travel Awards 2020) and Women’s Health &
Wellness Service Provider of the Year in Asia Pacific (Global
Health and Travel Awards 2020). 

In line with the Group’s vision to be the “Premier Provider of
Outstanding Value-Based Medical Services in South East Asia”,
THKD has embarked on an expansion project that will triple its
capacity. This will make it one of the largest private healthcare
institutions in the region. The expansion will enable THKD to
bring even more services and facilities to our community,
including:

535
BEDS

10
OPERATING 
THEATRES

154
SPECIALIST
OUTPATIENT CLINICS

MORE THAN

OVER 

1,000
PARKING BAYS

CANCER &
THERANOSTICS

PREVENTIVE HEALTH
& FAMILY MEDICAL
CENTRE
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Thomson Iskandar Medical Hub

Located just off the Causeway linking Johor and Singapore,
Thomson Iskandar will comprise of the 500-bed 
multi-disciplinary tertiary Iskandariah Hospital, 400 medical
suites, medical, allied health and nursing training institutes as
well as medical research facilities, and a 33-storey commercial
block.  

TMC Fertility Centre

Realising Dreams, From Hope to Joy

TMC Fertility ("TMCF") was established in January 1994 from
humble beginnings as a clinic at Damansara Utama, Selangor.
Having helped numerous couples achieve their dreams of
parenthood for more than 25 years, today, TMCF proudly
boasts a network of 6 centres, 10 resident fertility specialists,
16 highly qualified scientists, and a team of experienced nurses
and support staff nationwide.

TMCF offers a comprehensive range of reproductive treatments
such as In-Vitro Fertilisation (“IVF”), Pre-Implantation Genetic
Testing (“PGT”), cryopreservation, donation programmes,
laparoscopic surgery, and surgical sperm retrieval, among
others. Our new laboratory offers one of the most advanced
pre-implantation genetic screening to date, which is
Preimplantation Genetic Testing for Aneuploidy (“PGT-A”). It is
a technique used to analyse the number of chromosomes
present in IVF embryos. Embryos with the correct number of
chromosomes (also called euploid embryos) have a better
chance of leading to a successful pregnancy and vice versa,
embryos with the incorrect number of chromosomes (also called
aneuploid embryos) may lead to the birth of a child with a
genetic condition.  

TMCF also utilises time-lapse imaging technology, which are
specially designed incubators with a built-in camera and
microscope that takes an image of the embryos every 10
minutes. This enables the embryologists to monitor the embryos
without removing them from the safe environment of the
incubator, and this technology has also been associated with
higher live birth rates and lower early pregnancy loss. 

Quality care and high treatment standards make up the
cornerstones of TMCF’s success as strict quality controls are
practiced throughout its state-of-the-art facilities. Housing one of
the largest IVF laboratories in South East Asia, TMCF @THKD
was one of the first in Malaysia to be certified by the
Reproductive Technology Accreditation Committee (“RTAC”), an
international validation of the quality standards practice. RTAC
is the accreditation arm of the Fertility Society of Australia
("FSA"), the foremost body for reproductive medicine in Australia
and New Zealand.

TMCF WON THE FROST
& SULLIVAN BEST
PRACTICE AWARD AND
INTERNATIONAL
BUSINESS REVIEW
ASEAN AWARDS IN
2020.

“

”
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All the efforts put forth has resulted in TMCF being awarded
accolades over the years, making it a multi award-winning and
internationally renowned Centre of Excellence. The Global Health
& Travel named TMCF ‘Fertility Service Provider of the Year’ for 4
consecutive years from 2016 to 2019 as well as ‘Women’s Health
& Wellness Service Provider of the Year’ in 2018 and 2019. Also,
Frost & Sullivan had named TMCF as ‘Malaysia Fertility Centre of
The Year’ in 2016, 2017, 2019 and 2020. In 2020, we were
awarded the Innovative Technology in the Healthcare Sector for
Assisted Reproductive Technology Solutions by International
Business Review ASEAN Awards, which is a testament to our
efforts in bringing the best reproductive healthcare services to our
communities.

Since its inception more than 25 years ago, TMCF has successfully
helped couples to conceive more than 5,000 IVF babies through
various assisted reproductive techniques. TMCF broke the Malaysia
Book of Records for the Highest Number of IVF Babies Produced by
A Single IVF Practice with 5,388 IVF babies. Well-recognised as an
innovation driver, TMCF aims to consistently exceed patients’
expectations and improve patient engagement by providing a
greater experience. 

TMC Care Pharmacy

TMC Care Pharmacy (“TMC Care”) opened its doors in July 2016
and was officially launched on 10 December the same year.
Strategically located in Vantage Bay, Johor Bahru, it was the first
retail pharmacy under the purview of TMCLS, conceived to benefit
the Thomson Iskandar medical Hub. This includes the 500-bed
Hospital Iskandariah, medical suites, health and wellness facilities,
and the proposed medical and allied-health school. Today, the
pharmacy has broadened its trade and entrenched a strong brand
presence as well as customer loyalty within Malaysia’s popular e-
commerce platforms.

Thomson TCM

Thomson TCM (“TTCM”) was established to become one of
Malaysia’s trusted integrative health and wellness center that offers
patients an alternative to their inclusive healing experience.
Opening for business on 1 November 2018, it’s spearheaded by
a team of certified and accomplished physicians where they
combine their practice of TCM philosophies with the latest
technology which allows them to complement allopathic medicine.
Our physicians and consultant specialists at TMCF and THKD work
hand in hand to provide our patients with a holistic range of
treatments from health conditions like hormone imbalance and
infertility to pain management and general health & wellness.
Supplied with 3 consultation rooms, 7 treatment areas as well as
a Chinese herbal medicine dispensary, Thomson TCM is the
symbol of a new age clinic; combining these facilities with a
patient-friendly centre that provides a calming ambience to the
service and clinic.

has 3 consultation rooms, 
7 treatment areas and a
Chinese herbal medicine
dispensary.

Thomson TCM



CHAIRMAN’S
STATEMENT

Dear
Shareholders,
On behalf of the Board of
Directors, I am pleased to
present the Annual Report
of TMC Life Sciences
Berhad for the financial
year ended 30 June 2021.

DATO’ SRI MOHD MOKHTAR 
BIN MOHD SHARIFF

CHAIRMAN
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Performance Review

As Malaysia enters the second year of the
COVID-19 pandemic, TMC Life Sciences
Berhad has rebounded from the substantial
negative impact from the first cycle of
lockdowns imposed in the previous year.
Group revenue rose 6% to RM201 million
for the financial year ended 30 June 2021,
compared to a year ago, mainly due to
higher patient load and higher case
intensity handled. As a result, the Group
recorded a corresponding profit before tax
for the financial year ended 30 June 2021
of RM28 million, 7% increase compared to
the 12 months period ended 30 June 2020. 

Net profit for the financial year ended 
30 June 2021 was RM20.3 million,
recording an increase of 86% compared to
a year ago, due to deferred income tax
recognised in the 12 months ended 
30 June 2020 amounting to RM7 million.

The Group will continue to prudently
manage spending, actively conserve cash,
and delay non-essential capital expenditure
to weather the dynamically fluctuating
operating environment brought on by the
COVID-19 pandemic. The cash and bank
balances were maintained at RM140
million, after having spent a total of RM104
million on capital expenditure, including
RM98 million on expansion projects.

Dividends

While the Group’s performance has not
recovered to pre-COVID-19 level, the
Group remains profitable. Therefore, we
intend to reward our shareholders by
paying out dividends and distributing a
share of the Group’s profits to our
shareholders. The Board has proposed a
single-tier final dividend of 0.2215 sen for
the financial year ended 30 June 2021,
representing 19% of the net profit for the
current financial year, subject to the
approval of the shareholders at the
forthcoming Annual General Meeting. The
Board was mindful of the need to balance
rewarding our shareholders while
maintaining a suitable cash reserve position
to support our two major expansion projects
in Kota Damansara and Johor Bahru.

Compliance with Corporate
Governance

At TMC Life Sciences Berhad, we are
committed to upholding the highest
standards of corporate governance
throughout the Group. This is
fundamental to the discharging of our
responsibilities to safeguard
shareholders' investment and ultimately
enhance shareholder value and the
financial performance of the Group.

The Standards of practice and policy
that we adhere to in accordance with
the Malaysian Code on Corporate
Governance 2017 was highlighted in
the Corporate Governance Overview
Statement stated on pages 76 to 86 of
this Annual Report.

Moving forward

While Malaysia has accelerated the
rate of COVID-19 vaccinations in the
country, the spread of the new Delta
variant has resulted in further
uncertainties over the recovery of the
global and local economies, and the
opening of borders, casting a shadow
on the growth prospects of the country
in 2021/2022.

We will continue to manage our
spending prudently as we seek to grow
our range of services while maintaining
the highest level of medical care and
patient safety. Our flagship hospital,
Thomson Hospital Kota Damansara
(“THKD”), has actively contributed to the
nation by participating in the National
COVID-19 Immunisation Programme
and receiving non-COVID-19 patients
decanted from public hospitals.
Meanwhile, we continue to build our
reputation of serving our patients
innovatively, providing integrated value-
based care through various platforms
and channels, including telehealth and
e-commerce. 

We are also committed to ensuring our
growth and our expansion plans in Kota
Damansara and Johor Bahru remain key
priorities. At the present moment, the
expansion at THKD remains on schedule
to open in the second or third quarter of
financial year 2022. 

%
(RM MILLION)
TOTAL REVENUE 6

201

153

(RM MILLION)

FY 2020

PROFIT BEFO

18 4

%

FY 2021

ORE TAX 7

28

FY 2020

18.4

FY 2021

%NET PROFIT
(RM MILLION)

FY 2021

20.3

FY 2020

13.3

86



At TMC Life Sciences Berhad, we believe fully in our vision to build an
integrated private healthcare service platform. To deliver our promise,
we seek to continue to grow our business through good planning,
prudent management of resources, recruiting the best talent and
innovating our services through technology while upholding the highest
standards of health and medical care.

A Word of Appreciation

First, I would like to acknowledge and thank our patients and their
families for the confidence they have put in our hospital, fertility centres,
retail pharmacy and Traditional Chinese Medicine centre. Secondly,
I wish to thank the management, specialists and staffs for their
dedication, hard work and loyalty to the Group, without whom, our
achievements and growth would not have materialised. Thirdly, I would
also like to extend my sincere gratitude to our suppliers, business
associates and partners for their support over the years.

I would also like to express my gratitude to my fellow Board members
for their invaluable contribution and commitment. Last but not least, my
sincere appreciation to all shareholders for being an integral part of
our journey towards building an iconic platform for private healthcare
in Malaysia and beyond.

DATO’ SRI MOHD MOKHTAR BIN MOHD SHARIFF
CHAIRMAN
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Our growth continued in 2021
while we are already at full
capacity at Thomson Hospital
Kota Damansara.

”
“
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MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OVERVIEW OF TMC LIFE SCIENCES BERHAD 

TMC Life Sciences Berhad operates an integrated healthcare platform that incorporates Hospital Division, TMC Fertility Centre,
TMC Care Pharmacy and Thomson TCM, as described in Corporate Profile on pages 4 to 7 of this Annual Report.

01

02

03

04

Hospital
Division

TMC Fertility
Centre

TMC Care
Pharmacy

Thomson
TCM

Financial Review

For the financial year ended 30 June 2021, our Group
recorded revenue and profit before tax of RM201 million, and
RM28 million respectively, recorded increase of 6% and 7%,
respectively compared to 12-month period ended 30 June
2020. Higher revenue was mainly due to higher patient load
and higher case intensity handled.

Net profit for the financial year ended 30 June 2021 was
RM20 million, an increase of 86% compared to the 12-month
period ended 30 June 2020 mainly due to the deferred tax
recognised in 12 months ended 30 June 2020 amounted to
RM7 million in relation to the changes in Real Property Gain
Tax impacting fair value adjustment.

Statement of Financial Position

Our capital expenditure was RM122 million, of which RM117
million was due to our expansion projects. Our inventory was
lower by 10% compared to the previous financial period due
to active measures undertaken to optimise our working capital.
Our trade receivables were higher by 12%, in line with the
increase in our June 2021 revenue compared to June 2020.
Our year-end cash balance stands at RM140 million, after
having spent RM104 million on capital expenditure, including
RM98 million on our expansion projects.

Statement of Cash Flows

Operating activities

Net cash generated from operating activities was RM22.4
million during the financial year ended 30 June 2021, higher
by 53% compared to the 10-month period ended 30 June
2020. This increase during the current financial year can be
attributed to the business volume growth to almost 
pre-COVID-19 level. 

Investing activities

The Group used RM94.8 million in net investment activities
during the financial year compared to RM94.6 million for the
10-month financial period ended 30 June 2020. The lower
amount spent on property, plant and equipment was due to
delays in verification of progress claims for our expansion
project at THKD towards the year end.

Financing activities

Our net cash from financing activities during the financial year
was RM82.3 million compared to RM75.2 million for the 
10-month period ended 30 June 2020. Higher amount of cash
from financing activities was mainly due to proceeds from a
loan drawdown of RM83.2 million during the financial year.

The consequent net increase in cash and cash equivalents was
RM8.6 million, contributing to total cash and cash equivalent
at 30 June 2021 of RM105.3 million. 

TMC LIFE SCIENCES BERHAD

Strengthening our corporate governance

In August 2020, the Management reinforced its commitment
towards creating a culture of integrity, transparency and free
of corruption. The MACC Act 2009 was amended in 2018 and
enforced on 1 June 2020, with Section 17A focusing on
corporate liability for bribery and corruption. With that, the
Group implemented a new Code of Conduct and e-Employee
Handbook to govern the conduct of employees. Staff were
reminded that the Company adopts a zero-tolerance approach
against all forms and acts of bribery and corruption and
upholds all applicable laws in relation to anti bribery and
corruption. 



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In September 2020, TMC Life Sciences Berhad was one of the
winners of the MSWG-ASEAN CG Awards 2019 (organised
by the Minority Shareholders Watch Group) under the category
of Merit Award for Most Improved CG Disclosure. This
award is meaningful as it marks a milestone in our journey
towards improving our corporate governance.

THOMSON HOSPITAL KOTA DAMANSARA (“THKD”)

2020-2021 Key Milestones

Improving Healthcare Services and Facilities  

THKD continues to focus on providing integrated, value-based
care to our customers. With this in mind, we developed a series
of specialised clinics that focus on conditions that are more
common in the community. The first of these clinics was the
dedicated Headache Clinic, which opened on 28 September
2020. Helmed by the Hospital’s Consultant Neurologist, the
clinic aims to screen and provide comprehensive care to
patients suffering chronic headaches. Headaches and
migraines are common health problems that many people
experience, and the Hospital is proud to launch the first
dedicated headache clinic in Malaysia.

On 28 October 2020, THKD set up its Heart and Acute
Stroke Emergency Centre. This centre has dedicated
workflow and healthcare team structure to enable fast and
accurate treatment for conditions such as heart attacks and
strokes, where time is of the essence. In conjunction with this
new centre, a Coronary Artery Bypass Graft ("CABG")
package and a stroke screening package were also launched.

The Gastric & Reflux Clinic was established on 18 January
2021 to tackle yet more common conditions among the public
such as gastroesophageal reflux disease (“GERD”), gastritis and
other digestive disorders. Left untreated, such conditions can
lead to more serious complications, hence services offered by
the clinic such as gastroscopy and pH studies are vital.

Finally, on 8 March 2021, THKD’s Palpitation Clinic was
launched. Unsteady, fluttering or noticeable heartbeats can be
caused by various factors. While in most cases such sensations
are harmless, through this clinic, customers can be reassured
or provided with appropriate treatment. 

In terms of health screening and preventive health services,
THKD achieved another milestone by being the first in Malaysia
to introduce Total Mind and Body health screening
packages. Launched on 18 March 2021 in conjunction with
International Women’s Day, these are multi-faceted, all-rounded
screening programmes that look at a woman’s physical, mental
and dietary wellness. 

This financial year saw the joining of new consultants and
expansion of specialist services offered to patients and
customers. Fifteen new consultants were recruited covering
areas of speciality including Clinical Radiology, Obstetrics &
Gynaecology, Reproductive Medicine, Gynae-Oncology,
Dermatology, Ophthalmology, Neonatology, Rheumatology,
Hepatobiliary Surgery, Clinical Oncology, ENT Surgery and
Nuclear Medicine. 

Under Allied Health, speech therapy services started on 
25 July 2020. Autologous Bone Marrow Transplant Service
was introduced on 1 September 2020 supported by Allied
Health and Nursing in collaboration with partnering hospitals
and external labs. In October 2020, a new wound care service
was launched under the Outpatient department.

12 TMC LIFE SCIENCES BERHAD 200301021989 (624409-A)

THKD opened the first dedicated
headache clinic in Malaysia in
September 2020.

”
“
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For the comfort and enjoyment of THKD’s paediatric patients,
the Hospital set up an attractive and educational play area
close to its paediatric clinics. The space-themed play area
was opened to patients and customers on 17 August 2020.  

Medical Education

In previous years, THKD organised public talks and
symposiums for primary care physicians to increase health
literacy while strengthening ties with the primary healthcare
providers in the community. However, since the COVID-19
pandemic and ensuing lockdowns, the Hospital quickly
pivoted to holding such events in the digital space. 

Spearheaded by the Business Development and Marketing
Communications department, 16 webinars were organised
in this financial year. These online talks were given by the
Hospital’s consultant specialists and usually attracted around
30 to 60 participants on average. Through these webinars,
physicians were also able to earn their required Continuing
Professional Development (“CPD”) points and keep abreast
of the latest medical updates.

Award-Winning Hospital

Despite the challenges of the past financial year, THKD
continued to prove itself as an award-winning hospital. In
September 2020, THKD again won the Best Quality
Initiative award at the IMTJ Medical Travel Awards 2020.

In October 2020, Global Health Asia Pacific 2020 named
THKD the Women’s Health & Wellness Service
Provider of the Year in Asia Pacific.

THKD again won the 
Best Quality Initiative award
at the IMTJ Medical Travel
Awards 2020

THKD CEO Ms Nadiah Wan receives the Global Health Asia
Pacific 2020 award. 
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In January 2021, two of THKD’s consultant specialists won
awards from Global Health and Travel. Dr Hemanth Kumar
Ramasamy was awarded Urology Clinic/Medical Centre of
the Year in Asia Pacific while Dr Balachandran Appoo was
awarded ENT Clinic/Medical Centre of the Year in Asia
Pacific.

In May 2021, THKD’s Consultant Urologist, Dr Muhilan
Parameswaran, and his Clinic Service Coordinator, Ms Hanis
Nadzirah, were awarded the WhatClinic Patient Service
Award for Excellence of Patient Experience.

CHALLENGES

The COVID-19 pandemic continued to be the predominant
challenge of the financial year.

At the start of THKD’s financial year in July 2020, there was a
continued upward trend in hospital activity when the economy
gradually reopened in June 2020. Most departments showed
an increase compared to the previous month of June; however, 
the numbers of inpatients were still around 20% lower than the
same period last year. August 2020 saw a continuation of the
trend in July 2020 with hospital activities still not fully back to
normal. The number of admissions reduced slightly compared
to July but average length of stay was higher.

In September 2020 , occupancy of inpatient wards was at 54%
for the first time and overall census increased in most
departments with some department performance exceeding
even those in Jan-Feb 2020, before the COVID-19 pandemic.
OT recorded a high number of surgeries, TMC Fertility@THKD
also recorded a high number of OPD visits and IVF/PGT cycles
while IVF daycare recorded a high number of cases. Diagnostic
lab too recorded high census while cathlab recorded high
figures in September 2020. However, as the country battled a
rise of the third wave of COVID-19 cases, the government
announced a Conditional Movement Control Order (“CMCO”)
in Selangor, Kuala Lumpur and Putrajaya from October 2020
to early December 2020. During this period, the number of
patients coming to the Hospital decreased compared to the
month of September 2020. All departments save a few saw a
corresponding decrease in activity.

THKD ended 2020 on a slightly higher note, with an increase
of almost 14% compared to November 2020. However,
performance was still slightly lower compared to December
2019. A&E census doubled in December 2020 due to 
COVID-19 testing while all critical areas saw a double digit
increase including labour room, OT, Endoscopy, IVF and HSC.

Unfortunately, the country was again faced with a dramatic
surge of COVID-19 cases, far exceeding the cases in the whole
of 2020. The rise of cases put a strain on our public healthcare
system and this was occasionally experienced in our own
Hospital. When staffs were placed on MC or quarantine, other
staffs had to step in and be redeployed to cover their
colleagues. In January 2021, the Hospital’s performance
continued to be lower than January of last year, although the
number of outpatient visits continue to soar due to the number
of COVID-19 screening tests done. In February 2021, almost
all areas recorded a decrease in census and revenue.
Thankfully, there were a few exceptions.

March 2021 was a better month for THKD, with almost all areas
of the Hospital increasing compared to February 2021.
However, compared to the previous year, the Hospital’s
performance is still lower. April 2021 was also a busy month
with census and occupancy rates increasing from the previous
month. Unfortunately, the COVID-19 cases in the country
accelerated at an alarming rate, with young patients needing
critical care and an acute shortage of beds across the Klang
Valley. 



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 15

The government declared a Movement Control Order ("MCO")
in May 2021 across the country in an attempt to stop the
infections from exponentially increasing. This resulted in a less
busy month at THKD. However, the number of COVID-19
patients admitted to our Hospital increased and with sicker
patients staying longer in ICU. The number of elective, non-
COVID-19 cases and surgeries decreased though emergency
cases such as angioplasties remained the same as the previous
month. This alarming trend indicated that COVID-19 had
spread to the community sporadically, often with no index case
detected. In addition, COVID-19 patients deteriorated faster,
with even younger, relatively healthy adults needing ICU care.
The trend in THKD mirrored the rest of the country, with ICU
occupancy rate at nearly 105% in May 2021 due to COVID-
19 patients deteriorating. Therefore, the Hospital took steps to
limit elective cases needing ICU care to accommodate for
COVID-19 ICU patients.

The end of the financial year in June 2021 was a relatively
busy month and a number of departments saw an increase in
activity. Further increase in activity is expected as the Klang
Valley recovers from the latest wave of Covid-19 cases.

STRATEGIES AND SOLUTIONS

Cost Containment

The Hospital continues to manage expenses prudently as the
nation’s economy faces a downturn and our performance
remains below expectation. All capital expenditures will be
controlled and approved only if the need is greater than the
financial risk.

Response to COVID-19

In an effort to contribute to the country’s response to the scourge
of COVID-19, on 26 January 2021, THKD began accepting
COVID-19 patients into the Hospital, with a ward specially
designated and retrofitted to accommodate them. 

By February 2021, to ensure our Hospital could continue
serving the community safely, THKD consultants and staff who
were frontliners began receiving COVID-19 vaccinations under
Phase 1 of the National Immunisation Programme. In March
2021, Phase 2 vaccinations for other staff took place. The
Hospital also arranged for transportation to the vaccine centre
to ease the burden of the staff.

Towards the end of April 2021, the Hospital had set up a kiosk
at the main lobby area for members of the public to register
themselves under the National Immunisation Programme.

By May 2021, almost 90% of THKD staff had been fully
vaccinated. In the meantime, the Hospital registered to be a
vaccination centre under the National Immunisation
Programme. Staff would be redeployed to this vaccination
centre and although the Hospital does not profit from this
initiative, it is important to support national vaccination efforts
as vaccination is the only way for the country to avoid
continuous cycles of lockdowns.

Throughout the year, continuous reminders and training
sessions were given to staff to follow the Standard Operating
Procedures ("SOPs") and safety measures in order to keep
transmission of the virus to a minimum. The wearing of face
masks in the Hospital is compulsory and all employees and
visitors entering and re-entering the Hospital must go through
the temperature screening and recording system in compliance
with Ministry of Health, Malaysia ("MOH") and Majlis
Keselamatan Negara ("MKN") SOPs. Additional HEPA filters
and facilities upgrades were also made to improve ventilation,
in line with recommendation from Department of Occupational
Safety and Health.

Digital Transformation

In December 2020, THKD kickstarted our project to implement
an integrated HIS-EMR-ERP system, known as SAP-THIS,
together with T-System Singapore. Once implemented, THKD
will be the first hospital in Malaysia with this system. The SAP-
THIS system will form the backbone of the Hospital’s digital 
eco-system, providing doctors and staff with information and a
smooth workflow to facilitate operations. The system will also
help the Hospital to improve patient safety, reduce unnecessary
work and gain data and insights that will propel us ahead as
we begin to transition to a larger hospital.

With lockdowns still occurring from time to time, THKD also
continued to expand our telehealth platform, Thomson Hospital
Online, with the addition of Rehab, Dietetics and Health
Screening services to the platform.

As part of improving our service, in August 2020, THKD rolled
out the THKD XperienceFlow app, which provides real time
updates to patients as they go through the outpatient, admission
or discharge process. The Hospital also launched the THKD
Patient Experience Management platform.

In May 2021, THKD implemented Encoremed, a new Queue
Management System (“QMS”). This system will allow patients
to register for appointments at home, have a single queue
number as they navigate through the hospital and track their
queue in real time from their mobile phone. The implementation
of this QMS is an important step in the Hospital’s journey to
transforming our customer experience, focusing on timely,
seamless and transparent visits to the Hospital. 

The Hospital registered to be a
vaccination centre under the
National Immunisation
Programme

”
“
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Talent Management 

Employee wellbeing continues to be a priority at THKD. On 1 July 2020, Thomson Little Stars childcare centre was launched.
Located close to the Hospital, the centre caters exclusively for the children of employees, with rates that are highly subsidized. 

July 2020 also marked the start of THKD’s new Performance-Linked Wage System (“PLWS”). PLWS is part of a larger initiative to
increase the productivity of employees. By making incentives more transparent and linked to performance, it is hoped that there
will be more accountability and motivation by employees to contribute to the growth of the company and in return they will enjoy
the benefits of their hard work. 

In August 2020, THKD launched the second phase of our Customer Service improvement initiative called Thomson H.E.A.R.T. After
our Thomson Positive Outlook Programme (“POP”), the aim of H.E.A.R.T is to drive cultural and behavioural change and make good
customer service a part of our day-to-day work culture. Under the H.E.A.R.T programme, frontline staff who Hear, Empathise,
Acknowledge, Respond or display Teamwork in handling customers were rewarded with coupons that could be exchanged for gifts.

PROSPECTS

On 5 July 2021, the newly completed building received Certificate of Completion and Compliance (“CCC”).

The expansion of THKD is on target to open by Q2 or Q3 of FY2022. In addition to specialist clinics and inpatient rooms, the
new building will also house a brand-new Cancer & Theranostics Centre, Nuclear Medicine Centre, Eye Health Centre, Preventive
Health and Family Medical Centre, amongst others.

As for the project at Thomson Iskandar Medical Hub, the Group aims to complete the hospital within 12 to 24 months after the
Rapid Transit System (“RTS”) project at Bukit Chagar is fully operational.

Thomson Little Stars childcare centre was launched on the 1st of July 2020 and is open for employees’ children up to the age of 12.
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TMC FERTILITY CENTRE 

2021 KEY MILESTONES

TMC Fertility Puchong finally made the move to our new flagship centre in Puchong Financial
Corporate Centre, on 25 September 2020, leaving behind the old centre in Jalan Merbah,
which had been our home for almost a decade.

The new centre currently houses two resident fertility
consultants and is equipped with comprehensive
facilities, including consultation rooms, counselling
bays, day-care, operating theatres, a state-of-the art
laboratory, semen collection rooms, pharmacy, as
well as an International Patient Centre to ensure that
we are able to cater to all of our patients’ needs.

In addition, the new centre is co-located with
Thomson TCM, which provides Traditional Chinese
Medicine services that complement our patients’
fertility journey.

The year 2021 also saw our Kepong branch
undergo a major facelift in an effort to provide a
more conducive and comfortable experience to our
patients. Notable changes include a new, refreshed
interior as well as a more spacious waiting area to
cater to our growing patient volume. 

With the expansion of our branches, we also saw
the addition of two new consultants, Dr Lim Ai Wei,
an Obstetrics & Gynaecologist specialist who is
based in Kepong, as well as Dr Muhilan
Parameswaran, a sessional urologist providing
additional services such as male infertility treatment
to our patients in our Puchong centre.

TMC Fertility’s new flagship centre at Puchong Financial Corporate Centre, which officially started its operation on 
25 September 2020.

TMC Fertility Kepong‘s new look after it underwent its renovation in
April 2021, aimed at providing a better customer experience for our
patients.



TMC Fertility continues to strive towards its objective of providing
world-class fertility treatments to our patients by further expanding
our collaborations with international partners and offering the
latest ground-breaking innovations in the fertility industry. We
have partnered up with an established genetic lab provider to
exclusively provide the latest genetic services such as MIRA for
our patients, incorporating artificial intelligence (“AI”) in fertility
for embryo selection through our Embryoscope Time-lapse
monitoring, as well as offering the latest innovations, such as
Microfluidic Sperm Selection, Embryo Glue, and Ovarian
Rejuvenation as part of our services.

CHALLENGES

Similar to last year, the current demographic inclinations and the
cross-border travel restrictions caused by the COVID-19 pandemic
are the main factors affecting the demand for fertility services and
the impact has been far greater than the previous year. 

Domestically, the continued spike of cases which prompted
MCO 2.0 and the announcement of a Full Movement Control
Order (“FMCO”) in the Klang Valley has further added to the
challenges this year. The uncertainty of the Lockdowns and the
resulting socio-economic impact has affected consumer
purchasing power and many have postponed plans to start a
family.

STRATEGIES

With the MCO and prolonged closure of the international
borders, TMC Fertility has moved its focus into capturing the local
market for fertility treatments by adding various 
value-added services into our packages to ensure our patients
received value-based care. Additional  complimentary offerings
such as fertility coaching services by a qualified coach, clinical
psychology services to help cope with the mental stress of going
through a fertility treatment, guides to EPF/KWSP withdrawal for
fertility services, staggered payment schedules, as well as post-
treatment support are some of the strategies we have adopted
this year to make sure TMC Fertility remains the number one
choice for patients seeking fertility care. 

TMC Fertility constantly explores the latest advancements in
technology and techniques in fertility to ensure that we remain
at the forefront of providing fertility services in Malaysia. 
The rapid advancement in Assisted Reproductive Technology
(“ART”) has helped us in offering the best possible solutions to
our patients. Our laboratory offers one of the most advanced
pre-implantation genetic testing equipment to date, utilising a
technique used to analyse the number of chromosomes present
in IVF embryos and to determine the best embryo for transfer.
Other ground-breaking techniques that we are offering include
Microfluidic Sperm Selection, artificial intelligence (“AI”)
application to IVF, and miRNA-based receptivity analysis to find
the best implantation window.

The COVID-19 crisis has accelerated the digitization of
companies in all sectors and altered the way they conduct their
business, which has shifted predominantly online. With this in
mind, TMC Fertility has also launched its telemedicine services,
both patients and doctors shied away from extended face-to-
face encounters. Online consultations were ramped up via an
online consultation service platform which enabled our doctors
to continue providing care to their patients from the comfort of
their own homes. In addition, we have introduced services such
as medication delivery, medication self-pick up, as well as drive-
through blood testing to ensure our patients’ treatments are not
affected in any way during the lockdown period.

PROSPECTS

The current pandemic situation has certainly brought with it
some new challenges in addition to the existing demographic
issues, such as the decreasing fertility rate among Malaysians,
rising average age of new mothers, as well as low sperm
quality in men, which form the key factors driving the demand
for fertility treatments. As more and more people around the
world become infected with the SARS-CoV2-2019 virus,
research is starting to show evidence that COVID-19 does have
an impact on fertility.  This creates a new area of opportunity
for TMC Fertility to expand its services in the local market and
provides a platform for strong growth in the international
markets when borders eventually re-open.
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Teleconsultation, medication delivery, as well drive-through
blood test services were some of the new initiatives TMC
Fertility has adopted this year in its continuous effort to
remain as the domestic IVF market leader.
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TMC CARE 

2021 KEY MILESTONES

While brick and mortar retail players suffered a setback from
multiple lockdowns imposed, the COVID-19 pandemic has seen
a meteoric rise in e-commerce. Prior to the pandemic, TMC
Care Pharmacy had already focused its strategies on building
a strong e-commerce presence. With a strong presence on
established e-commerce platforms such as Shopee and Lazada,
TMC Care was able to pivot quickly and meet the high demand
of medical grade Personal Protection Equipment (“PPE”) and
quality supplements throughout the pandemic and to both
corporate and retail customers alike. 

As part of our efforts to further strengthen and own our online
consumers, TMC Care extensively upgraded its own 
e-commerce store (www.tmccarepharmacy.com). This has
allowed us to control and improve the customer journey
experience and also provide additional insight and information
on our customers. 

CHALLENGES

The e-commerce market for retail pharmacies is extremely
competitive as established platforms such as Shopee and
Lazada have facilitated e-shopfronts for even small, standalone
pharmacies. In addition, many international suppliers also
utilise these platforms to deliver these products to the Malaysian
market at a cheaper rate. This has changed the landscape for
retail pharmacies in Malaysia, expanding the competitor pool.

STRATEGIES

Having established TMC Care’s reputation as a reputable
online pharmacy, we now strive to offer exceptional customer
service through customised patient advice and fast delivery to
achieve customer loyalty and retention as we grow our brand
awareness. TMC Care continues to leverage on our role within
an integrated healthcare setting to provide quality services and
referrals to Thomson Hospital Kota Damansara, TMC Fertility
Centre and Thomson TCM. We have successfully forged
strategic partnerships with several corporate companies and
bulk sales of PPE. In 2021, TMC Care also plans to increase
its focus on the B2B market as occupational health and safety
issues become increasingly important in many workplaces. The
revamp of our own e-commerce website is also an opportunity
for us to collect data and insights that will allow us to innovate
our products and services to meet changing consumer needs.

PROSPECTS

In 2021, in addition to our first branch in Johor Bahru, we will
see the opening of the new TMC Care branch at THKD.
Situated strategically within the new wing of the hospital, TMC
Care will be able to synergise and reap the benefits as part of
an integrated healthcare platform by accepting referrals and
supplying products and services to THKD customers. In
addition, TMC Care will continue to leverage on its
relationships with vendors and customers across TMCLS to
provide innovative products and services, in line with the
changing business and social environment.

Food bank donation drive in support of #benderaputih
movement to assist our community during the challenging
COVID-19 times.



THOMSON TCM

2021 PERFORMANCE

Throughout the multiple lockdowns, Thomson TCM maintains
its mission to be a trusted integrative health and wellness
centre, offering its patients a wholesome healing alternative
whilst adhering to stricter safety procedures as well as adapting
to the new normal. The pandemic has made people more
aware of Traditional Chinese Medicine. Thomson TCM is more
than ready to provide our clientele with treatments and
products that are accessible outside of the clinic. Significant
steps have been made to ensure that the herbal remedies are
ready to be marketed online as well as suitable to be delivered
throughout Malaysia. Additionally, newer treatments and
products are tailored to those who are experiencing the side
effects of the pandemic and working from a new environment.

CHALLENGES

Traditional Chinese Medicine was deemed as “non-essential”
during the enforced Movement Control Orders and thus
Thomson TCM was not allowed to operate physically
throughout these periods. Increased popularity in Thomson
TCM’s home brand products has also come with its own
challenges in trying to scale production volumes up and keep
production costs low.

STRATEGIES

Thomson TCM’s strategy focuses on adapting with the
pandemic through new online platforms and home-based
remedies. Through our partnership with DoctorOnCall,
Thomson TCM is able to provide teleconsultations and
prescriptions via an integrated telehealth platform. This creates
a presence within an established online community of patients,
thus opening an additional channel for us to market our
complementary health services and products.

Apart from online consultation services, the clinic has expanded
onto an e-commerce platform, especially on Shopee. This gives
our existing patients increased accessibility to Thomson TCM
herbal products whilst minimising risk of infection. It also
expands our reach into new markets and demographics.

As a reputable and established TCM treatment centre in women’s
health and gynaecology, we remain as a preferred choice for
patients seeking to improve their fertility chances through natural
conception or IVF treatments. Additionally, we have intensively
developed our centre to offer treatments in areas such as Pain
Management, Stroke Recovery, Migraine, Insomnia, Slimming,
Womb Recovery, Confinement Care, Menopause and Breast
Care to cater to a wider range of patients.

PROSPECTS

As Traditional Chinese Medicine is fast becoming an essential
part of the healthcare system, Thomson TCM prides itself as
being a part of an integrated healthcare group that has a strong
online presence. The high infection rates and limited resources
have drastically increased the interest in complementary
medicine and herbal, home-based remedies.
 
Seeing the opportunity to explore new markets, Thomson TCM
will be expanding to a 2nd branch at THKD. We see this as a
major step in further cementing our role as an integrative holistic
healthcare provider, partnering with allopathic healthcare to
achieve a common goal, that is to provide the best possible
care to our patients. The continuous development and launch
of proprietary herbal products is timely and necessary,
especially as we foresee the growing demand for TCM with the
increased interests in maintaining health during a major
pandemic. As such, we look towards prioritising the growth of
our range of products and platforms, including other
complementary medicine services.
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Thomson TCM products are now available for home delivery
on Shopee Malaysia.

Expansion of Thomson TCM brand product range to increase
greater access to our products even during a pandemic.
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ABOUT THIS STATEMENT

TMC Life Sciences Berhad (“TMCLS” or “the Group”) is excited to present our fourth annual
sustainability statement. The Group’s vision is to become the integrated health system of
choice, and we strongly believe that embracing sustainability is key to achieving this goal.
Within this statement we disclose our Environment, Social, and Governance (“ESG”)
initiatives, progress, and performance as we continue on the journey towards a sustainable
future for all.

Scope and Boundary

Disclosures presented in this statement cover TMCLS’s key operations at our flagship
hospital, Thomson Hospital Kota Damansara, (“THKD”), located at 11, Jalan
Teknologi, PJU 5, Kota Damansara, 47810 Petaling Jaya, Selangor Darul Ehsan. Our
corporate headquarters are located at C-13-09, Sunway Nexis, No.1, Jalan PJU 5/1,
Dataran Sunway, Kota Damansara, 47810 Petaling Jaya, Selangor Darul Ehsan.

Data disclosed in this statement encompasses our financial year - 1 July 2020 to
30 June 2021 (“FY2021”).

Reporting Framework

This sustainability statement has been prepared in accordance with Bursa Malaysia
Securities Berhad’s (“Bursa Malaysia”) Main Market Listing Requirements, following
Bursa Malaysia’s Sustainability Reporting Guide (2nd Edition). The statement has
also been prepared with reference to the Global Reporting Initiative (“GRI”)
Standards - Core Option. For a full list of disclosures made under the GRI Standards,
refer to the GRI content index on page 59.

Feedback

We welcome and encourage feedback from our readers on matters mentioned in
this sustainability statement. Comments and enquiries may be submitted to:

Name         :   Jimmy Wong 
Email          :   ir@tmclife.com
Telephone   :   +603 6287 1111
Address      :   TMC Life Sciences Berhad
                     C-13-9 Sunway Nexis
                     No.1, Jalan PJU 5/1, Kota Damansara
                     47810 Petaling Jaya,
                     Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia

ENVIRONMENTAL

SOCIAL

GOVERNANCE
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Sustainability Highlights FY2021

Our Approach to Sustainability
The United Nations Sustainable Development Goals

In support of Malaysia’s national efforts towards the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals (“SDGs”), we have aligned
our sustainability practices to support four SDGs most relevant to our organisation.

Materiality

Training

Customers

Outreach

Safety

Energy

Re-assessed our material
sustainability matters

RM201,000 worth of PPE
donated to combat COVID-19
outbreak in Sabah

Installed new electricity-efficient
chilling system at THKD

Decreased injury rate from
previous year

Improved rating on Google
from 3.0 to 3.3

Invested RM224,956 in staff
training activities
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Sustainability Governance

At TMCLS, the sustainability governance structure was established to oversee the incorporation of sustainability throughout the
Group’s activities. Our governance structure is a three-tier structure with the Board of Directors (“BOD”) at the top, followed by
the Audit & Risk Management Committee (“ARMC”) and finally our Sustainability Committee (“SC”). The SC is made up of key
senior management members from various departments. 

Our Contributions to the UN SDGs

• Conducted regular nursing and infection control audits
• Enforced our Medication Management and Use Policy and SOPs to ensure safety of all medicines

provided
• Maintained a comprehensive response to the continued COVID-19 pandemic, with strict SOPs, and

expanded testing for our employees
• Provided community health education initiatives
• Donated PPE to support COVID-19 outbreak in Sabah

• Direct economic value generated: RM201m
• New hire rate of 15%
• Provided 21,691 hours of training, averaging 19 hours per employee
• Offered our employees assistance with childcare, home buying, further education, and healthcare
• Upgraded our incident reporting system

• Installed energy-efficient building chilling systems at THKD
• Consumed a total of 6,541,106 kWh of electricity, a reduction of 7% from FY2020
• Recorded an energy consumption intensity of 258 kWh/m2, a reduction of 20% from FY2020

• The Code of Conduct and Whistleblowing policy (established in 2020) are available to all employees
• Recorded no incidents of patient data loss or data breach
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Stakeholder Engagement

TMCLS conducts frequent and regular engagement with its key stakeholders to ensure long-term trust and accountability. These
engagements enable us to understand and address the needs, concerns, and expectations raised by our stakeholders. We have
identified seven (7) stakeholder groups that we consider most pertinent to TMCLS. Due to restrictions on group gatherings and
physical meetings imposed during the COVID-19 pandemic, we maintained our stakeholder engagement efforts this year using
online platforms. 

Roles & Responsibilities

Board of Directors
• Endorses proposed sustainability strategy and initiatives
• Issues final approval on the contents of the sustainability statement

Audit & Risk Management Committee
• Advises BOD on sustainability initiatives
• Oversees the implementation and progress of sustainability initiatives

Sustainability Committee
• Identifies the material sustainability matters
• Implements sustainability initiatives
• Monitors sustainability progress

Board of Directors

Audit & Risk Management
Committee

Sustainability 
Committee

• Finance
• Consultant Emergency Physician
• Facilities Management
• Allied Health
• Legal & Risk
• Group Human Resources
• General Administration
• Hospitality Services
• Nursing
• Business Development
• Marketing & Communication

TMCLS’
Stakeholders

Patients/
Customers

Employees

Shareholders/
Investors

Government/
Regulators

Suppliers/
Contractors

Local
Communities

Media
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Stakeholders Group                 Key Areas of Concern                          Our Response

                                                   •   Healthcare service delivery                   •   Customer surveys and feedback forms are 
                                                   •   Customer privacy                                     distributed to obtain patient/customer 
                                                   •   Customer health and safety                       feedback.
                                                                                                                •   Social media and digital platforms are 
                                                                                                                     utilised when needed to disseminate key 
   Patients/                                                                                                    information to patients/customers about 
 Customers                                                                                                   key product and services available.

                                                   •   Employee welfare                                • Chief Executive Officer messages are 
                                                   •   Occupational health and safety                 distributed monthly to enhance internal 
                                                   •   Economic performance                             communication and boost employee morale.
                                                   •   Talent development and retention          •   Quarterly doctors’ meetings are arranged to 
                                                   •   Employee benefits                                    discuss ways to improve medical practice, 
                                                                                                                     patient care and safety.
 Employees                                                                                              •   Face-to-face meetings with management are 
                                                                                                                     held annually to address key employee 
                                                                                                                     concerns.
                                                                                                                •   Employee town halls are organised annually 
                                                                                                                     to promote engagement between employees 
                                                                                                                     and management.
                                                                                                                •   BLOOM, the monthly Group Human 
                                                                                                                     Resources e-Newsletter has been further 
                                                                                                                     enhanced to ensure employees are 
                                                                                                                     continuously engaged with happenings in 
                                                                                                                     the hospital and Group. We have also 
                                                                                                                     embarked on recorded interviews with 
                                                                                                                     employees to share their stories. Effective 
                                                                                                                     employee communication is a vital aspect of 
                                                                                                                     the employer-employee relationship. It shows 
                                                                                                                     employees that they are valued by the 
                                                                                                                     company.
                                                                                                                •  A comprehensive Training Directory is 
                                                                                                                     developed every year, covering mandatory 
                                                                                                                     trainings; leadership improvement; service 
                                                                                                                     and behavioural improvement; quality, 
                                                                                                                     legal, risk and compliance; information 
                                                                                                                     technology; and clinical nursing.
                                                   
                                                   •   Economic performance                        •   Annual General Meetings (“AGM”) are 
                                                   •   Corporate governance                              organised to discuss the Group’s 
                                                   •   Expansion projects                                   performance and future strategies.
                                                                                                                •  Extraordinary General Meetings (“EGM”) 
                                                                                                                     are arranged when needed to deliberate 
Shareholders/                                                                                               urgent matters pertaining to the Group’s 
  Investors                                                                                                    performance, management or corporate 
                                                                                                                     compliance matters. For FY2021, no EGMs 
                                                                                                                     were held.
                                                                                                                •  Analyst meetings are held when requested 
                                                                                                                     to review financial performance of the 
                                                                                                                     Group and update on the future outlook of 
                                                                                                                     the Group.
                                                                                                                •  Winner of a Minority Shareholder Watch 
                                                                                                                     Group (“MSWG”) merit award for most 
                                                                                                                     improved corporate governance disclosure.
                                                   



Stakeholders Group                 Key Areas of Concern                          Our Response

                                                   •   Customer health and safety                   •   Meetings are organised with regulators 
                                                   •   Regulatory compliance                             when needed to discuss regulations and 
                                                   •   Clinical governance                                 compliance matters.
                                                   •   Corporate social responsibility              •   Inspections are carried out when needed to 
                                                                                                                     ensure compliance to relevant laws and 
Government/                                                                                                regulations.
 Regulators                                                                                              •  Electronic communications are utilised when 
                                                                                                                     needed to communicate latest developments 
                                                                                                                     and updates to relevant laws and 
                                                                                                                     regulations.

                                                   •   Business integrity                                 •  Site meetings are held monthly to 
                                                   •   Ethical procurement                                  communicate and address matters 
                                                   •   Regulatory compliance                             pertaining to the Group’s projects.
                                                   •   Customer health and safety                   •  Monthly joint inspections are performed to 
                                                                                                                     ensure supply chain best practice and 
 Suppliers/                                                                                                   compliance to relevant laws and regulations.
 Contractors                                                                                              •  Outsource provider meetings are organised 
                                                                                                                     monthly to discuss matters related to 
                                                                                                                     operations and to review performance.
                                                                                                                •  Vendor performance evaluations are 
                                                                                                                     conducted annually to evaluate vendors 
                                                                                                                     according to quality of goods, pricing and 
                                                                                                                     conditions of goods received.

                                                   •   Economic performance                        •   Quarterly announcement of results are made 
                                                   •   Corporate governance                              to disseminate quarterly financial 
                                                   •   Customer health and safety                       performance, management assessment of 
                                                   •   Corporate social responsibility                   the outlook, and its impact to the Group 
                                                                                                                     performance for the remaining period of the 
     Media                                                                                                       current financial year.
                                                                                                                •   Quarterly post-board meeting press 
                                                                                                                     conferences/releases are held to 
                                                                                                                     disseminate information and official 
                                                                                                                     decisions made during board meetings.
                                                                                                                •   Press interviews/events are arranged when 
                                                                                                                     needed to officially distribute information 
                                                                                                                     and address questions from the media.
                                                                                                                •   Advertising agencies are engaged when 
                                                                                                                     required to communicate product and 
                                                                                                                     service developments directly to existing and 
                                                                                                                     potential customers/patients.

26 TMC LIFE SCIENCES BERHAD 200301021989 (624409-A)

SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT



SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT

Stakeholders Group                 Key Areas of Concern                          Our Response

                                                   •   Health awareness                                •   Corporate Social Responsibility (“CSR”) 
                                                   •   Community-based healthcare                     programmes are organised throughout the 
                                                        services and awareness                            financial year to give back to the 
                                                   •   Safety and risk awareness                         communities we operate in.
                                                                                                                •   Board of Visitors meetings are scheduled 
        Local                                                                                                               bi-annually to discuss matters that affect the 
 Communities                                                                                                        local community. The Board of Visitors is 
                                                                                                                                comprised of representatives from local 
                                                                                                                                communities around the hospital, and serve 
                                                                                                                                as a liaison between the hospital and the 
                                                                                                                                community.
                                                                                                                •   Annual drills with local authorities are 
                                                                                                                     organised to ensure organisational 
                                                                                                                     preparedness for emergencies.
                                                                                                                •   Continuing medical education (“CME”) 
                                                                                                                     programmes are organised when needed to 
                                                                                                                     educate the public and raise awareness on 
                                                                                                                     health management.
                                                                                                                •   Public forums are arranged when needed to 
                                                                                                                     engage local communities and disseminate 
                                                                                                                     key medical information.
                                                                                                                •   Regular engagement with the office of our 
                                                                                                                     local representative (ADUN) to remain 
                                                                                                                     abreast of any potential concerns.

Material Sustainability Matters
Materiality Matrix

In light of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, and anticipating a shift in the main concerns of our stakeholders, we conducted a
re-assessment of our material matters. The 14 material matters identified in FY2020 have been maintained, with a materiality
assessment completed to determine their relative priorities on the materiality matrix. 
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REVIEW PRIORITISATION VALIDATION

The list of material sustainability
matters from FY2020 were
reviewed to ensure they remain
relevant to the Group’s areas of
risk and opportunity.

A materiality re-assessment was
conducted through an online
workshop with the Sustainability
Committee and key Department
Heads to prioritise the matters
based on importance to the
business. A weighted ranking
method was used to capture the
perspective of stakeholder groups.

Results were plotted on the
materiality matrix and distributed
to the Sustainability Committee for
confirmation and Board approval.



The results of the materiality assessment are displayed in the matrix below. Our top two (2) material matters, Quality Healthcare
and Safe Healthcare Products and Services have remained unchanged from previous years. 

Four (4) other material matters: Economic Performance, Ethics and Integrity, Safety at the Workplace, and Emergency
Preparedness, have shown increased priority when compared to last year. These changes are reflective of the impacts of the
COVID-19 pandemic, prompting an increase in awareness of both emergency preparedness and workplace health. Ethics and
Integrity is also a topic which has seen enhanced focus this past year, with the recent Malaysian Anti-Corruption Commission
(“MACC”) Corporate Liability Provision having come into effect in June 2020. 

1. Safe Healthcare Products and Services
2. Quality Healthcare
7. Responsible Medicine Management
8. Patient Privacy and Confidentiality
9. Patient Satisfaction

3. Economic Performance
4. Ethics and Integrity
5. Safety at the Workplace
6. Emergency Preparedness for Disasters
10. Human Capital Development
11. Talent Retention

28 TMC LIFE SCIENCES BERHAD 200301021989 (624409-A)

SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT

Medium Importance

High Importance

Importance
Very High 

LEGEND

Im
po

rt
an

ce
 to

 S
ta

ke
ho

ld
er

s

Importance to Business Operations

1

23

4

10

11

5

6
78

9

12

14

13

TMCLS Materiality Matrix FY2021

Patient Care Organisational Management

12. Clinical and Other Wastes
14. Energy Conservation

13. Community Health and Wellbeing

Environmental Sustainability Community Outreach



SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT

Mapping our Sustainability Matters

Last year, TMCLS identified four (4) key pillars of sustainability that reflect our highest priorities and focus areas. These pillars
form the foundation of our sustainability strategy from which we aim to embed sustainable practices within everything we do.
These pillars are also tied to our stakeholder’s interests and our commitment to the United Nations Sustainable Development
Goals.

Patient Care

Our ultimate responsibility as a healthcare provider is the safety and well-being of our patients. We are committed to providing
products and services of the highest possible quality, and maintaining our strict policies and procedures to ensure product safety.

Material Matter                                                       Stakeholders                                               UN SDGs

Safe Healthcare Products and Services                          Patients / Customers
                                                                                 Local Communities
                                                                                 Government / Regulators
                                                                                 Suppliers / Contractors

Quality Healthcare                                                      Patients / Customers

Responsible Medicine Management                              Patients / Customers
                                                                                 Government / Regulators
                                                                                 Suppliers / Contractors

Patient Privacy and Confidentiality                                Patients / Customers
                                                                                 Government / Regulators

Patient Satisfaction                                                      Patients / Customers
                                                                                 Shareholders / Investors

Organisational Management

The continued success and growth of our business would not be possible without the enthusiasm of our dedicated staff. We
prioritise operational integrity and ethical business conduct, while maintaining a supportive and engaging workplace for our
employees.

Material Matter                                                       Stakeholders                                               UN SDGs

Ethics and Integrity                                                      Government / Regulators 
                                                                                Media

Safety at the Workplace                                              Employees
                                                                                Government / Regulators

Emergency Preparedness for Disasters                           Local Communities
                                                                                Patients / Customers

Human Capital Development                                        Employees

Economic Performance                                                Shareholders / Investors
                                                                                Employees

Talent Retention                                                           Employees
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Environmental Sustainability

We recognise the impact our operations can have on the natural environment, and have taken steps to minimise this impact in
any way we can. This includes monitoring our resource use to avoid excessive consumption of electricity, and carefully managing
our wastes.

Material Matter                                                       Stakeholders                                               UN SDGs

Clinical and Other Wastes                                           Local Communities
                                                                                Government / Regulators
                                                                                Media

Energy Conservation                                                   Government / Regulators
                                                                                Media

Community Outreach

The community is at the heart of everything we do. We are continually looking for opportunities where we can support and give
back to the communities we operate within, and to promote greater health-awareness to the wider public.

Material Matter                                                       Stakeholders                                               UN SDGs

Community Health and Wellbeing                                 Local Communities
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100% of products purchased were
screened via internal safety and quality
procedures

Conducted regular internal audits to
monitor quality of care

Implemented updates to the QUASR
incident reporting system

Safe Healthcare Products and Services

The safety of our patients is our number one responsibility as a
healthcare provider. To ensure the safety of our pharmaceutical
products and medical devices, we maintain strict Standard
Operating Procedures (“SOPs”) for the purchasing and evaluation
of medicines, also supported by our Medication Management
and Use Policy.

All medicines purchased by TMCLS must be registered with the
National Pharmaceutical Regulatory Agency (“NPRA”). Any
unregistered medicines requested by our doctors must be first
approved by the Ministry of Health (“MOH”), and then granted
a special import permit prior to use. All vendors supplying our
pharmaceuticals must be reliable and reputable, with valid
business and other relevant licenses.

In FY2021, 100% of our products and services have been
screened using these established safety procedures.

All medications, nutritional products, and diagnostic strips are
stored as per manufacturer recommendations, with consideration
given to:

• Temperature requirements - refrigeration, freezing, or am-
bient temperature conditions

• Storage away from direct sunlight
• Low relative humidity - dry conditions

The temperature of our fridges, freezers, and air-conditioned
rooms are monitored daily, so that any deviations in temperature
can be noted and products relocated as required in the event of
temperature failure.

PATIENT CARE
HIGHLIGHTS
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Ophthalmology
Urology

COVID-19 Taskforce
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Including:
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Medical Director
Chief Executive Officer

Board of Management

MDAC Chairman

Medical & Dental

Nuclear Medicine Fertility

Obstetrics & Medicine

Anaesthesiology Radiology

Paediatrics Surgery

Medical & Dental

Quality Healthcare

Our customers and patients expect the highest quality of products and
services from us, and it is a source of pride that we are able to meet and
exceed those expectations.

We are proud to be one of 17 private hospitals in Selangor to be
Malaysian Society for Quality in Health (“MSQH”) accredited. Due to the
challenging times, MSQH have maintained accreditation status for THKD
until Q1 2022. We have established an MSQH steering committee, who
meet monthly to run audits and assessments of all departments and
services to ensure we are well prepared for the external assessment.

In addition to the MSQH accreditation, we are on track to obtain
additional accreditation under the Reproductive Technology Accreditation
Committee (“RTAC”) for THKD and our in-vitro fertilisation (“IVF”)
branches. The assessment was successfully conducted online in July 2021,
with surveyors from Australia. No non-compliances were identified during
the audit.

As part of clinical governance, THKD has a Board of Management
Committee and a Medical and Dental Advisory Committee to oversee
clinical standards and practice in the hospital. This year, TMC Fertility
also established its own Board of Management Committee to oversee
clinical standards and practice in all TMC Fertility branches.
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Wh ?hat is MSQH Accreditation?

A voluntary process by which MSQH
grants recognition to healthcare facilities

and services which meet established
national standards that require continuous
improvement in Structures, Processes and

Outcomes.

SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT

THKD Board of Management Committee
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Our nursing division implements a series of monthly internal audits to ensure
we are maintaining the highest quality patient care. These audits include
topics such as:

• IV (intravenous) therapy care process compliance
• Pressure ulcer prevention
• Fall prevention
• Medication administration
• Blood transfusion process

We also maintain and monitor specific performance indicators for all internal
audits, whose trends are evaluated on a monthly basis. A root cause analysis
is initiated any time the Severity Assessment Code (“SAC”) score for an
indicator falls between one (1) and two (2). The SAC score is based on the
potential consequences and likelihood of an incident recurrence.

Last year, we implemented an enhanced electronic incident reporting system
designed specifically for the healthcare industry, QUASR. This year, QUASR
has been updated with new features, to improve the user-friendliness of the
system, and to add new incident types, including adverse drug reactions.
QUASR is freely available to all staff, 24-hours a day, in the event of an
incident or near-miss. As part of the learning and improvement process, and
to support the incident reporting system, Group Quality, Legal, Risk
department (“GQLR”) developed a series of training workshops offered to all
staff, covering topics such as:

• Introduction to Patient Safety Culture,
• Basics of Root Cause Analysis,
• Incident Reporting,
• Document Control, and
• Internal Quality Audit.

We are pleased to report no sentinel events1 were recorded this reporting
period.

Responsible Medicine Management

All pharmaceutical products used at THKD undergo a stringent selection and
procurement process to prove the safety and efficacy of the product.
Throughout the hospital, self-administration of medications is not permitted,
with all medications administered by authorised staff only. Patients are not
permitted to provide their own medications. This ensures we have complete
control over the pharmaceuticals dispensed and administered within our
hospital, and can guarantee their quality and safety.

Dangerous and psychotropic drugs are kept in locked storage at all times, only accessible to authorised staff. Daily inspections
are performed to monitor inventory levels and ensure no misuse. When dispensing, the drugs are cross-checked by two (2)
different staff members and signed off by a licensed pharmacist.

Across the healthcare industry, the rise of antibiotic resistant “superbugs” is becoming an area of concern. These superbugs are
partially a result of the mismanagement and over-prescription of antimicrobial drugs. To manage the risks posed by resistant
bacteria, THKD follows the Antimicrobial Stewardship programme developed by the MOH. Initiatives taken under this programme
include tracing and monitoring of Carbapenem2 use at the hospital, and distribution of a routine antimicrobial stewardship
newsletter to our staff. 

1 A sentinel event is defined as any unanticipated event in a healthcare setting, which results in serious harm or death of a
patient, not related to the natural course of the patient’s illness or injury.

2 Carbapenem is a highly effective anti-bacterial drug most often used to treat infections in cases where antibiotic-resistance has
been identified.
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QUASR Incident Reporting Flow

• Occurrence of incident
• Immediate action to rectify the situation

and ensure safety (as required)

• Raise Incident Report (QUASR) within
24 hours

• Supervisor to investigate, with relevant
stakeholders as necessary, and submit
findings and actions taken

• Review and Screening of findings by
GQLR

• Determine if Root Cause Analysis required

• Final sign-off of closed incident report.
• Incident report summary to be distributed

to relevant managers and Department
Heads for discussion and distribution to
wider staff as required



Patient Privacy and Confidentiality

Our customers put their trust in our services knowing that their personal data and medical records will be treated with the utmost
care and professionalism. Digitalisation is becoming increasingly prominent with the advances of technology, and the 
COVID-19 pandemic has accelerated this trend. It is our duty to adequately protect our patient’s record, both physical and digital.
In accordance to the Personal Data Protection Act (“PDPA”), we have established six (6) data management policies to guide our
staff in best practices and procedures for handling sensitive information.

To confirm the maintenance of correct patient data, THKD conducts a monthly Patient Chart Review audit, with 50 samples each
month. Criteria reviewed as part of the audit include basic completeness checks for the registration and consent forms, and checks
for implied refusal to provide required information.

We are pleased to report no recorded incidents of security breach or data loss this reporting period.  

Patient Satisfaction

The satisfaction of our patients is important to sustain TMCLS as a preferred healthcare provider of choice. Throughout the 
COVID-19 pandemic, we understood our patients were sometimes uncomfortable with travelling or visiting the hospital to collect
their medications. To address this, we launched Thomson Hospital online, an integrated technical platform to provide patients
with consultation, prescription, and medication delivery, all from the comfort and safety of their homes. Customers also enjoy
follow up services as our staff contact them to confirm if they have received their medication on time. They are also contacted
when they are due for a refill. Since January 2021, we have organised 219 drive-through dispenses and 221 home deliveries.
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At THKD, the nurse-to-patient ratio is in line with MOH guidelines, and guarantees our patients are receiving ample care and
attention at all times. The ratio varies depending on the hospital ward. 

To ensure we stay abreast of our patients’ changing needs and expectations, we distribute customer feedback forms. The feedback
we receive assists us in gauging patient expectations and identifying any areas of improvement. Our Net Promotor Score (“NPS”)
calculation system was updated this year, with the implementation of the Patient Experience Measurement Program (“PXMP”)
system. Additionally, we recorded an increase in our Google rating compared to last year - an improvement of 0.3 points for a
total score of 3.3.
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Conducted regular internal health and
safety audits and inspections

Maintained a comprehensive response to
the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic

Achieved an average of 19 hours of
training per employee

Our Response to COVID-19

Staff Wellness during COVID-19

With the COVID-19 pandemic and to safeguard staff and
patient wellbeing, we have recognised the need to adapt staff-
patient interaction to meet social distancing requirements. We
implemented a rotation shift for staff, dividing them into two (2)
teams that take turns working from home and from our
operational facilities. The heads of department monitor staff
wellbeing to ensure they are not feeling overwhelmed or
overworked. We also arrange for flexible working hours to
prevent our staff from burning out. 

All staff are provided with the necessary Personal Protective
Equipment (“PPE”) and we ensure that the supply is sufficient at
all times, with a procurement team created to monitor and
replenish PPE when stocks run low. We strictly adhere to SOPs
established by the Malaysian Government as well as our own
internal SOPs. 

ORGANISATIONAL 
MANAGEMENT

HIGHLIGHTS
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We expanded the access to COVID-19 testing for our employees, their dependants, as well as any outsourced employees,
enabling us to act immediately in the event of a potential positive case or close contact. The testing also served to give our
employees greater peace of mind while at work. Additionally, renovations to THKD improved the ventilation in all areas, improving
the air quality for our patients and staff, and reducing the risk of COVID-19 transmission. 

THKD Staff COVID-19 Infection Statistics*            Household/Community Exposure                 Hospital Exposure

Number of Staff Quarantined                                                 81 (7.7%)                                          222 (21.1%)
Number of Staff Positive                                                          39 (3.7%)                                             7 (0.7%)

*data inclusive of December 2020 to June 2021
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PPE
Provided to

Mikrozid AF Jumbo Wipes

Nitrile Glove PF

Purell Hand Sanitizer

Scrub suit

Shoe Cover

Surgical Mask 3-Ply

Protection Cap

Display Face Mask 3-Ply

Disposable Anti Fog
Face shield

Disposable Nurse Cap

Disposable Pants
Scrub Suit

Disposable PVC
Apron

Isolation Gown

Jumpsuit

Consultant and Nurses in full PPE attending to a
patient in ICU.

Using of head box for patient in Operation Theatre.

Transferring of a patient to ward using a head box.



COVID-19 Management

The COVID-19 pandemic has necessitated shifts in the Group’s operations. Strategies and action plans have been formulated to
ensure smooth operations of THKD during the pandemic. While regulations and guidelines issued by the Government of Malaysia
are strictly followed, TMCLS has also established policies and SOPs to mitigate the spread of COVID-19 within the hospital. A
COVID-19 taskforce, comprising medical consultants, medical directors, and members of hospital management, was established
at THKD to oversee and make informed decisions related to the prevention and control of COVID-19. The taskforce is also in
charge of developing the relevant SOPs and workflows based on the evolving local Ministry of Health or international guidelines
to manage infection control and risk in patient care. The taskforce has been given the power to override other clinical committees
during the pandemic.
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Paediatrics

Clinical Head of
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Radiology

Clinical Head of
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Anaesthesiology
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Consultant Emergency

Medicine Physician
Director of

Nursing
Assistant
Director of

Nursing

COVID-19 Taskforce Committee

COVID-19
SOPs and

Initiatives by
TMCLS

Social distancing measures 
are taken to reduce crowding

All staff received COVID-19
vaccinations, including support staff and 

contract and outsourced workers

Drive-thru screening, vaccination, 
and pharmacy as well as teleconsultation 

to limit exposure

Regular sanitisation and
disinfection at all areas of the

hospital

Patients, visitors or staff who fail
screening or are at high risk of 

COVID-19 are referred to the Communicable
Disease Screening Centre at Emergency

Temperature screening
at all entry points
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COVID-19 Training 

Other than the emergency preparations mentioned above, TMCLS realises the need for training programmes specifically for
COVID-19 crisis management and response. We have carried out a variety of training programmes to prepare our staff in dealing
and managing the continued impact of COVID-19.

In total, 748.5 training hours for COVID-19 Management Related Topics have been delivered this year. By November of 2020,
100% of our staff members had received COVID-19 training.
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• Emergency workflow for intubation Suspected /
PUI cases

• Management of Healthcare Workers Potentially
Exposed to COVID-19

• User Training and Fit-Testing for N95 Mask
• Training on Obtaining, Handling and

Transportation of Specimen for RT-PCR COVID-19

• Guidelines of Quarantine Procedures for Person
under Surveillance (PUS) of COVID-19 / Patient
under Investigation (PUI) of COVID-19

• Infection Prevention Control during Hospital
Renovation and Construction

• Introduction of COVID-19

• Update Infection Control / Policy 031:
Healthcare Worker Potentially Exposed to
COVID-19 (revised version)

• Prevention and Control of Infection COVID-19
Pandemic

• Environment Cleaning and Disinfection Principle
for COVID-19

• COVID-19: What parents should know? How to
protect yourself and your children

• Audit of Compliance of infection Control
Practices during COVID-19

• Management of Emerging Infectious Disease
- Novel Coronavirus, PPE Training, and
Isolation Precaution

• Prevention and Control of Infection COVID-19
Pandemic

• Management of Emerging Infectious Disease
- Novel Coronavirus

• Briefing: Message by  Ministry of Health to
all healthcare workers in Prevention and
Control of COVID-19. (based on the Meeting
with MOH on 9 September 2020)

• Infection Prevention Control (IPC) in the
context of COVID-19 Standard precaution,
transmission-based precaution & COVID-19
specific recommendation

• Training on PPE
• Transmission Based Precaution
• Cleaning, Disinfection and Sterilisation of

Medical Equipment

• World Hand Hygiene Day
• COVID-19 Nurses Training

Trainings Conducted for COVID-19 Management and Response



COVID-19 Testing Capability

At TMCLS we have the capacity to carry out rapid COVID-19 tests in-house at our laboratory facilities, such as:

1. COVID-19 RTK Antigen3

2. COVID-19 IgG and IgM4

3. Rapid Molecular PCR5

We also have agreements with external laboratories registered under the Ministry of Health (KKM), to carry out rt-PCR6 tests. We
have strict SOPs in place to ensure proper handling of all samples.

Ethics and Integrity
                                                                                 
At TMCLS, we understand that establishing and maintaining strong ethical behaviours is essential in building the trust between
the Group and our stakeholders. It is important to us that our team carries out all aspects of our operations in a professional
manner. 

In FY2020, the Group established the Code of Conduct (“Code”) which is available on our intranet and our corporate webpage.
The Group’s core values as well as ethical business practices and standards are outlined in the Code. Monthly training sessions
are run to cover the contents of the Code of Conduct. The Code also contains a section on the Group’s anti-corruption standards.
We engaged with external law firms to conduct training from June 2020 to August 2020 on anti-bribery and corruption
compliance. The training was attended by directors, managers, supervisors and executives. Two (2) additional talks were also
conducted by partners of law firms, to raise awareness of anti-bribery and corruption compliance, and Section 17A of the
Malaysian Anti-Corruption Commission (“MACC”) Act 2009 (Amendment 2018), which came into force on 1 June 2020.

The Code of Conduct and the Whistleblowing Policy are reviewed once every three (3) years to ensure they remain relevant. In
FY2021, no whistleblowing cases were reported through our channels.

We are currently in the process of formulating an action plan called TRUST: Top-Level Management Commitment, Risk Assessment,
Undertake Control Measures, Systemic Review, Monitoring and Enforcement, and Training and Communication.

3 The Rapid-Test Kit (“RTK”) Antigen test detects the presence of antigens, the body’s immune response to infection. The test
provided results in three (3) to five (5) hours.

4 Immunoglobulins G and M (“IgG/IgM”) are detected through a blood test, and can indicate a patient has had a COVID-19
infection in the recent past.

5 Polymerase chain reaction (“PCR”) testing detects the presence of COVID-19 DNA in a sample.
6 “Reverse transcription” (“rt”) PCR is similar to a PCR test but measures RNA presence instead of DNA.
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• Commitment to the Group’s policies and commitment
towards anticorruption in both internal and external
parties

• Ensuring vendor registration, including formal consignment arrangements, go through due diligence before formalisation
• Establishing policies and procedures to cover the following areas: anti-corruption, conflict of interest, gifts, donations,

sponsorship, financial controls, and record keeping, are kept up to date and made publicly available

• External consultant Deloitte has conducted this exercise
and reported findings to the ARMC in April 2020

• Compliance audits conducted for selected departments
(Currently: Procurement, Operating Theatre and
Pharmacy)

• Implemented a compulsory training requirement for all
staff (Currently: 85% attendance rate)
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Safety at the Workplace

Health and Safety Management

The safety of our employees is important to us. Working in the healthcare industry, our team is exposed to and are at greater risk
of contracting diseases. At TMCLS, we have implemented several initiatives to create a safe and healthy work environment for
our employees. We conduct a Hazard Identification Risk Assessment Risk Control (“HIRARC”) assessment annually in order to
identify and assess potential workplace hazards, and carry out the necessary steps to mitigate those risks identified. We also
established the Safety, Health and Environment (“SHE”) Policy to ensure the safety of our employees as well as our stakeholders. 

The Occupational Safety, Health and Environment (“OSHE”) committee oversees matters related to safety and health at THKD
and is made up of a balanced group representing both employees and management from different hospital divisions. 

The committee is responsible for reducing and controlling hazards and risks, preventing accidents and injuries, and ensuring a
safe and secure working environment. One of its primary functions is monitoring of the established Environment of Care Plans,
which address a variety of occupational safety and health related-areas, including fire safety and emergency management. The
committee reviews existing procedures to ensure they support the objectives of the Environment of Care Plans, minimising and
mitigating potential hazards and risks. 
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In addition to monitoring hazards and risks, the OSHE committee also carries out safety audits at THKD to ensure compliance
with workplace health and safety procedures. Some of the audits carried out this financial year include:

Health and Safety Training

Regular health and safety awareness programmes, training, events and campaigns are carried out for employees to strengthen
the safety culture throughout the organisation. Some of the programmes carried out this year include:

Safety Performance

We are pleased to report that in FY2021 the injury rate and lost day rate decreased compared to FY2020. Consistent with last
year, we have also achieved an occupational disease rate of zero (0). We attribute the reduced injury rate to the heightened
awareness of our safety practices among employees, facilitated by our training and engagement sessions. We recorded one (1)
injury among the housekeeping staff, who suffered a needle stick injury when handling wastes. A root cause assessment and
incident investigation were completed, with multiple controls put in place to ensure the accident does not recur.
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01.

02.

03.

04.

Training on
correct usage 
of PPE

Annual hand
hygiene
campaign

Talk on
ergonomics during
OSHE committee
meeting

Monthly online
training on
fire & safety

Health and Safety Training FY2021

• Monthly Environmental Tours are conducted to audit the hospital’s overall environment, which is presented during the
OSHE committee quarterly meetings

• Monthly audit on COVID-19 compliance, conducted by the Safety Officer, a representative from Group Quality, Legal,
Risk & Compliance (“GQLR”), and Infection Control Nurse

• Monthly audit at THKD’s Taska (Child Care Centre) conducted by the Safety Officer
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                                                                                                                  FY2019          FY2020          FY2021

Injury Rate7                                                                                                           0.9                 1.9                 1.5
Occupational Disease Rate                                                                                  1.41                    0                    0
Lost Day Rate                                                                                                      1.41                 1.9                 1.5

Emergency Preparedness for Disasters

As a healthcare institute, fast and efficient response to
emergency situations is an integral part of our operations that
requires planning, communication and documentation. TMCLS
has an Emergency Response Plan (“ERP”) that is specially
catered to THKD. 

The ERP is applicable to various emergencies that may lead to
a partial or general evacuation of the facility. In order to better
communicate the ERP, colour codes have been assigned to
indicate the emergency type and to alert staff to begin the
necessary procedures. Each colour represents a particular threat
that has its own set of Standard Operating Procedures (“SOP”)
in place.  

ERP drills are intended to be conducted annually, however this
year’s drill has been postponed as a COVID-19 precautionary
measure. 
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Economic Performance

The COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in global economic impacts, and TMCLS has not been immune from these effects. Due to
border closures, access from foreign patients has been greatly restricted, impacting one of the Group’s revenue streams. Various
initiatives have been undertaken this financial year to mitigate these effects, including strengthening cost control and cash
conversion measures, focus on the local market through digital spaces, and expanding our services and product offerings within
the Group. We continue to invest in our staff through training programmes to ensure the continued delivery of top-quality services
to our patients and the community.

In FY2021, we generated a total economic value of RM201 million. The value was distributed as below:

7 Calculation of injury, illness, and lost day rates are based on number of injuries per 200,000 hours worked.
8 The value for Income retained by Group includes operating costs.

Emergency Response Plan (“ERP”)
Colour Codes
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(32%)
64.8

(1%)
2.9

(0.04%)
0.08

(1.6%)
3.3

(65%)
129.92



Human Capital Development

Talent Development

At TMCLS, we believe in continuous learning and improvement as it not only enhances the growth of the Group, but also aids in
the personal and professional development of our employees. We are always seeking new ways to learn and expand our
knowledge so as to be an institution providing quality healthcare. 

In FY2021, all training was conducted online. A total of RM224,956 was invested for training and 21,691 total hours of employee
training was completed. 

Employee Training

Year                                                                                                              FY2019          FY2020          FY2021

Amount Invested in Talent Development (RM)                                                        532,174         298,530         224,956
Total Training Hours                                                                                            31,108           27,402           21,691
Average Training Hours per Employee                                                                         34                  30                  19

Average Training Hours by Gender

Male                                                                                                                        37                  24                  14
Female                                                                                                                     34                  32                  20

Average Training Hours by Employment Category

Management                                                                                                             48                  28                  42
Executive                                                                                                                  38                  28                  14
Non-Executive                                                                                                           32                  31                  20

For FY2021, our key focus was communication enhancement and encouraging empathy. We identified gaps in these areas based
on our employee engagement survey, and in response carried out a training programme called “Mastering Effective
Communication to Achieve Better Results” for our senior management. The training included one-to-one personal coaching sessions
with a master coach to enhance effective communication and leadership.
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Mastering Effective Communication to Achieve Better Results



The staff training and development programmes covered a variety of topics in FY2021.

Training Programme                                                        Objectives

General Orientation Program                                                   Integrating employees into new work environment

Cyber Security Awareness                                                       Awareness regarding threats and the Group’s policies and 
                                                                                            procedures that address cyber security

Code of Conduct                                                                   Outlining standards for ethical business conduct and guidelines 
                                                                                            for stakeholder interaction

Fire Awareness and ERP                                                          Awareness on fire hazards in the workplace and how to act in 
                                                                                            an emergency fire situation

Empathy @Thomson                                                               Building better employee relationship within/ inter-department 
                                                                                            and improve patients' experience

Effective Communication Skills                                                 Improving verbal and listening skills and enhance interpersonal 
                                                                                            skills

Netiquette Training                                                                 Constructing a pleasant, comfortable and efficient environment 
                                                                                            for online communication

Mastering Effective Communication to                                      Training on conducting presentations, fielding difficult questions 
Achieve Better Results                                                            or presenting complex information in front of different 

                                                                                            audiences and stakeholders

Introduction to Patient Safety                                                    Train employees on importance of patient safety and reducing 
                                                                                            risk

Root Cause Analysis                                                               Providing the basics of root cause analysis

What is Incident Reporting                                                      Teaching the right methodology of Incident Reporting

Internal Quality Audit                                                             Understanding the importance of internal quality auditing

Focus Group Discussion on Customer Service Level                    Addressing specific challenges faced at branch level
at Branches                                                                         

Vaccine Q&A with Dato’ Dr. Hamzah                                       Discussion on COVID-19 vaccines

Diversity and Inclusivity

At TMCLS, diversity and inclusivity are essential to enable us to engage and relate with our diverse range of patients, further
positioning us as a healthcare provider of choice. We aim to foster a workplace that is diverse and have zero tolerance for any
discrimination based on age, gender, race or religion. Our employees are hired based on their credibility and merit and this is
reflected by their quality performance.

SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT
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As is common with healthcare organisations, where women make up the majority of nurses and support staff, the majority (79%)
of our employees at TMCLS are women. When compared to FY2020, there has been no significant shift in the distribution of
female and male employees. The majority of our workforce are within the 30-50 year age range followed by those below 30
years of age. 

Employee Benefits

We value our employees as their hard work, perseverance and dedication contributes to our success in the healthcare industry.
It is important that we recognise and show appreciation to our team for their hard work. 
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Financial Assistance

• Long Term Illness Coverage
• Loan from appointed panel bank for home

purchasing
• Employee Share Option Scheme (“ESOS”)
• Special loans for tertiary education
• COVID-19 allowance
• Handphone allowance

Accommodation and Services

• Hostel
• Shuttle service
• Subsidy for food & drink
• Parking allowance

Medical and Insurance Coverage

• Hospital and Surgical Insurance
• Out-patient medical coverage for dependants
• Clinic and out-patient Medical Cards for

employees and dependants
• Discounted healthcare services
• COVID-19 screening and treatment coverage

Leave

• Annual
• Maternity
• Paternity
• Sabbatical
• Prolonged illness

Employee Benefits



Employees that took Parental Leave in FY2021

                                                                                                                                            Female              Male

Number of employees that are entitled to parental leave                                                                      326                  93

Number of employees that took parental leave                                                                                     56                  10

Number of employees that returned to work after parental leave                                                             47                   10
                                                                                                                                                   (84%)             (100%)

Number of employees that returned to work after parental leave ended that were still                               46                   10
employed 12 months after their return to work                                                                                 (82%)             (100%)

At TMCLS, we provide parental leave to our employees above and beyond the minimum statutory requirements. Total parental
leave is scaled based on the employee’s years of service, with a maximum of 90 days for women and 10 days for men, who
have been with the Group for five (5) years or more. 

In addition to the benefits above, we have implemented a programme called the Thomson Worry-Free Programme. The programme
was established with the purpose of aiding our employees in four (4) key areas of their lives that can sometimes cause financial
strain. This includes home ownership, healthcare, childcare and education.

48 TMC LIFE SCIENCES BERHAD 200301021989 (624409-A)

SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT

Thomson
Worry-Free
Programme

Healthcare Programme

Home Ownership 
Programme

100% home financing for eligible 
staff at Bank Islam

Education Care
Staff dependents can enjoy a 35% tuition fee

waiver at Taylor’s University

Childcare Programme
Exclusive childcare centre for children of THKD

staff, with subsidised fee

Talent Retention

Retaining Talent

To maintain business continuity in the face of movement restrictions, we carried out our hiring processes online, using platforms
such as Zoom or Microsoft Team to conduct interviews. Prospective job openings were also placed online, advertised via job
portals such as LinkedIn. In FY2021 we recorded a hiring rate of 15% and a turnover rate of 18%. This shows a slight decrease
in hiring and a slight increase in turnover when compared to FY2020.
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New Employee Hires

New Employee Hires                                                                                    FY2019          FY2020          FY2021

Gender

Female                                                                                                                   283                121                138
Male                                                                                                                        74                  33                  41

Age Group

Below 30 years                                                                                                       232                  81                  88
30-50 years                                                                                                            117                  66                  85
Above 50 years                                                                                                          8                    7                    6

Total                                                                                                                   357                154                179

Employee Turnover

Employee Turnover                                                                                       FY2019          FY2020          FY2021

Gender

Female                                                                                                                   217                128                136
Male                                                                                                                        47                  23                  39

Age Group

Below 30 years                                                                                                       146                  76                  75
30-50 years                                                                                                            114                  67                  97
Above 50 years                                                                                                          4                    8                    3

Total                                                                                                                   264                151                175



Employee Engagement

We encourage employees to interact with each other and with management, by organising a range of employee engagement
activities. The Group recognises the significant impact a healthy and positive place of work can have on an individual. We are
always seeking for new ways to promote a positive workplace and mindset among our employees. 

Despite the pandemic, we were able to bring cheer to the work environment, by decorating THKD for the festive seasons.
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Our monthly Group Human Resources e-newsletter, BLOOM showcases the
social activities organised (currently on hold due to COVID-19), as well as
sharing interesting articles and stories, and interviews with our employees on
their experience working with us. 

We carried out an in-house Employee Engagement Survey to better understand
what they thought of the engagement efforts organised in FY2021. Based on
the results of the survey, we are glad to report that our engagement activities
carried positive associations for our employees, with 70% of employees
responding that they felt engaged despite the COVID-19 restrictions. 
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Employee Awards

The HEART initiative (Hear, Empathise, Acknowledge, Respond,
Teamwork) was established to encourage our employees to improve their
customer service levels. Employees showing commendable levels of
service will be given vouchers with which they can redeem gifts.  

The DUCK Award (named in honour of Professor Emeritus Dato’ Dr
Khalid Bin Abdul Kadir, past Chairman of TMCLS) is an honour that is
bestowed to employees to recognise their unwavering commitment to
outstanding personal performance, superior dedication, and positive
attitude. Award recipients received a DUCK trophy and RM1,500 each.
The award is given to employees by Professor Emeritus Dato’ Dr Khalid
Bin Abdul Kadir, past Chairman of TMC Life Sciences Berhad.

We have also implemented a Performance Linked Wage System
(“PLWS”) that ensures our employees obtain a financial gain based on
their productivity and performance. Some of the benefits of the PLWS
include motivation for employees to perform, a more flexible wage
structure, and improved feelings of job satisfaction. 
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All hazardous wastes securely disposed of
in accordance with Department of
Environment Regulations

Installation of new energy-efficient building
chilling systems

Clinical and Other Wastes

In addition to general waste, our operations at THKD produce
hazardous waste types such as clinical and pharmaceutical
waste. All waste is managed in accordance to the
Environmental Quality (Scheduled Waste) Regulations 2005
enforced by the Department of Environment. 

In November 2020, we held a clinical waste training refresher
for all housekeeping staff, facilitated by our Infection Control
team. The focus of the training session was on safe handling
practices when collecting and disposing clinical waste. During
the training exercise, we used the opportunity to create some
visual recordings of correct procedures, which will be used to
develop further training materials in the future. Clinical waste is
disposed in dedicated waste cells in a secure landfill.

Within the pharmacy department, an SOP is strictly followed to
ensure the safe disposal of any expired, damaged, or 
non-conforming pharmaceutical product. These waste products
are segregated and incinerated, so they do not end up
contaminating natural systems or pose risks to public health. Our
waste management SOPs are included in the new-hire training
checklist to ensure they understand the correct procedures from
day one. In addition, we conduct an annual waste management
refresher training for all employees. 

ENVIRONMENTAL
SUSTAINABILITY

HIGHLIGHTS



Hazardous waste generation this year was 118.7 tonnes, the majority of which was clinical waste. The increase compared to
last year can be partially attributed to the adjustment of reporting periods, which resulted in only 10 months (September 2019
to June 2020) of data reported in FY2020.
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Energy Conservation

We acknowledge that the healthcare industry is energy intensive due to the critical nature of our operations, which requires 24-
hour electric power for machinery, lighting, and medical equipment. In an effort to minimise our energy consumption wherever
practical, this year we purchased and installed three (3) new DAIKIN Magnetic Building Chillers in THKD. These chillers are
energy efficient and run at a relatively low operating cost, saving us energy consumption and economic value compared to
conventional air conditioners. The chillers are also low-noise, making them ideal for installation in our hospital, and operate
without the need for lubricating oil, minimising maintenance and reducing the risk of spills.

Our electricity consumption for FY2021 was 6,541,106 kWh, a decrease of 7%9. This year, a new block of THKD has been
included as of March 2021 - adding over 10,000 m2 of additional net space. When excluding the influence of the new block,
our electricity consumption has decreased by 1,294,264 kWh (18%). Similarly, we also recorded a reduction in electricity
consumption intensity of 20%.

9 Given the adjusted reporting period for FY2020, we have extrapolated the FY2020 values to represent 12 months of data to
provide a more comparable figure.
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Engaged in health education programmes
with the community

Donated RM201,000 worth of PPE for
COVID-19 relief in Sabah

Community Health and Wellbeing

We recognise that building a strong and lasting relationship
with the community is important especially during such times as
we tackle the COVID-19 pandemic. This year, we carried out a
variety of engagement programmes focused on spreading
accurate information to aid and educate the community.

COMMUNITY 
OUTREACH
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Virtual Public Forums
Free Lung Cancer Screening in 
collaboration with Lung Cancer 

Network Malaysia (LCNM)

COVID-19 Vaccine
Awareness COVID-19 Health Literacy
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Adapting to the new norm, THKD brought health knowledge
to the public through virtual forums, using Facebook Live as
a platform. While the COVID-19 pandemic impacted
healthcare systems all around the world, we did not
overlook the prevention and management of non-
communicable diseases. Our panel of specialist consultants
addressed public concerns about cardiac diseases,
gastrointestinal diseases, and even mental health.

A COVID-19 vaccine registration booth was set up in our
hospital premises to create awareness and encourage the
public to register for vaccination. This effort is in line with
the National COVID-19 Immunisation Programme’s target
for herd immunity (80% of Malaysians).

THKD constructed content strategies to elevate public health
promotion and health literacy. Topics such as “How to Build
Up a Strong Immune System during COVID-19 Outbreak”,
“Pregnancy Journey During COVID-19”, “Who Should and
Should Not Take the COVID-19 Vaccine” and “Should
Patients with Heart Disease Get the COVID-19 Vaccine”
were well-received by our social media followers.

Continuing Medical Education initiatives were also
conducted in the form of webinars to help General
Practitioners maintain competence and learn about new
medical developments as well as the latest health services
offered.

THKD collaborated with LCNM, an NGO dedicated solely
to addressing all stages of lung cancer here in Malaysia.
In conjunction with Blue November, our Hospital offered
free Low Dose CT Scan followed by free consultation with
our Consultant Respiratory Physicians for at-risk individuals.

THKD produced educational videos and materials that promote awareness and increase health literacy 
of the Malaysian public.



In addition to the health awareness programmes, we provided donations to the following organisations for COVID-19 relief.
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face masks

Worth of PPE to Sabah State Health Department
Thomson Hospital Kota Damansara Donated  RM2

THKD partnered with Yayasan Sejahtera to sell re

201,000 

eusable 

• 500 reusable adult and children’s mask were purchased from Yayasan Sejahtera to be sold to our customers
and patients. 100% of the purchase price was given back to Yayasan Sejahtera, a charity committed to
improving the financial situation of B40 families. Money raised from selling masks was RM24,000.

• RM201,000 worth of medical supplies and PPE were donated to the Sabah State Health Department on 
9 November 2020.

• 2,000 surgical facemasks, 3,000 KN95 protection masks as well as more than 7,000 face shields, jumpsuits
and boot covers were donated to Ministry of Health frontliners in Sabah by THKD and its partners, Gelola Tegas
Sdn. Bhd., Jac Concept Sdn. Bhd., LKL Advance Metaltech Sdn. Bhd.

The PPE donation is loaded for transport to Sabah.

Conclusion

This year, the COVID-19 pandemic has continued to
impact business, livelihoods, and communities around the
world. As a proud provider of quality healthcare services,
we have a first-hand understanding of the impacts this
pandemic has had. We are incredibly grateful to our
dedicated team of employees, who have worked tirelessly
to ensure our patients receive the best possible care and
support. In addition to their focus on patient welfare, they
have continued to support and drive our sustainability
efforts and initiatives throughout the year. Thanks to the
hard work of our team, we continue to make progress on
the journey towards a sustainable future for all.
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GRI Content Index

      GRI                                                           Content of Disclosure                                                           Page
  Indicator                                                                                                                                                Number

General Disclosures 

     102-1        Name of the organisation                                                                                                              21
     102-4        Location of operations                                                                                                                   21
    102-16       Values, principles, standards and norms of behaviour                                                                        40
    102-17       Mechanisms for advice and concerns about ethics                                                                            40
    102-32       Highest governance body’s role in sustainability reporting                                                                 24
    102-40       List of stakeholder groups                                                                                                               24
    102-43       Approach to stakeholder engagement                                                                                           24 - 27
    102-44       Key topics and concerns raised                                                                                                    25 - 27
    102-46       Defining report content and topic boundaries                                                                                   21
    102-47       List of material topics                                                                                                                  28 - 30
    102-50       Reporting period                                                                                                                           21
    102-52       Reporting cycle                                                                                                                             21
    102-53       Contact point for questions regarding the report                                                                               21
    102-55       GRI Content Index                                                                                                                         59
     103-2         Management approach                                                                                                                    Throughout

Economic

     201-1        Direct economic value generated and distributed                                                                              43
     205-2        Communication and training about anti-corruption policies and procedures                                          40

Environmental

     302-1        Energy consumption within the organisation                                                                                     55
     302-3        Energy intensity                                                                                                                             55
     306-2        Management of significant waste-related impacts                                                                             53
     306-3        Waste generated                                                                                                                          54

Social

     401-1        New employee hire and employee turnover                                                                                     49
     401-2        Benefits provided to full-time employees that are not provided to temporary or part-time employees      47 - 48 
     401-3        Parental leave                                                                                                                               48
     403-1        Occupational Health and Safety management system                                                                     41 - 42
     403-2        Hazard identification, risk assessment, and incident investigation                                                        41
     403-4        Worker participation, consultation, and communication on occupational health and safety                 41 - 42
     403-5        Worker training on occupational health and safety                                                                            42
     403-9        Work-related injuries                                                                                                                      43
    403-10       Work-related ill health                                                                                                                    43
     404-1        Average hours of training per year per employee                                                                             44
     404-2        Programs for upgrading employee skills and transition assistance programs                                   39, 44 - 45
     405-1        Diversity of governance bodies and employees                                                                                 46
     413-1        Operations with local community engagement, impact assessments, and development programs         56 - 58
     416-1        Assessment of the health and safety impacts of product and service categories                                     31
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For the financial year ended 30 June 2021, the Group engaged in several CSR
initiatives as listed below:

Thomson Hospital Kota Damansara Donates RM201,000 Worth of PPE to Sabah State Health Department

THKD collected a total of RM201,000 worth of medical supplies and personal protective equipment (“PPE”) to be donated to the
Sabah State Health Department in support of the state’s response to the COVID-19 outbreak there. The items were shipped out
on 9 November 2020.

THKD and its partners, Gelola Tegas Sdn. Bhd., Jac Concept Sdn. Bhd., LKL Advance Metaltech Sdn. Bhd., donated a total of
2,000 surgical face masks, 3,000 KN95 protection masks, as well as more than 7,000 face shields, jumpsuits and boot covers
for the use of Ministry of Health frontliners in Sabah.

Datuk Dr Christina Rundi, Sabah Health Director, expressed her gratitude for the donation as these PPE sets are highly needed
and important for our medical frontliners battling the outbreak.

The THKD team packed and sent off
medical supplies and PPE to the Sabah

State Health Department.

YBhg Datuk Dr Christina Rundi,
Sabah Health Director (second from
right) receiving the items donated by
Thomson Hospital Kota Damansara.
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THKD x Yayasan Sejahtera Reusable Face Mask

THKD supported Yayasan Sejahtera, an organisation that
seeks to eradicate poverty in Malaysia, through the sale of
reusable cloth face masks. The batik cloth is procured from
local entrepreneurs and are sewn by women in lower
income groups from Kuala Lumpur, Kelantan and Sabah. 

500 reusable adult masks and 500 reusable children’s
masks were purchased from Yayasan Sejahtera to be sold
at cost to our customers and patients. 100% of the purchase
price goes to Yayasan Sejahtera. Our donation amount
totalled RM24,000. 

In addition, the use of reusable face masks will benefit the
environment, reducing the amount of waste and pollution.

COVID-19 Health Literacy

The bombardment of complex information about the novel coronavirus concerning detection, diagnosis and prevention has often
led to misinformation. In managing dissemination of COVID-19 information, THKD constructed content strategies to  elevate public
health promotion and health literacy. Topics such as “How to Build Up a Strong Immune System during COVID-19 Outbreak”,
“Pregnancy Journey During COVID-19”, “Who Should and Should Not Take the COVID-19 Vaccine” and “Should Patients with
Heart Disease Get the COVID-19 Vaccine?” were well-received by our social media followers.

THKD produced educational videos and materials that
promote awareness and increase health literacy of the

Malaysian public.
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Virtual Public Forums

Adapting to the new norm, THKD brought
health knowledge to the public through
virtual forums, using Facebook Live as a
platform. While the COVID-19 pandemic
impacted healthcare systems all around the
world, we did not overlook the prevention
and management of non-communicable
diseases. Our panel of specialist
consultants addressed public concerns
about cardiac diseases, gastrointestinal
diseases, and even mental health. 

A sample of Facebook Live sessions
with THKD’s panel of Consultant
Specialists.
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THKD conducted a series of online Masterclass and
Webinars for the group of General Practitioners. 



CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

COVID-19 Vaccine Awareness

A COVID-19 vaccine registration booth was set up
in our hospital premises to create awareness and
encourage the public to register for vaccination. This
effort is in line with the National COVID-19
Immunisation Programme’s target for herd immunity
(80% of Malaysians).

Free Lung Cancer Screening in collaboration with Lung Cancer Network Malaysia (“LCNM”)

THKD collaborated with LCNM, an NGO dedicated solely to addressing all stages of lung cancer here in Malaysia. In conjunction
with Blue November, our Hospital offered free Low Dose CT scans followed by a free consultation with our Consultant Respiratory
Physicians for at-risk individuals identified by LCNM.

COVID-19 vaccine registration booth located at the
Ground Floor of THKD.
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BOARD OF
DIRECTORS

FROM LEFT TO RIGHT

GARY HO KUAT FOONG

• Independent Non-Executive Director
• Chairman of Nominating Committee
• Member of Audit and Risk

Management Committee
• Member of Remuneration Committee

DATO’ SRI MOHD MOKHTAR 
BIN MOHD SHARIFF

• Independent Non-Executive
Chairman 

• Member of Nominating Committee
• Chairman of Remuneration

Committee
• Member of Audit and Risk

Management Committee

DR. LAM LEE G

• Independent Non-Executive Director
• Member of Nominating Committee
• Member of Remuneration Committee
• Chairman of Audit and Risk

Management Committee
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

KAN KHEONG NG

Executive Director

WAN NADIAH BINTI
WAN MOHD ABDULLAH
YAAKOB
• Executive Director, TMC

Life Sciences Berhad
• Group Chief Executive

Officer, TMC Life Sciences
Berhad

• Chief Executive Officer,
Thomson Hospitals Sdn.
Bhd.

CLAIRE LEE SUK LENG

Independent Non-Executive
Director

WILSON SAM

Executive Director
(Alternate to Kan 
Kheong Ng)
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Dato’ Sri Mohd Mokhtar bin Mohd Shariff was appointed
to the Board on 25 January 2019.

Dato’ Sri Mohd Mokhtar holds a degree in Bachelor of Law
(Hons), a Master of Business Administration, Certificate of Legal
Practice and was called to the Malaysian Bar on September 2019. 

Dato’ Sri Mohd Mokhtar had served the Royal Malaysia Police
from 3 July 1977 to 22 May 2018. He held key senior
positions in the Royal Malaysian Police namely, Director of
Special Branch, Director of Narcotics Crime Investigation
Department, Chief Police Officer of Johor, Deputy Chief Police
Officer of Pahang and Head of Special Branch Kuala Lumpur.
He had also served in the Embassy of Malaysia in Bangkok,
Thailand. 

Dato’ Sri Mohd Mokhtar has no family relationship with any
Director and/or major shareholder of the Company. He has no
convictions of any offences within the past five (5) years and
has no public sanctions and/or penalties imposed by the
relevant regulatory bodies during the financial year under
review. He has no conflict of interest with the Company. He
does not hold any directorship in other public companies and
listed issuers in Malaysia, other than his position as
independent and non-executive director of MY E.G. Services
Berhad.

Details of Directors’ interest in shares of the Company and its
subsidiaries as at 1 September 2021 are disclosed on page
168 of this Annual Report.

Details of the number of Board meetings attended in the
financial year under review are disclosed on page 82 of this
Annual Report. 

DATO’ SRI MOHD MOKHTAR 
BIN MOHD SHARIFF
• Independent Non-Executive Chairman 
• Member of Nominating Committee
• Chairman of Remuneration Committee
• Member of Audit and Risk Management Committee

Aged 64

Gender Male

Nationality Malaysian
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Aged 37

Gender Female

Nationality Malaysian

WAN NADIAH BINTI WAN MOHD
ABDULLAH YAAKOB
• Executive Director, TMC Life Sciences Berhad
• Group Chief Executive Officer, TMC Life Sciences

Berhad
• Chief Executive Officer, Thomson Hospitals Sdn. Bhd.

Ms. Wan Nadiah Binti Wan Mohd Abdullah Yaakob was
appointed to the Board on 25 January 2019 and assumed the
role of Executive Director and Group Chief Executive Officer
on 1 February 2019. Prior to the current position in 2019, she
was appointed as Chief Executive Officer of Thomson Hospitals
Sdn. Bhd. and Group Chief Corporate Officer of the Company
on 19 June 2017.

Prior to joining Thomson Hospitals Sdn. Bhd. and the Company,
Ms. Nadiah worked in Sunway Medical Centre as Chief
Operating Officer (Clinical Services) after being promoted from
Director of Business Development and Corporate
Communications in October 2016. She started her career at
The Boston Consulting Group in 2007 as an Associate
Consultant before joining Sunway Group as Manager, Strategy
and Corporate Development in 2010.

Ms. Nadiah holds an MSc Public Health (Nutrition) from the
London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, United
Kingdom and an AB cum Laude in Biochemical Sciences from
Harvard College. She is a member of the Forum of Young
Global Leaders Class of 2020 and serves as Vice-President of
the Harvard Club of Malaysia.

Ms. Nadiah has no family relationship with any Director
and/or major shareholder of the Company. She has no
convictions of any offences within the past five (5) years and
has no public sanctions and/or penalties imposed by the
relevant regulatory bodies during the financial year under
review. She has no conflict of interest with the Company. She
was appointed as Director of the Institute of Corporate Directors
Malaysia on 29 March 2021.

Details of Directors’ interest in shares of the Company and its
subsidiaries as at 1 September 2021 are disclosed on page
168 of this Annual Report.

Details of the number of Board meetings attended in the
financial year under review are disclosed on page 82 of this
Annual Report. 



68 TMC LIFE SCIENCES BERHAD 200301021989 (624409-A)

DIRECTORS’ PROFILE

KAN KHEONG NG
Executive Director

Aged 66

Gender Male

Nationality Malaysian

Mr. Barry Kan Kheong Ng was appointed to the Board on
2 June 2015. He holds a Degree in Business Administration
from the Royal Melbourne Institute of Technology. He is a
veteran of almost 30 years in the automotive industry with rich
and vast experience in managing various illustrious global
brands during his career with renowned regional dealership,
Wearnes Automotive, headquartered in Singapore. Prior to
that, he was with the Port Authority of Singapore for 7 years.

As General Manager at Malayan Motors (a division then of
Wearnes Automotive Pte. Ltd.), his portfolio included the 
Rolls-Royce, Bentley, Jaguar and Volvo Trucks franchises in
Singapore. He was also responsible for the introduction of
some of the brands into new territories such as Brunei,
Indonesia, Taiwan and Thailand. In addition to the strategic
management of the business, he took personal interest in
Customer Relationship Management and Aftersales operations,
which resulted in a high level of clientele retention for the luxury
automotive brands.

Promoted to Managing Director of the Prestige Division of
Wearnes Automotive, he was instrumental in the acquisition of
new brands which included Bugatti, Land Rover and McLaren.
He was also the key representative of the company for the high-
society clientele which included the Captains of Industry as well
as esteemed members of Royal families within the region.

To nurture the passion for driving and motorsports for the entire
Corporate Group, he led a team to spearhead the inaugural
motorsports division. Activities included track and instructional
driving days as well as distance driving weekends in Malaysia
where participants had the chance to learn more about their
cars and improve their driving skills whilst the company had the
chance to showcase their product range and services.

When the exciting opportunity arose to develop the integrated
automotive hub in Nusajaya, Iskandar Malaysia, he joined
Fastrack Autosports (Iskandar) Pte. Ltd. to conceptualise and
execute the project. In partnership with UEM Sunrise Berhad,
Mr. Barry Kan manages the joint venture company, Fastrack
Iskandar Sdn. Bhd. as Director. Mr. Barry Kan is currently the
Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director of Secura Group
Limited (Singapore Listed).

Mr. Barry Kan has no family relationship with any Director
and/or major shareholder of the Company. He has no
convictions of any offences within the past five (5) years and
has no public sanctions and/or penalties imposed by the
relevant regulatory bodies during the financial year under
review. He has no conflict of interest with the Company. He
does not hold any directorship in other public companies and
listed issuers in Malaysia.

Details of Directors’ interest in shares of the Company and its
subsidiaries as at 1 September 2021 are disclosed on page
168 of this Annual Report.

Details of the number of Board meetings attended in the
financial year under review are disclosed on page 82 of this
Annual Report. 



DIRECTORS’ PROFILE

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 69

GARY HO KUAT FOONG
• Independent Non-Executive Director
• Chairman of Nominating Committee
• Member of Audit and Risk Management Committee
• Member of Remuneration Committee

Aged 66

Gender Male

Nationality Australian

Mr. Gary Ho Kuat Foong was appointed to the Board on
12 January 2011. 

Mr. Gary Ho has over 36 years’ experience in corporate
management and finance. He currently sits on the Board of
several private and public listed companies in Australia and
Singapore respectively. 

Mr. Gary Ho holds Bachelor degrees in Commerce and
Science from the University of Western Australia. He is a
member of CPA Australia and the Institute of Singapore
Chartered Accountants.

Mr. Gary Ho has no family relationship with any Director
and/or major shareholder of the Company. He has no
convictions of any offences within the past five (5) years and
has no public sanctions and/or penalties imposed by the
relevant regulatory bodies during the financial year under
review. He has no conflict of interest with the Company. He
does not hold any directorship in other public companies and
listed issuers in Malaysia.

Details of Directors’ interest in shares of the Company and its
subsidiaries as at 1 September 2021 are disclosed on page
168 of this Annual Report.

Details of the number of Board meetings attended in the
financial year under review are disclosed on page 82 of this
Annual Report. 
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DIRECTORS’ PROFILE

CLAIRE LEE SUK LENG
Independent Non-Executive Director

Aged 49

Gender Female

Nationality Malaysian

Ms. Claire Lee Suk Leng was appointed to the Board on 18
October 2012.

Ms. Claire Lee holds Bachelor of Business Administration
(Distinction) in Finance from the University of Hawaii at Manoa.
She has over 10 years of experience in the areas of corporate
finance and advisory, and private wealth management. 
She started her career with the merchant banking arm of the
Union Bank of Switzerland, UBS (East Asia) Ltd and later joined
HSBC Investment Bank PLC and Salomon Smith Barney
(Singapore) Pte. Ltd.. 

Ms. Claire Lee has no family relationship with any Director
and/or major shareholder of the Company. She has no
convictions of any offences within the past five (5) years and
has no public sanctions and/or penalties imposed by the
relevant regulatory bodies during the financial year under
review. She has no conflict of interest with the Company. She
does not hold any directorship in other public companies and
listed issuers in Malaysia.

Details of Directors’ interest in shares of the Company and its
subsidiaries as at 1 September 2021 are disclosed on page
168 of this Annual Report.

Details of the number of Board meetings attended in the
financial year under review are disclosed on page 82 of this
Annual Report. 
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DR. LAM LEE G
• Independent Non-Executive Director
• Member of Nominating Committee
• Member of Remuneration Committee
• Chairman of Audit and Risk Management Committee

Aged 62

Gender Male

Nationality Canadian

Dr. Lam Lee G was appointed to the Board on 
25 January 2019. He is currently Chairman of Hong Kong
Cyberport and Senior Advisor to Macquarie Group Asia, and
also serves on the board of directors, the investment committee
and the advisory committee of a number of publicly - listed
companies, investment funds and NGOs in the Asia Pacific
region.

Dr. Lam holds a BSc in Sciences and Mathematics, an MSc in
Systems Science, an MBA from the University of Ottawa in
Canada, an MPA and a PhD from the University of Hong Kong,
an LLB (Honours) from Manchester Metropolitan University in
the UK and an LLM from the University of Wolverhampton in
the UK. He is a Solicitor of the High Court of Hong Kong, an
Accredited Mediator of the Centre for Effective Dispute
Resolution (CEDR), a Fellow of Certified Management
Accountants (CMA) Australia, the Hong Kong Institute of
Arbitrators, the Hong Kong Institute of Directors and the Institute
of Corporate Directors Malaysia (ICDM), and an Honorary
Fellow of Certified Public Accountants (CPA) Australia, the
Hong Kong Institute of Facility Management and the University
of Hong Kong School of Professional and Continuing
Education. In 2019, Dr. Lam was awarded by the Hong Kong
Government a Bronze Bauhinia Star (BBS) for serving the
public. Dr. Lam has over 30 years of international experience
in general management, strategy consulting, corporate
governance, direct investment, investment banking and fund
management. 

Dr. Lam has no family relationship with any Director and/or
major shareholder of the Company. He has no convictions of
any offences within the past five (5) years and has no public
sanctions and/or penalties imposed by the relevant regulatory
bodies during the financial year under review. He has no
conflict of interest with the Company. He does not hold any
directorship in other public companies and listed issuers in
Malaysia.

Details of Directors’ interests in shares of the Company and its
subsidiaries as at 1 September 2021 are disclosed on page
168 of this Annual Report.

Details of the number of Board meetings attended in the
financial year under review are disclosed on page 82 of this
Annual Report.
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DIRECTORS’ PROFILE

WILSON SAM
Executive Director
(Alternate to Kan Kheong Ng)

Aged 45

Gender Male

Nationality Singaporean

Mr. Wilson Sam was appointed to the Board on 
1 February 2019 as an Alternate Director to Mr. Barry Kan. 

Mr. Sam has over 20 years of experience in finance,
investments and advisory. He is currently the Executive Director
and Group Chief Financial Officer of Thomson Medical Group
Limited (listed on the Main Board of the Singapore Exchange)
and is responsible for providing leadership to its financial and
management reporting, corporate finance, treasury, investor
relations and corporate and regulatory compliance. Before
joining Thomson Medical Group Limited in 2019, he was the
Senior Vice President of Kestrel Capital Pte. Ltd., a Singapore
headquartered private investment company, where he heads
the investments and merger and acquisitions team. Prior to this,
Mr. Sam held various positions with regional and international
banks, specialising in corporate finance and merger and
acquisitions and was involved in numerous initial public
offerings, financial advisory and merger and acquisition
transactions. He started his career as a senior officer in a
Singapore government statutory board in 2000 before joining
a United States multinational company in 2001.

Mr. Sam obtained a Bachelor of Business Studies (Honours)
degree with a major in financial analysis and a minor in
accountancy from Nanyang Technological University. He is also
a CFA charterholder, a CAIA charterholder and holds FRM
certification.

Mr. Sam has no family relationship with any Director and/or
major shareholder of the Company. He has no convictions of
any offences within the past five (5) years and has no public
sanctions and/or penalties imposed by the relevant regulatory
bodies during the financial year under review. He has no
conflict of interest with the Company. He does not hold any
directorship in other public companies and listed issuers in
Malaysia.

Details of Directors’ interest in shares of the Company and its
subsidiaries as at 1 September 2021 are disclosed on page
168 of this Annual Report.

Details of the number of Board meetings attended in the
financial year under review are disclosed on page 82 of this
Annual Report. 



ANNUAL REPORT 2021 73

PROFILE OF KEY
SENIOR MANAGEMENT TEAM

Mr. Wong Yu Chee has over 24 years’ experience in finance,
audit, accounting and tax compliance services in Malaysia and
Shanghai. He started his career in 1996 joining a local audit firm
as auditor. He then joined Coopers & Lybrand in 1997, now known
as Pricewaterhouse Coopers PLT (“PwC”). He spent 8 years in PwC
specialised in assurance assignment of large multinational company,
public listed companies in various industries, Initial Public Offering
(“IPO”) and corporate exercise. He joined GlaxoSmithKline then as
Finance Manager before he left Malaysia joining Ernst & Young
Shanghai end 2005. He spent 3 years in Ernst & Young Shanghai
focusing on statutory audit assignment, IPO assurance assignment,
corporate exercise and United States audit assignment until he
joined TMF Shanghai end of 2008, leading the accounting and tax
compliance services in TMF Shanghai for 2 years.

Mr. Wong relocated back to Malaysia in 2010, as Director of
Accounting & Tax Compliance Services in TMF Malaysia where he
spent 5 years helping businesses on accounting and tax compliance
including Goods and Service Tax advisory and compliance services
in TMF Malaysia. Mr. Wong then joined PCA Corporate Services
Sdn. Bhd. in 2015 as Group Chief Operating Officer before joining
the Company as Group Chief Financial Officer on 3 August 2015. 

Mr. Wong is a Fellow Member of Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants (FCCA), member of Malaysian Institute of Accountants
(MIA)-Chartered Accountant (M) and Associate Member of
Chartered Tax Institute of Malaysia (ACTIM).

Mr. Wong does not hold any directorship in other public companies
and listed issuer in Malaysia. He has no family relationship with any
Director and/or major shareholder of the Company. He has no
convictions of any offences within the past five (5) years and has no
public sanctions and/or penalties imposed by the relevant
regulatory bodies during the financial year under review. Also, he
has no conflict of interest with the Company. 

The profile of Ms. Wan Nadiah Binti Wan Mohd Abdullah
Yaakob is set out on page 67 of this Annual Report.

WONG YU CHEE

Group Chief Financial Officer, TMC Life Sciences
Berhad 

Nationality Malaysian

Age 48 Gender Male

WAN NADIAH BINTI WAN MOHD
ABDULLAH YAAKOB

• Executive Director, TMC Life Sciences Berhad
• Group Chief Executive Officer, TMC Life Sciences

Berhad
• Chief Executive Officer, Thomson Hospitals Sdn. Bhd.

Nationality Malaysian

Age 37 Gender Female
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Ms. Kwan Yee Man joined the team as the Chief Executive
Officer of TMC Women’s Specialist Holdings Sdn. Bhd., IVF
Technologies Sdn. Bhd., Thomson TCM Sdn. Bhd., TMC Biotech
Sdn. Bhd. and TMC Care Sdn. Bhd. in August 2019.

With 20 years of vast experience in pharmaceutical and medical
industries, Ms. Kwan has played crucial roles in corporate
management, business development and expansion across
Malaysia and globally.

In 1999, as the Senior Pharmacist, Ms. Kwan managed the
Outpatient Pharmacy, Inpatient Pharmacy and Cytotoxic Drug
Reconstitution Unit in Subang Jaya Medical Centre. She then
moved on to Diethelm Malaysia and managed key principal
accounts for supply chain of pharmaceuticals and vaccines. She
also managed key accounts in B Braun Medical Supplies.

Subsequently in 2006, Ms. Kwan ventured into the beauty and
wellness business, building the business and operations. In
2009, she took on an active and critical role as the Pharmacy
Manager in Assunta Hospital.

In 2016, Ms. Kwan was appointed as Business Development
Director of an Infomation Technology (“IT”) healthcare software
company. In 2018, she was Chief Operating Officer of an IT
project management company in Malaysia handling projects
within South East Asia.

Ms. Kwan holds a degree in Pharmacy from Liverpool John
Moores University in UK. She is also a member of Malaysian
Pharmacy Board and a Licensed Pharmacist.

Ms. Kwan does not hold any directorship in other public
companies and listed issuer in Malaysia. She has no family
relationships with any Director and/or major shareholders of the
Company. She has no convictions of any offences within the past
five (5) years and has no public sanctions and/or penalties
imposed by the relevant regulatory bodies during the financial
year under review. Also, she has no conflicts of interest with the
Company.

KWAN YEE MAN

Nationality Malaysian

Gender FemaleAge 45

PROFILE OF KEY SENIOR MANAGEMENT TEAM

Chief Executive Officer of TMC Women’s Specialist
Holdings Sdn. Bhd., IVF Technologies Sdn. Bhd.,
Thomson TCM Sdn. Bhd., TMC Biotech Sdn. Bhd. 
and TMC Care Sdn. Bhd.
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CORPORATE
DIRECTORY

HEADQUARTER :

TMC Fertility & Women’s
Specialist Centre
Lot No.1F-1B
1st Floor, Tower 4 @ PFCC
Jalan Puteri 1/2, Bandar Puteri
47100 Puchong 
Selangor Darul Ehsan

Tel    :   603-8069 9333
Fax  :   603-8069 9332

www.tmcfertility.com

BRANCHES :

TMC Fertility & Women’s Specialist
Centre, Johor Bahru
02-03, Medical Suites
Level 4, Menara Landmark
12, Jalan Ngee Heng
80000 Johor Bahru
Johor Darul Takzim

Tel    :   607-278 0088
Fax  :   607-278 0808

TMC Fertility & Women’s Specialist
Centre, Penang
3E-1-1, Straits Quay
Jalan Seri Tanjung Pinang
Tanjung Tokong
10470 Pulau Pinang

Tel    :   604-890 9118
Fax  :   604-890 9448

TMC Fertility & Women’s Specialist
Centre, Puchong
GF-12 Ground Floor
Tower 4 @ PFCC
Jalan Puteri 1/2, Bandar Puteri
47100 Puchong 
Selangor Darul Ehsan

Tel    :   603-8069 9333
Fax  :   603-8069 9332

TMC Fertility & Women’s Specialist
Centre, Kepong
8, Jalan Prima
Metro Prima, Kepong
52100 Kuala Lumpur

Tel    :   603-6258 0000
Fax  :   603-6241 5809

TMC Fertility & Women’s Specialist
Centre, Ipoh
33, Persiaran Pearl, Fair Park
31400, Ipoh
Perak Darul Ridzuan

Tel    :   605-548 8118
Fax  :   605-548 7118

TMC Fertility @ Thomson Hospital
2nd Floor, Thomson Hospital Kota
Damansara
11, Jalan Teknologi
PJU 5, Kota Damansara
47810 Petaling Jaya
Selangor Darul Ehsan

Tel    :   603-6287 1000
Fax  :   603-6287 1001

HOSPITAL RETAIL PHARMACY

TMC FERTILITY AND WOMEN’S SPECIALIST CENTRES

THOMSON HOSPITALS 
SDN. BHD. 
11, Jalan Teknologi
PJU 5, Kota Damansara
47810 Petaling Jaya
Selangor Darul Ehsan

Tel    :  603-6287 1111
Fax  :  603-6287 1212

www.thomsonhospitals.com

TMC CARE SDN. BHD.
Vantage Bay
Lot 6376 & 9236
Jalan Ibrahim Sultan
80300 Johor Bahru
Johor Darul Takzim

Tel    :   607-223 0088
Fax  :   607-221 0200

www.tmccarepharmacy.com

WELLNESS CENTRE

THOMSON TCM SDN. BHD.
Lot No. 1F-3
1st Floor, Tower 4 & 5 @ PFCC
Jalan Puteri 1/2, Bandar Puteri 
47100 Puchong
Selangor Darul Ehsan

Tel     : 603-8068 9077
Fax   : 603-8068 9076

www.thomson-tcm.com
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The Board of Directors (“Board”) of TMC Life Sciences Berhad (“TMCLS” or “the Company”) recognises the importance of
safeguarding and promoting the interest of its stakeholders. The Board is committed to uphold high standards of corporate
governance through transparency, accountability, integrity and corporate performance.

TMCLS adopts the following requirements and guidelines on corporate governance best practices:

• Companies Act 2016 (“CA 2016”);
• Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance (“MCCG” or “Code”);
• Main Market Listing Requirements (“MMLR”) of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa Securities”); and
• Corporate Governance Guide - 3rd Edition issued by Bursa Malaysia Berhad.

The Board is pleased to present the following Corporate Governance Overview Statement (“Statement”) that describe the extent
of how the Group has applied and complied the three (3) principles which are set out in the MCCG throughout the financial year
under review:

(a) Principle A: Board leadership and effectiveness;
(b) Principle B: Effective audit and risk management; and
(c) Principle C: Integrity in corporate reporting and meaningful relationship with stakeholders.

This Statement should be read together with the Corporate Governance Report of the Company (“CG Report”) which is available
on the Company’s website at www.tmclife.com.

PRINCIPLE A: BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS

1. BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES

Clear Functions of the Board and Management

The Company is helmed by an experienced Board comprising members of calibre and credibility with necessary skills,
expertise and experience ranging from medical practitioners, lawyer to entrepreneurs and accountants.  

The Board is primarily responsible for oversight and the overall governance of the Group. It carries out its mandate by
providing strategic guidance, implementing succession planning, effectively monitoring management goals and ensuring
overall accountability for the business growth of the Group. In addition, the Board is responsible for ensuring that the Group’s
internal controls, risk management processes and reporting procedures are in place. In discharging their fiduciary
responsibilities, the Board develops the business strategies and the day-to-day management of the Company is further
cascaded to the senior management team. The Board is monitoring the performance of the Group based on periodic
performance of the Group reported by management in the quarterly financial results and has full access to all operational
information and explanation provided by management.

Key matters reserved for the Board’s approval include the annual business plan and budget, dividend policy, business
continuity plan, new issue of securities, business restructuring, expenditure above a certain pre-determined limit, new business
venture, expansion plan, funding plan, acquisition or disposal of companies within the Group and any other strategic matters
requiring the Board’s decision. Also, the functions of the Board and management are clearly demarcated to ensure the
effectiveness of the Company’s operations and are guided by the Limit of Authority (“LOA”). The purpose of the LOA is to
define the limits of authority designated to specified positions within the Group and to establish the types and maximum
amount of obligations that may be approved by individuals or groups of individuals. The LOA will be reviewed from time
to time to ensure that it remains relevant to the Company’s objectives. The last revision of the LOA was made in June 2021. 

The Board is committed to act in the best interest of the Company and its shareholders by exercising due diligence and care
in discharging its duties and responsibilities to ensure that high ethical standards are applied at all times.   

The Board has set up different Board Committees with different functions to assist the Board in discharging its fiduciary
duties. These Board Committees do not make decision on behalf of the Board and the Company. It is each Board Committee’s
duty to review matters under its purview and make the necessary recommendation to the Board for its consideration and
decision-making.
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Strategies to Promote Sustainability

The Board places great importance on corporate social responsibility (“CSR”) and business sustainability and embraces
CSR as an integral part of the Group’s business philosophy and corporate culture.

The CSR activities and sustainability statement of the Group during the financial year under review are set out on pages 60
to 63 and 21 to 59 of this Annual Report, respectively.  

Chairman and Managing Director

The role of the Chairman and the Executive Director cum Group Chief Executive Officer are separated.  

The Chairman provides leadership at Board level and represents the Board to the shareholders and other stakeholders and
is responsible for ensuring integrity and effectiveness of the Board and its Board Committees.

The Executive Director cum Group Chief Executive Officer provides executive leadership and is accountable to the Board
for implementation of the strategies, objectives and decisions of the Board within the framework of delegated authorities,
values and policies of the Company.

Company Secretaries

The Company Secretaries of the Company are experienced, competent and knowledgeable, play an important role in
advising the Board on issues relating to corporate compliance with the relevant laws, rules, procedures and regulations
affecting the Board and the Company, as well as best practices of governance. The Directors have ready and unrestricted
access to the advice and services of the Company Secretaries. The Board is regularly kept up-to-date on and apprised of
any new regulations and guidelines.

The Company Secretaries are responsible for advising the Directors of their obligations and duties to disclose their interest
in securities, disclosure of any conflict of interest in a transaction involving the Group, prohibition on dealing in securities
and restrictions on disclosure of price-sensitive information.

The Company Secretaries also safeguard all statutory books and records of the Company and maintain the statutory registers
of the Company. The Company Secretaries also ensure all Board meetings are properly convened, and that accurate and
proper records of the proceedings and resolutions passed are recorded. In addition, the Company Secretaries also ensure
that any change in the Company’s statutory information should be duly completed in the relevant prescribed forms and
lodged with the Companies Commission of Malaysia within the stipulated timeframe. 

Access to Information and Advice

In exercising their duties, the Directors have direct access to the senior management executives. In addition, the Directors
may seek advice from the Company Secretaries to assist them in furtherance of their duties. Where necessary, the Board
may engage independent advisors at the Group’s expense on specialised issues to enable them to discharge their duties
proficiently.

The agenda and meeting papers are distributed at least seven (7) days in advance prior to the meetings to allow the Directors
to have sufficient time to review and to request for any further information or clarification prior to the meetings, and to raise
relevant issues during the meetings.

Upon conclusion of the meetings, the draft minutes are circulated to the Board to ensure that the minutes of meetings
accurately reflect the deliberations and decisions of the Board, including the abstention of Director from voting or deliberating
on a particular matter, if any. Thereafter, the final minutes are confirmed and approved by the Chairman of the succeeding
meeting.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW STATEMENT
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Demarcation of Responsibilities 

Board Charter

The Board Charter, which was adopted by the Board in July 2013 and last reviewed on 17 December 2019, sets out the
composition, roles and responsibilities and processes of the Board.  

The objectives of the Board Charter are to ensure that all Board members are aware of their duties and responsibilities, the
various legislations and regulations affecting their conduct and that the highest standards of corporate governance are
applied in all dealings by the Board members individually and/or on behalf of the Company. It serves as a strategic guidance
and effective oversight of management.

The details of the Board Charter are available for reference at the Company’s website at www.tmclife.com.

Code of Conduct and Ethics

The Board has made a commitment to create a corporate culture within the Group to operate the businesses in an ethical
manner and to uphold the highest standards of professionalism and exemplary corporate conduct in relation to interactions
with shareholders, employees, suppliers and customers. The Group has implemented a Code of Conduct and Ethics which
dictates the ethics and standard of good conduct expected of every Director. The Code of Conduct and Ethics, which forms
part of the Board Charter, is available for reference at the Company’s website at www.tmclife.com. During the financial
period ended 30 June 2020, the Company has revised the Code of Conduct which incorporated changes necessary to
comply with Section 17A of the Malaysian Anti-Corruption Commission Act 2009 (Amendment 2018), which came into
force on 1 June 2020. Various trainings have been carried out for Directors, managers, supervisors and executives during
the financial year ended 30 June 2021.

Whistleblowing Policy and Procedure

The Board allows employees and associates to report suspected and/or known misconduct, wrongdoings, corruption, fraud,
waste and/or abuse involving resources of the Company. The Whistleblowing Policy and Procedure (adopted by the
Company in July 2013 and last reviewed by the Board on 17 December 2019) provides and facilitates a mechanism for
any employee and associate to report concerns about any suspected and/or known misconduct, wrongdoings, corruption,
fraud, waste and/or abuse. The Board of Directors is notified of any whistleblowing reports and actions taken in timely
manner if any reports received.

The Whistleblowing Policy and Procedure is available at the Company’s website at www.tmclife.com.

2. BOARD COMPOSITION

Composition of the Board and Board Balance

The Board comprises one (1) Independent Non-Executive Chairman, two (2) Executive Directors, three (3) Independent 
Non-Executive Directors and one (1) Alternate Executive Director. This is in line with the requirements of Paragraph 15.02
of the MMLR of Bursa Securities and the MCCG. 

Our Chairman, Dato’ Sri Mohd Mokhtar Bin Mohd Shariff is an Independent Non-Executive Chairman of the Company. The
Board committed to ensure the effective leadership and is satisfied by having Dato’ Sri Mohd Mokhtar Bin Mohd Shariff as
its Independent Non-Executive Chairman due to his vast experience in the legal and regulatory industry and is able to
provide the Board with a clear direction to the strategy decision and contributing significantly to the long-term growth of the
Group. Further, he also demonstrates his objectivity in deliberating and making decision aligning with the shareholders’
interest at large to ensure balance of power and authority on the Board during his tenure as Chairman of the Company. 

The profile of the individual Directors is set out on pages 66 to 72 of this Annual Report.

Annual Assessment of Independence of Directors

All the Independent Non-Executive Directors fulfil the criteria of independence as defined in the MMLR of Bursa Securities
and act independently of management and do not participate in any business dealings. None of the Independent 
Non-Executive Directors are involved in any other relationship with the Group that may impair his/her independent judgement
and decision-making. The Board performed yearly assessment of its Independent Non-Executive Directors and received
confirmation of independence from the respective Independent Non-Executive Directors.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW STATEMENT
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Based on the independent assessment, the Board also concluded that the independence of Mr. Gary Ho Kuat Foong, whose
tenure of service has exceeded a cumulative term of nine (9) years and Ms. Claire Lee Suk Leng, whose tenure of service
will exceed a cumulative term of nine (9) years on 18 October 2021, justifications of which are set out below, are not
impaired or affected by the length of their services.

Tenure of Independent Non-Executive Directors

The Board recognises the Code’s recommendation on the service tenure of an Independent Non-Executive Director, which
should not exceed a cumulative term of nine (9) years. Upon completion of the nine (9) years, an Independent Non-Executive
Director may continue to serve on the Board subject to the Director’s re-designation as a Non-Independent Non-Executive
Director or seek shareholders’ approval in the event it retains as an Independent Non-Executive Director.

Save for Mr. Gary Ho Kuat Foong and Ms. Claire Lee Suk Leng, all the Independent Non-Executive Directors’ terms of
service with the Company are less than nine (9) years.

Mr. Gary Ho Kuat Foong, an Independent Non-Executive Director who is a chairman of Nominating Committee (“NC”) and
member of Audit and Risk Management Committee (“ARMC”) and Remuneration Committee (“RC”), was appointed to the
Board of TMCLS on 12 January 2011 and as such his tenure of service has exceeded a cumulative term of nine (9) years.
The Board has reviewed and recommended that Mr. Gary Ho Kuat Foong shall continue to act as an Independent Non-
Executive Director.

Ms. Claire Lee Suk Leng, an Independent Non-Executive Director, was appointed to the Board of TMCLS on 18 October
2012 and as such her tenure of service will exceed a cumulative term of nine (9) years on 18 October 2021. The Board
has reviewed and recommended that Ms. Claire Lee Suk Leng shall continue to act as an Independent Non-Executive Director.

Ms. Claire Lee Suk Leng will be re-designated as Non-Independent Non-Executive Director on 18 October 2021 upon
reaching the term of service of nine (9) years with the Company and will seek shareholders’ approval for retention as an
Independent Non-Executive Director at the forthcoming Nineteenth Annual General Meeting.

In order to adhere with the MCCG, the Board will seek approval from the shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming
Nineteenth Annual General Meeting ("AGM”) to retain Mr. Gary Ho Kuat Foong and Ms. Claire Lee Suk Leng as Independent
Non-Executive Directors based on the following justifications:

• They have fulfilled the criteria under the definition of Independent Non-Executive Director as stated in the MMLR of
Bursa Securities and thus, they would be able to bring an element of objectivity to the Board;

• They have been with the Company for more than nine (9) years and are familiar with the Company’s business
operations;

• They have vast and diverse range of experiences and therefore, would be able to provide constructive opinion,
independent judgement and to act in the best interest of the Company and shareholders;

• They have devoted sufficient time and attention to their professional obligations for informed and balanced decision-
making;

• They have shown great integrity and independence, and had not entered into any related party transactions with the
Group; and

• They have continued to exercise their due care during their tenure as Independent Non-Executive Directors of the
Company and carried out their professional duties in the interest of the Company and shareholders. 

Board Diversity

With regard to boardroom diversity, the Board is supportive of the diversity in gender, ethnicity and age. The Board will
endeavour to improve diversity in the Board by widening the scope of director sourcing and actively looking for directors
to add relevant expertise to the Board. 

As at the date of the Statement, two (2) out of six (6) of the Directors are female Directors. 
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NC

The NC established by the Board consists of the following members:

Chairman    :     Mr. Gary Ho Kuat Foong
Members     :     Dr. Lam Lee G
                       Dato’ Sri Mohd Mokhtar Bin Mohd Shariff 

The NC comprises three (3) members who are all Independent Non-Executive Directors. The role of the NC is to assist the
Board to evaluate candidates for nomination to the Board and to assess the effectiveness of the Board and each individual
Director on an on-going basis in terms of contribution, skills, experience and other qualities. The objective is to improve the
Board’s effectiveness, identify gaps, maximise strengths and address weaknesses of the Board.

During the financial year ended 30 June 2021, the NC conducted three (3) meetings. At the said meetings, the NC:

• Reviewed and assessed the performance and effectiveness of the Board as a whole, Board Committees and the
performance of each Director for the financial period ended 30 June 2020.

• Reviewed the terms of office and performance of the ARMC and each of its members to determine such ARMC and
members have carried out their duties in accordance with their terms of reference.   

• Reviewed the independence of the Independent Non-Executive Directors.

• Reviewed and recommended the re-election of Directors at the Eighteenth AGM held on 4 November 2020.   

• Assessed the training needs of each Director.

• Reviewed the performance of C-suite officers for the calendar year 2020.

• Considered the continuance of office as an Independent Non-Executive Director for Mr. Gary Ho Kuat Foong who has
served as an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company for a cumulative term of more than nine (9) years.

(a) Appointment to the Board

The NC has been entrusted with the responsibility to identify, evaluate, select and recommend to the Board suitable
candidate with the required credentials to be appointed as a Director of the Company, either to fill casual vacancy or
as addition to meet the changing needs of the Group. That being said, the potential candidate may be proposed by
existing Directors, shareholders or their party referral. On the assessment and selection of Director candidate,
consideration would be taken on the need of the mix of skills, experiences, other qualities and diversity in gender,
ethnicity and age within the Board composition. Also, for appointment of Independent Non-Executive Director, the NC
would also assess whether the candidate meets the requirements for independence based on the criteria prescribed in
the MMLR of Bursa Securities.

(b) Re-election of Directors

In accordance with the Company’s Constitution (“Constitution”), at every AGM, one-third (1/3) of the Directors for the
time being or, if the number is not three (3) or a multiple of three (3), the number nearest to one-third (1/3) shall retire
from office such that each Director shall retire from office once in every three (3) years and all Directors who retire
from office shall be eligible for re-election. Proposals for re-election of Directors are recommended by the NC to the
Board prior to the shareholders’ approval at the AGM, based on the annual assessment conducted. 

Based on the recent annual assessment and evaluation, the NC is satisfied with the performance of the Directors who
are standing for re-election and has recommended to the Board their proposed re-election in accordance with the
Constitution. The Board supported the NC’s recommendations to re-elect the eligible Directors standing for re-election
at the forthcoming Nineteenth AGM.
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(c) Annual Assessment of the Board and Board Committees

The NC undertakes annual evaluation to review the performance of each individual Director and the effectiveness of
the Board and the Board Committees.

The assessment of the Board and Board Committees covers areas such as the Board structure/mix, operation, decision-
making and boardroom participation and activities, meeting administration and conducts, skills, knowledge, experience
and competencies and role and responsibilities. For the performance of the individual Directors, the assessment criteria
have included the areas of contribution and interaction with peer, quality of input of the Director, understanding of
role, etc.

During the annual assessment, the Directors are given a performance evaluation sheet for individual Director, Peer
Evaluation and Board Evaluation to complete. In addition, Directors who are members of the Board Committees are
given additional performance evaluation sheets for the respective Board Committees to complete. Sufficient time is
given to the Directors and/or members of the Board Committees to complete the forms and upon completion, the forms
are submitted to the Company Secretaries for compilation of rating and scores and summary of which would then be
presented to the NC for further review and assessment.

The Director who is subject to re-election and/or retention in office as Independent Non-Executive Director at the next
AGM is assessed by the NC (with the relevant NC member abstaining on his/her own re-election or retention) before
recommendation is made to the Board and shareholders for the re-election and/or retention in office as Independent
Non-Executive Director. Outcome of the assessment and recommendation would be reported to the Board for information
and decision on areas for improvement. 

3. FOSTER COMMITMENT

Time Commitment

The Board requires its members to devote sufficient time to the workings of the Board, to effectively discharge their duties as
Directors of the Company, and to use their best endeavours to attend meetings. 

Board Meetings

The dates of the meetings of the Board, Board Committees and AGM for each financial year are fixed in advance for the
whole year to ensure all Directors/Board Committees members’ dates are booked and also to facilitate management’s
planning for the whole financial year.

The Board meetings are scheduled to be held regularly with sufficient notice being issued for meetings conducted in
accordance with a structured agenda. The Board is supplied with information in a timely manner and appropriate quality
to enable them to discharge their duties. The Board has a formal schedule of matters specifically reserved for the Board’s
discussion and/or approval and has received notice and meeting materials in advance of the meeting. All issues and
decisions made during the Board meetings are properly recorded and thereafter, circulated to the Chairman for comments
before minutes of proceedings are finalised and tabled to the Board for confirmation. The Company Secretaries organise
and attend all Board meetings to ensure proper recording of the proceedings. Ad-hoc meetings may be called as and when
significant issues arise which requires the Board’s decisions.

During the financial year ended 30 June 2021, five (5) meetings were held in which the Board deliberated upon and
considered various issues including the Group’s financial results, corporate exercises, business plans and annual budgets,
performance of the Group’s business operations, material agreements, major capital expenditures, expansion plans and
strategic issues affecting the Group’s business operations.
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Attendance of the Directors at the Board meetings held during the financial year ended 30 June 2021 was as follows:

Director                                                                                                                                    Attendance

Professor Emeritus Dato’ Dr. Khalid Bin Abdul Kadir                                                                                 3/3#

(Resigned on 31 December 2020)
Dato’ Sri Mohd Mokhtar Bin Mohd Shariff                                                                                              5/5
Wan Nadiah Binti Wan Mohd Abdullah Yaakob                                                                                     5/5
Kan Kheong Ng                                                                                                                                   5/5
Gary Ho Kuat Foong                                                                                                                            5/5
Claire Lee Suk Leng                                                                                                                              5/5
Dr. Lam Lee G                                                                                                                                     5/5
Wilson Sam (Alternate Director to Kan Kheong Ng)                                                                                 5/5

# Reflects the number of Board meetings attended during the financial year up to the date of resignation.

Directors’ Training 

The Directors keep themselves abreast with the latest industry developments as well as new statutory and regulatory
requirements by attending various training programmes, seminars and/or conferences to enable them to discharge their
duties effectively.

The training needs of Directors would be assessed and proposed by the individual Directors. Each Director determines the
areas of training that he or she may require for personal development as a Director or as a member of a Board Committee.
During the financial year under review, the Directors have attended the following training programmes, seminars and/or
conferences:

Director                                                               Name of Seminars/Training programmes attended

Dato’ Sri Mohd Mokhtar Bin Mohd Shariff                 How to be an Effective NED in a Disruptive World 
                                                                            Audit Committee Conference 2021

Wan Nadiah Binti Wan Mohd Abdullah Yaakob        New Corporate Liability - Malaysian Anti-Corruption Commission     
                                                                            (Amendment) Act 2018 
                                                                            YGL Summit Action Lab: Social & Economic Justice
                                                                            Malaysia Urban Forum - Youth Vital in Implementing the SGDs
                                                                            TM ONE LEAP VIRTUAL SUMMIT 2020: Jumpstart The Economy,  
                                                                            Galvanise Partnerships
                                                                            HMA Virtual Conference
                                                                            Audit Committee Conference 2021
                                                                            Mastering Effective Communications for Achieving Better Results
                                                                            MIA Virtual Conference Series: Risk Management Conference 2021
                                                                            Digital Framework for Malaysia Healthcare Travel: Invitation for     
                                                                            Strategy Workshop
                                                                            The Sustainability Accelerator Programme

Kan Kheong Ng                                                      Virtual Talk : Risk, Strategy and Governance - How Integrated Thinking
                                                                            Can Support Boards in Creating Long-Term Value
                                                                            Understanding Electronic Signatures in Singapore

Gary Ho Kuat Foong                                               Audit Committee Conference 2021
                                                                            SGX Regulatory Symposium 2021

Claire Lee Suk Leng                                                 Board Committees Overview 
                                                                            FCD Module B: Stakeholder Primacy in a Post-COVID-19 Era 

Wilson Sam                                                           FCD Module E: Preparing the Board for Digital Disruption 
                                                                            LED 5 - Audit Committee Essentials 

82 TMC LIFE SCIENCES BERHAD 200301021989 (624409-A)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW STATEMENT



Director                                                               Name of Seminars/Training programmes attended

Dr. Lam Lee G                                                         Managing Risk in a remote Working Environment
                                                                            The Practical Issues and Regulations in Digital Asset Industry
                                                                            Dealing with Vexatious Litigants in Civil and Administrative 
                                                                            Proceedings
                                                                            New Guidelines on Conduct of Directors of Listed Issuers and their 
                                                                            Subsidiaries (Guidelines) to strengthen board governance and 
                                                                            oversight in listed issuers and their subsidiaries
                                                                            Anti-Bribery and Corruption Refresher Training
                                                                            Macquarie IBOR Transition: Understanding your role in Wave Two 
                                                                            client communications
                                                                            Basic Accounting for Lawyers
                                                                            Private Label Funds
                                                                            RME Course: Conflicts of Interests & Confidentiality
                                                                            Global Supplier Governance Training
                                                                            Asia MAM Financial Crime Risk training
                                                                            Data Management 2020 Compliance Training
                                                                            Virtual Bank Directors' Training by Simmons & Simmons
                                                                            Global Appropriate Workplace Behaviour
                                                                            The Sustainability Accounting Standards Board (SASB), supported by 
                                                                            Singapore Exchange Regulation (SGX RegCo) and Temasek
                                                                            Human Right Training
                                                                            Fraud Awareness Training
                                                                            Family Law: Practical Tips and Updates Isabel Tam, Barrister-at-law, 
                                                                            Denis Chang's Chambers
                                                                            Disclosure of Interests - Practical Issues

4. REMUNERATION

RC

The RC established by the Board consists of the following members:

Chairman    :     Dato’ Sri Mohd Mokhtar Bin Mohd Shariff 
Members     :     Mr. Gary Ho Kuat Foong
                       Dr. Lam Lee G

The RC comprises three (3) members who are Independent Non-Executive Directors. The role of the RC is to recommend to
the Board, the remuneration packages of Executive Directors and senior management personnel of the Group, in addition
to any increment/incentive to be awarded.

During the financial year ended 30 June 2021, the RC conducted two (2) meetings. At the said meetings, the RC:

(a) Discussed and recommended to the Board for approval, bonus and salary increment/adjustment for senior management
and employees upon assessing the performance of the Company and employees.

(b) Discussed and recommended to the Board for approval, the payment of Directors’ fees and meeting allowance for the
financial year ending 30 June 2022. 

(c) Discussed and recommended to the Board for approval, the Employees’ Share Option Scheme allocation for director.

(d) Reviewed and recommended to the Board for approval, for the proposed new allocation of Employees’ Share Option
Scheme for eligible senior/top management and nominated employees.
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Remuneration of Directors 

The RC is responsible for reviewing and recommending to the Board, the remuneration package for the Executive Directors.
It is the ultimate responsibility of the Board to approve the remuneration package of the Executive Directors. 

The remuneration of Non-Executive Directors, which comprises Directors’ fees, meeting allowance and other benefits, if any,
are determined and recommended by the Board and subject to the approval of the shareholders at the AGM.

The Directors’ remuneration paid or payable to all the Directors of the Company for the financial year ended 30 June 2021
were as follows:

i) Received from TMCLS
                                                                                   Salaries              Fees               Other             Total
                                                                             and bonus                        Remuneration                      
                                                                                      (RM)              (RM)                (RM)               (RM)

Non-Executive Directors                                                                                                                           

Professor Emeritus Dato’ Dr. Khalid Bin Abdul Kadir*                     -           49,500               1,800           51,300
Gary Ho Kuat Foong                                                                  -           52,800               7,500           60,300
Claire Lee Suk Leng                                                                    -           52,800               2,500           55,300
Dr. Lam Lee G                                                                           -           66,000               7,750           73,750
Dato’ Sri Mohd Mokhtar Bin Mohd Shariff                                   -           75,900               7,700           83,600

Total (RM)                                                                               -         297,000             27,250         324,250

* Resigned on 31 December 2020.

ii) Received on Group Basis
                                                                                   Salaries              Fees               Other             Total
                                                                             and bonus                        Remuneration                      
                                                                                      (RM)              (RM)                (RM)               (RM)

Executive Directors                                                                                                                                   

Wan Nadiah Binti Wan Mohd Abdullah Yaakob               739,949                     -           156,003         895,952
Kan Kheong Ng                                                            368,319                     -             14,739         383,058

                                                                               1,108,268                     -           170,742      1,279,010

Non-Executive Directors
                                                                                                                                                                   
Professor Emeritus Dato’ Dr. Khalid Bin Abdul Kadir*                     -           49,500               1,800           51,300
Gary Ho Kuat Foong                                                                  -           52,800               7,500           60,300
Claire Lee Suk Leng                                                                    -           52,800               2,500           55,300
Dr. Lam Lee G                                                                           -           66,000               7,750           73,750
Dato’ Sri Mohd Mokhtar Bin Mohd Shariff                                   -           75,900               7,700           83,600

                                                                                               -         297,000             27,250         324,250

Total (RM)                                                                1,108,268         297,000           197,992      1,603,260

* Resigned on 31 December 2020.

Remuneration of Top Five (5) Senior Management Staff

The remuneration of the Executive Directors have been disclosed in Directors remuneration table above and is accordingly
not included in the Top Five (5) Senior Management remuneration for the financial year ended 30 June 2021 below:

                                                                             Number of        Salaries               Other                     
                                                                               Executives     and bonus    remuneration              Total

RM500,000 and above                                                            1               89%                  11%             100%
RM250,000 and below RM500,000                                          1               89%                  11%             100%
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PRINCIPLE B: EFFECTIVE AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT

5. ARMC

Composition and Activities of ARMC

The ARMC comprises three (3) members who are Independent Non-Executive Directors and ARMC’s responsibilities include
reviewing management and financial statements, related party transactions, internal control and risk management processes.

All members of the ARMC have also undertaken and will continue to undertake continuous professional development to
keep themselves abreast of relevant developments in accounting and auditing standards, practices and rules as and when
required.

The Chairman of the ARMC is Dr. Lam Lee G, whilst the Chairman of the Board is Dato’ Sri Mohd Mokhtar Bin Mohd Shariff.

The summary of activities of the ARMC are set out separately in the ARMC Report on pages 87 to 89 of this Annual Report.

Financial Reporting

The Board is responsible for the quality and completeness of publicly disclosed financial reports. The Board with the assistance
of the ARMC has to ensure that the financial statements are drawn up in accordance with the Malaysian Financial Reporting
Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the CA 2016 in Malaysia and that
appropriate accounting policies have been used, consistently applied and supported by reasonable judgements and
estimates, and the financial reports present a balanced, clear and comprehensive assessment of the Group’s financial
performance.

Cooling Period of a Former Key Audit Partner

In line with the recommendation of the MCCG, the terms of reference of the ARMC have been revised in December 2018
to include the cooling-off period of at least two (2) years to be observed before the appointment of a former key audit
partner as a member of the ARMC. 

None of the members of the Board were former key audit partner and the Board has no intention to appoint any former key
audit partner as a member of the Board.

Assessment of Sustainability and Independence of External Auditors

The ARMC applies the best practice of ensuring a full assessment to ensure the suitability, objectivity and independence of
the external auditors.

Based on the annual assessment conducted for the financial year ended 30 June 2021, the ARMC was satisfied with the
performance and independence of the external auditors as well as the fulfilment of criteria based on several factors, including
independence of the external auditors, quality of audit review procedures and adequacy of the firm’s expertise and its
resources to carry out the audit work that they were tasked with.

Messrs. Ernst & Young PLT have also confirmed to the ARMC that they had been independent throughout the audit
engagement in respect of the financial year under review.

6. RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL FRAMEWORK

Sound Framework to Manage Risks

The Board acknowledges its overall responsibility for maintaining an internal control system that provides reasonable
assurance of effective and efficient operations, compliance with laws and regulations as well as internal procedures and
guidelines. The system, by its nature, can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against risk of material errors,
fraud or loss.

The Statement of Risk Management and Internal Control which provides an overview of the state of internal controls within
the Company and the Group is set out on pages 90 to 93 of this Annual Report.  
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Internal Audit Function

The Company’s internal audit function is outsourced to a professional service firm and the internal auditors are free from
relationships or conflicts of interest, which could impair their objectivity and independence, and the internal audit function
is carried out in accordance with recognised framework.

Information on the Group’s internal audit function which reports directly to the ARMC is presented in the ARMC Report in
this Annual Report.

PRINCIPLE C: INTEGRITY IN CORPORATE REPORTING AND MEANINGFUL RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

7. COMMUNICATION WITH STAKEHOLDERS

Shareholders’ Communication and Investor Relations

The Board acknowledges the need for the Company’s shareholders and investors to be informed of all material business
and corporate developments concerning the Group in a timely manner. 

Shareholders and investors are kept informed of financial performance, major corporate proposals and pertinent issues of
the Group via announcements made through Bursa Securities.

The Company maintains a website at www.tmclife.com to facilitate access to pertinent information concerning the Group
and its operations, by the shareholders, consumers and general public. Announcements, news and all relevant updates are
posted on the Company’s website at www.tmclife.com regularly.

Corporate Disclosure Policy and Procedures

The Board places importance in ensuring disclosures made to shareholders and investors are accurate, clear, timely and
comprehensive as they are critical towards building and maintaining corporate credibility and investor confidence. As such,
the Board has adopted a Corporate Disclosure Policy and Procedures in July 2013 setting out the policies and procedures
for disclosure of material information of the Group. The said Policy and Procedures applies to all Directors, management,
officers and employees of the Group.

8. CONDUCT OF GENERAL MEETINGS

Shareholders’ Participation at General Meetings

The AGM is the principal forum for dialogue and interaction with the shareholders and the shareholders are encouraged to
raise any questions relating to the proposed resolutions as well as the Group’s business operations and affairs. The Notice
of the AGM together with the Form of Proxy are given to shareholders at least twenty-eight (28) days before the AGM,
which gives shareholders sufficient time to prepare themselves to attend the AGM or to appoint a proxy to attend and vote
on their behalf. Each item of special business included in the Notice of the AGM is accompanied by an explanatory statement
for the proposed resolution to facilitate the full understanding and evaluation of issues involved.

The Chairman and the Board will respond to shareholders’ questions during the meeting. The external auditors are also
present to provide their professional and independent clarification, if required, on issues highlighted by the shareholders.

Corporate and financial information of the Group are also made available to the public through the Company’s website at
www.tmclife.com.

COMPLIANCE WITH MCCG

The Board is satisfied that during the financial year under review, the Company has complied with the Best Practices in MCCG
on the application of the principles and best practices in corporate governance, except for those highlighted in the CG Report.

The Statement is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board dated 1 October 2021.

86 TMC LIFE SCIENCES BERHAD 200301021989 (624409-A)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW STATEMENT



During the financial year under review, the Audit and Risk Management Committee (“ARMC”) of TMC Life Sciences Berhad
carried out its duties and responsibilities in accordance with its terms of reference and held discussions with the Internal Auditors,
External Auditors, outsourced risk management consultant and relevant members of management. The ARMC is of the view that
no material misstatements or losses, contingencies or uncertainties have arisen, based on the reviews made and discussions held.

MEMBERS AND ATTENDANCE

The ARMC comprises the following members and the details of attendance of each member at the five (5) meetings held during
the financial year ended 30 June 2021 were as follows:

Director                                                      Designation                                                        Attendance

Dr. Lam Lee G                                                Independent Non-Executive Director                                5/5
(Chairman) 
                                                                   
Gary Ho Kuat Foong                                      Independent Non-Executive Director                                5/5
(Member)
                                                                   
Dato’ Sri Mohd Mokhtar Bin                            Independent Non-Executive Chairman                             5/5
Mohd Shariff                                                

(Member)
                                                                   
Mr. Gary Ho Kuat Foong fulfilled the requirement of Paragraph 15.09(1)(c) of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad 
(“Bursa Securities”) Main Market Listing Requirements (“MMLR”).

TERMS OF REFERENCE

Primary Purposes

The ARMC had discharged its function and carried out its duties as set out in the terms of reference (“TOR”) of the ARMC.

The TOR of the ARMC is available for reference on the Company’s website at www.tmclife.com. 

SUMMARY OF THE ACTIVITIES OF ARMC

The main activities carried out by the ARMC during the financial year ended 30 June 2021 were as follows:

Financial reporting and re-appointment of External Auditors

(i) Reviewed the quarterly financial results of the Group including the draft announcements pertaining thereto, and made
recommendations to the Board of Directors (“Board”) for approval. The reviews served to ensure that the Group’s financial
reporting and disclosures are in compliance with Bursa Securities MMLR and applicable accounting standards in Malaysia; 

(ii) Reviewed and made recommendation to the Board in respect of the annual audited financial statements of the Company
and the Group for the financial period ended 30 June 2020;

(iii) Reviewed and approved the proposed bad debts written off at Thomson Hospitals Sdn. Bhd.; and

(iv) Reviewed and made recommendation to the Board in respect of the proposed dividend after reviewing and considering
solvency test presented.
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External audit

(i) Reviewed with the External Auditors, the results of their audit for the ten (10) months financial period ended 30 June 2020
and their audit report;

(ii) Reviewed and recommended to the Board for approval, the fees for the audit and non-audit services for the financial year
ended 30 June 2021;

(iii) Reviewed and recommended to the Board for approval and recommendation on the re-appointment of External Auditors,
Messrs Ernst & Young PLT for the financial year ended 30 June 2021; 

(iv) Reviewed with the External Auditors, the Audit Plan for the financial year ended 30 June 2021 on both the audit strategy
and audit approach, the adequacy of existing external audit arrangements, with emphasis on the scope and quality of the
audit and proposed fees for the statutory audit; and

(v) The ARMC also had private discussion with the External Auditors during the financial year ended 30 June 2021 without the
presence of management and Executive Directors to review the issues relating to Investment Tax Allowance.

Internal audit

(i) Reviewed with the Internal Auditors, the Internal Audit Plan to ensure the adequacy of the scope and coverage of work; 

(ii) Reviewed the effectiveness of the audit process and the performance of the overall Internal Audit function; and

(iii) Considered the change of Internal Auditors and meeting with all potential service providers.

Enterprise risk management

(i) Reviewed the updates and reports from the outsourced risk management consultant on the implementation of the Enterprise
Risk Management Framework and the development of Enterprise Risk Scorecard, assessed the adequacy and effectiveness
of the risk management framework which includes corruption risk assessment and the appropriateness of management’s
responses to key risk areas.

Related party transactions

(i) Reviewed the related party transactions and ensured that they were not more favourable to the related parties than those
generally available to the public and complied with Bursa Securities MMLR;

(ii) Monitored the thresholds of the related party transactions to ensure compliance with Bursa Securities MMLR; and

(iii) Reviewed the related party transactions transacted during the financial period ended 30 June 2020 and made statement of
its view whether the transactions are in the best interest of the Company, fair, reasonable and on commercial terms and not
detrimental to the interests of the non-interested shareholders of the Company.

Other activities

(i) Reviewed Section 17A of the Malaysian Anti-Corruption Commission (Amendment) Act 2018 (“MACC Act”) compliance
report and quarterly MACC Act compliance report;

(ii) Reviewed the publication of key observations on the effectiveness of Internal Audit function of listed issuers by Bursa Securities;

(iii) Reviewed and recommended to the Board for approval, the ARMC Report, Statement on Risk Management and Internal
Control for inclusion in the 2020 Annual Report;

(iv) Reviewed, approved and/or recommended to the Board for approval, new policies or amendments to the existing policies
of the Company within the purview of the ARMC to ensure that the polices adopted are aligned with the developments of
the rules, regulations, guidelines, best practices issued and recommended by the relevant regulatory authorities; and

(v) Completed the annual evaluation forms for ARMC Members’ Peer Performance Evaluation Form and assessed the suitability
and independence of the External Auditors and performance of the Internal Auditors.
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INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION

The Group‘s Internal Audit function is outsourced to a professional services firm, which was tasked with the aim of assisting the
ARMC to discharge its duties and responsibilities. The main role of the Internal Auditors is to provide the ARMC with independent
and objective reports on the effectiveness of the system of internal controls within the Group. The ARMC discusses the internal
audit reports with the Internal Auditors to ensure that the recommendations from the reports are duly acted upon by management.
Two (2) internal audit reviews were carried out during the financial year ended 30 June 2021. The reviews were on the areas of:

a) business processes review of TMC Fertility Kota Damansara, Kepong and Puchong (where the report will be presented to
the ARMC after the financial year ended 30 June 2021); and

b) procurement and inventory management of Thomson Hospitals Sdn. Bhd.

The cost incurred in relation to the internal audit function during the financial year ended 30 June 2021 was RM50,000.

The Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control can be found on pages 90 to 93 of this Annual Report, and this provides
an overview of the risk management and internal controls system within the Group.

AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE REPORT
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Introduction

The Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance requires the Board of Directors of public listed companies to establish a sound
risk management framework and system of internal control to safeguard shareholders’ investments and the Group’s assets.

Pursuant to paragraph 15.26 (b) of the Main Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Listing
Requirements”) which requires the Board of Directors of public listed companies to include in the Annual Report a “statement
about the state of internal control of the listed issuer as a group”, the Board of Directors of TMC Life Sciences Berhad is pleased
to provide the following Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control in accordance with the Statement on Risk
Management and Internal Control: Guidelines for Directors of Listed Issuers and Practice Note 9 of the Listing Requirements.

Board Responsibility

The Board of Directors of TMC Life Sciences Berhad acknowledges the importance of maintaining a sound system of risk
management and internal control to safeguard the shareholders’ investments and the Group’s assets. The Board is assisted by the
Risk Management Committee and management to implement the policies and procedures on risk and control.  These include
identifying the risks and assessing the potential impacts of the risks, and to have the necessary internal control to mitigate the
risks.  The profiles of the risks are reviewed by the Board on annual basis.  

The Board also acknowledges that whilst the Group’s system of risk management and internal control is designed to identify,
manage and attempt to lower the risk threatening the achievement of business objectives, some risks may not be totally eliminated.
As such, the system of risk management and internal control can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against
material misstatement of financial and management information and records, and/or against any financial losses or fraud.

The Group’s Risk Management and Internal Control System

Risk Management Framework

The Group recognises that risk is an integral and unavoidable component of its business and is characterised by threats and
opportunities. The Group works on fostering a risk-aware corporate culture and is committed to managing the risks in a proactive
and effective manner to enhance opportunity, reduce threats and sustain its competitive advantage. 

The Board has taken necessary measures to ensure that risk management is embedded in the Group’s management system with
the assistance of the Management, Audit and Risk Management Committee (“ARMC”) and the outsourced Internal Auditors. In
addition, the Group has established a Group-wide Strategic Enterprise Risk Management (“ERM”) Framework leveraging on the
best practices of existing frameworks within the Group and has been updating the risk profiles annually.

The Group recognises the importance of quality and caliber of its employees and a variety of training and development
opportunities are actively explored. Relevant training and continuing development programmes are provided for staff to improve
their various areas of knowledge, technical skills and personal development. These have directly and indirectly enhanced their
level of risk awareness in their operating environment. With this understanding, risks can be identified or detected, and
preventive/corrective measures can be applied to mitigate any losses that may occur.

The Group’s risk management framework is consistent with the ISO 31000 Risk Management Principles and Guidelines, which
is designed to establish the context for an embedded ERM into key departments and business processes of the Group.

The key elements of the Group’s Internal Control System 

The Group’s internal control system consists of the policies, processes, activities and control environment that facilitates an effective
and efficient operation by enabling it to respond appropriately to significant business, operational, financial, compliance and
other risks in order to achieve the Group’s strategy and objectives.
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The key elements of the Group’s internal control system, that are regularly reviewed by the Board, are as follows:

i. the Group has in place an established organisational structure with clearly defined lines of key responsibilities and
appropriate levels of delegation and authority.

ii. the Group has in place internal procedures covering significant areas of operations, such as purchasing of assets required
for the operations of the Group, recruitment and selection of employees, training and development of employees and has a
clear definition of authorisation procedures for purchasing, payment and capital expenditure. A Group Tender Committee
has been established to evaluate major expenditures before being formally approved by the appropriate authority levels.

iii. regular Executive Committee (Exco) meetings are held to review and monitor the business developments, to discuss and
resolve operational and management issues and to review the financial performance of the Group against the budget and
business plans, including the impact of COVID-19 on the cash flow position of the Group.

iv. the ARMC reviews the quarterly financial reports, annual financial statements and reports to the Board on its review and
findings thereon to ensure effectiveness of the internal financial control environment of the Group.

v. the corporate head office coordinates the budgetary process for the Group wherein the budgets are discussed and prepared
at the operating unit level, reviewed and recommended by executive committee and finally approved by the Board of
Directors.

vi. significant corporate matters and its status discussed at the executive committee meetings are brought to the Board meetings
for further deliberation and review by the Board members.

vii. the Board, the ARMC and Management monitor the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control
system.

viii. Internal Quality Audits are conducted and a group-wide incident reporting system in place to assess and monitor clinical
risks. These risks are discussed and addressed through the organisation’s clinical governance structure including the Medical
and Dental Advisory Committee and the Board of Management.

Management of Risks

The Group is principally involved in providing healthcare services. The Group undertakes a periodic exercise to identify key
external and operational risks faced by all business and functional units. Key risk exposures faced by the Group during the
financial year have been identified by all business and functional unit heads and with the appropriate risk mitigation plans being
developed accordingly.

The key external risks of the Group include escalating costs resulting in lower operational profits due to inflation, foreign exchange
fluctuation impact on the purchase of medical equipment, increasing competition from existing established medical and specialist
centres, cyber risks from hacker attack and data breaches. The Group manages the risk through implementing cost control
awareness and initiatives, monitoring the market and pricing trends and periodic review of costing and pricing strategy to stay
competitive in the market. As for increasing competition from existing established medical and specialist centres, the Group is
actively monitoring market development, trends and pricing of competitors. The Group manages cyber risk by enhancing the
Group IT policies with continuous education of measures and ways to prevent hacker attack to minimise the possibilities of data
breach and network downtime, by strengthening the Group IT infrastructure and IT security measures. The Group conducted
annual IT penetration and Vulnerability Assessment on the IT infrastructure and continue to improve on areas of high vulnerability
of cyber attack identified.
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STATEMENT ON RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The key operational risks of the Group include corruption risk, financial reporting risk and spread of infectious diseases in the
hospital. 

(i) The Group manages corruption risk following the implementation of Section 17A of the Malaysian Anti-Corruption
Commission (Amendment) Act 2018 on 1 June 2020, by revising Whistleblowing Policy and Code of Conduct which
includes revised Anti-corruption and Bribery policy, gift and entertainment policy and conflict of interest policy. Continuous
training and communication on group wide basis will be conducted to promote awareness of the revised Code of Conduct
and Whistleblowing Policy. Quarterly report of the extent of compliance was reported to ARMC for review and monitoring. 

(ii) Financial reporting risk has been managed by requiring continuous professional education for the financial reporting team,
external financial reporting training attended by Directors and arrangement to announce year end result as audited. 

(iii) The Group manages spread of infectious diseases in the hospital by setting up COVID-19 task force to make decision relating
to prevention and control of COVID-19 in the hospital. A COVID-19 task force develops SOPs and workflow based on
Ministry of Health or international guidelines to manage infection control and risk in patient care.  Disaster drills and training
sessions are conducted to ensure staff and doctors are aware of the procedures relating to COVID-19. Sufficient Personal
Protection Equipment (“PPE”) is stockpiled and donning of appropriate PPE is required whenever performing any procedures
or attending to any patients. Social distancing measures are taken in the hospital premises to reduce crowding and regular
sanitization and disinfection is done in all areas of the hospital. Specific facilities such as inpatient wards, operating theatres
and labour rooms are isolated and prepared to attend to patients who may be suspected of COVID-19 or any other infectious
disease to reduce exposure to other patients and staff. All staffs have been vaccinated to reduce risk of COVID-19 infection.
Patients, visitors or staff who fail screening or fulfil criteria for high risk of COVID-19 are referred to the Communicable
Disease Screening Centre at Emergency. Implement drive thru screening, vaccination and pharmacy, teleconsultation to
reduce exposure to patients and maintain social distancing. Quality and Nursing departments conduct regular audits to
comply with new COVID-19 infection control procedures.

The execution of risk mitigation plans is being monitored and managed by the respective business and functional unit owners.
Significant deviation from the risk mitigation plan will be reported to the Exco accordingly.

Assurance Mechanisms

The ARMC is tasked by the Board to carry out the duty to review and monitor the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control
system. To discharge its responsibilities, the ARMC relies significantly on the support of independent internal auditors to review
the effectiveness of risk identification procedures and control processes implemented by management, and to report directly to
the ARMC during the quarterly ARMC meetings. The independent internal auditors provide assurance over the operation and
validity of the internal control system in relation to the level of risk involved.

During the financial year ended 30 June 2021, major internal audit activities were as follows:

a) Discussed with senior management to develop risk-based internal audit plan;
b) Performed business processes review of TMC Fertility and Women’s Specialist Centre, Kepong and Puchong; and

procurement, inventory management, outpatient clinics and operating theatre of Thomson Hospitals Sdn. Bhd.

Based on these audits, the internal auditors provide the ARMC with report highlighting observations, their opinion on the areas
audited by them over the adequacy and effective of the internal control process and procedures, management action plans to
improve the internal control system within the Group, as well as the status of implementation of action plan on previous audit. 

In addition, the ARMC also reviews and deliberates on any significant matters relating to internal control highlighted by the
External Auditors in the course of their statutory audit of the financial statements of the Group.

The Board’s Commitment

As the Group operates in a dynamic business environment, a sound risk management and internal control system must be in
place in order to be able to support its business objectives. Therefore, the Board remains committed towards maintaining a sound
system of risk management and internal control and believes that a balanced achievement of its business objectives and
operational efficiency can be attained. During the financial year ended 30 June 2021, all members of ARMC have attended
corporate governance, risk management and internal controls related training as disclosed in Corporate Governance Overview
Statement.
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The Board’s Conclusion

The Board has received assurance from the Group Chief Executive Officer and the Group Chief Financial Officer that based on
the risk management and internal control of the Group as well as inquiry and information provided, the Group’s risk management
and internal control system is operating adequately and effectively in all material aspects.

The Board is of the view that the risk management and internal control system in place for the financial year under review and
up to the date of issuance of the financial statements, is adequate and effective to safeguard the shareholders’ investments and
the Group’s assets.

Moving forward, the Group will continue to improve and enhance the existing systems of risk management and internal controls,
taking into consideration the changing business environment.

Review of Statement by External Auditors

As required by paragraph 15.23 of the Listing Requirements, the external auditors have reviewed this Statement on Risk
Management and Internal Control. As set out in their terms of engagement, the said review procedures were performed in
accordance with the Audit and Assurance Practice Guide 3: Guidance for Auditors On Engagements To Report On The Statement
On Risk Management and Internal Control Included in the Annual Report (“AAPG 3”) issued by the Malaysian Institute of
Accountants. 

AAPG 3 does not require the external auditors to consider whether this Statement covers all risks and controls, or to form an
opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control system.  AAPG 3 also does not
require the external auditors to consider whether the processes described to deal with material internal control aspects of any
significant problems disclosed in this Annual Report will, in fact, remedy the problems. 

Based on their procedures performed, the external auditors have reported to the Board that nothing has come to their attention
that causes them to believe that this Statement is not prepared in all material respects, in accordance with the disclosures required
by paragraphs 41 and 42 of the Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control: Guidelines for Directors of Listed Issuers,
nor is factually inaccurate.

STATEMENT ON RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 93



(a) Audit and Non-Audit Fees

The audit fees and non-audit fees incurred for services rendered by the External Auditors for the financial year ended 
30 June 2021 were set out below:

                                                                                                             COMPANY (RM)        GROUP (RM)

Audit Fees                                                                                                              47,000                179,700
Non-Audit Fees                                                                                                         5,300                    5,300

Total                                                                                                                       52,300                185,000

(b) Material Contracts

During the financial year ended 30 June 2021, there were no material contracts entered into by the Company and its
subsidiaries involving Directors’, chief executive’s and/or major shareholders’ interests. 

(c) Utilisation of Proceeds

The Company did not raise funds through any corporate proposal during the financial year under review.

(d) Employees’ Share Option Scheme (“ESOS”)

In the previous financial period, the Company resolved to extend the duration of the exercisable of unexercised ESOS,
expiring on 28 May 2020 for another five (5) years to 28 May 2025 in accordance with the provisions of the ESOS 
By-Laws.

During the financial year, the Company granted 10,000,000 share options to eligible persons. These options expire on 
28 May 2025 and are exercisable over the vesting period of 4.53 years.

The number of ESOS options of the Company during the financial year were as follows:

                                                               [--Number of ESOS options over ordinary shares--]
                                                                                      Movement during the
                                        Balance as at               [-----------------financial year-----------------]           Balance as at 
                                                 1.7.2020           Granted          Exercised            Lapsed            30.6.2021

Directors                                11,500,000        6,000,000                        -      (3,500,000)         14,000,000
Senior Management                  1,000,000           200,000                        -                      -            1,200,000
Employees                                5,615,500        3,800,000                         -         (534,500)           8,881,000

                                             18,115,500      10,000,000                        -      (4,034,500)         24,081,000

ESOS options granted to Directors and Senior Management

                                                                                            During the financial     Since commencement
                                                                                                         year ended                    of the ESOS
                                                                                                      30 June 2021             on 28 May 2015

Aggregate maximum allocation in percentage                                                       50%                                 50%
Actual percentage granted                                                                                    5%                                 12%

The breakdown of ESOS options offered to Non-Executive Directors pursuant to ESOS is detailed on page 168 of the Annual
Report and none of the Directors had exercised the ESOS options during the financial year ended 30 June 2021.

OTHER CORPORATE
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The Directors have pleasure in presenting their report together with the audited financial statements of the Group and of the
Company for the financial year ended 30 June 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.

The principal activities of the subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 16 to the financial statements.

HOLDING COMPANIES

The immediate, penultimate and ultimate holding companies are Sasteria (M) Pte. Ltd., Sasteria Pte. Ltd. and Thomson Medical
Group Limited respectively, all of which are incorporated in The Republic of Singapore. The ultimate holding company is listed
on the Main Board of Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited.

RESULTS

                                                                                                                                           Group      Company
                                                                                                                                      RM'000          RM'000

Profit for the financial year, attributable to owners of the parent                                                 20,254           19,085 

There were no material transfers to or from reserves or provisions during the financial year other than as disclosed in the financial
statements.

In the opinion of the Directors, the results of the operations of the Group and of the Company during the financial year were not
substantially affected by any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature.

DIVIDEND

Dividend paid by the Company since 30 June 2020 was as follows:

                                                                                                                                                               RM'000

In respect of the financial period ended 30 June 2020 as reported in the Directors' report of that period:

First and final single-tier dividend of 0.1678 sen per ordinary share paid on 4 January 2021                              2,923  

A first and final single-tier dividend in respect of the financial year ended 30 June 2021, of 0.2215 sen per ordinary share had
been declared on 24 August 2021. The financial statements for the current financial year do not reflect this proposed dividend.
Such dividend will be accounted for in equity as an appropriation of retained profits in the following financial year end.
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DIRECTORS

The names of the Directors of the Company in office since the beginning of the financial year to the date of this report are:

Dato' Sri Mohd Mokhtar Bin Mohd Shariff 
Kan Kheong Ng*
Wan Nadiah Binti Wan Mohd Abdullah Yaakob*
Dr. Lam Lee G
Gary Ho Kuat Foong 
Claire Lee Suk Leng
Wilson Sam (alternate Director to Kan Kheong Ng)
Professor Emeritus Dato’ Dr. Khalid Bin Abdul Kadir*                                                 (Resigned on 31 December 2020)

* These Directors are also Directors of certain subsidiaries of the Company.

The names of the Directors of the Company's subsidiaries in office since the beginning of the financial year to the date of this
report, not including those Directors listed above are:

Wong Yu Chee
Dato' Dr. Mohd Hamzah Bin Kamarul Zaman                                                           (Appointed on 24 March 2021)
Navdeep Singh Pannu a/l Mohan Singh                                                                  (Appointed on 25 May 2021)

DIRECTORS' BENEFITS

Neither at the end of the financial year, nor at any time during that financial year, did there subsist any arrangement to which
the Company was a party, whereby the Directors might acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures
of the Company or any other body corporate, other than those arising from the share options granted under the Company's
Employees' Share Options Scheme ("ESOS").

Since the end of the previous financial period, no Director has received or become entitled to receive a benefit (other than benefits
included in the aggregate amount of emoluments received or due and receivable by the Directors or the fixed salary of a full-time
employee of the Company as shown below) by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related corporation with any
Director or with a firm of which the Director is a member, or with a company in which the Director has a substantial financial
interest.

The Directors' benefits are as follows:

                                                                                                                                           Group       Company
                                                                                                                                      RM'000          RM'000

Salaries, fees and bonuses                                                                                                       1,405                297
Estimated monetary value of benefits-in-kind                                                                                 319                108

                                                                                                                                           1,724                405  

The Company maintains a liability insurance for the Directors and Officers of the Group. The total amount of sum insured for
Directors and Officers of the Group for the financial year amounted to RM15,000,000. The amount of insurance premium effected
to indemnify Directors for the financial year was RM13,600.

DIRECTORS' REPORT



DIRECTORS' INTERESTS

According to the register of Directors' shareholdings, the interests of Directors in office at the end of the financial year in options
over ordinary shares in the Company during the financial year were as follows:

                                                                                            Number of options over ordinary shares
                                            Option price
                                                          RM         1.7.2020         Granted       Exercised           Lapsed       30.6.2021

Dato' Sri Mohd Mokhtar Bin 
Mohd Shariff                                      0.75                      -       2,000,000                      -                      -       2,000,000

Kan Kheong Ng                                   0.94       2,000,000                      -                      -                      -       2,000,000
Wan Nadiah Binti Wan Mohd 
Abdullah Yaakob                                0.94       2,000,000                      -                      -                      -       2,000,000

Wan Nadiah Binti Wan Mohd 
Abdullah Yaakob                                0.75                      -       2,000,000                      -                      -       2,000,000

Dr. Lam Lee G                                      0.75                      -       2,000,000                      -                      -       2,000,000
Gary Ho Kuat Foong                            0.75       2,000,000                      -                      -                      -       2,000,000
Claire Lee Suk Leng                              0.75       2,000,000                      -                      -                      -       2,000,000

None of the other Directors in office at the end of the financial year had any interest in shares in the Company or its related
corporations during the financial year.

ISSUES OF SHARES

The Company has not issued any new shares or debentures during the financial year.

EMPLOYEES' SHARE OPTIONS SCHEME ("ESOS")

The Company has an ESOS plan for the granting of non-transferable options that are to be settled by physical delivery of the
ordinary shares of the Company to eligible Directors and employees.

The salient features and other terms of the ESOS plan are disclosed in Note 26(b) to the financial statements. 

During the financial year:

- The Company granted 10,000,000 share options to eligible Directors and employees. These options expire on 28 May
2025 and are exercisable over the vesting period of 4.53 years.

The details of the options over the ordinary shares of the Company are as follows:

                                                                            Number of options over ordinary shares                 Exercisable
                                  Option price       1.7.2020       Granted     Exercised         Lapsed    30.6.2021    30.6.2021
                                                RM             ‘000             ‘000             ‘000             ‘000             ‘000             ‘000

Grant Date

11 June 2015                            0.75            7,500                    -                    -           (3,500)           4,000            4,000
28 August 2015                         0.75            5,066                    -                    -              (455)           4,611            4,611
25 January 2017                       0.94            3,550                    -                    -                (80)           3,470            3,470
19 December 2017                    0.94                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -
26 September 2018                   0.94            2,000                    -                    -                    -            2,000            2,000
17 November 2020                   0.75                    -         10,000                    -                    -          10,000         10,000

                                                                18,116         10,000                    -           (4,035)         24,081         24,081
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EMPLOYEES' SHARE OPTIONS SCHEME ("ESOS") (CONTD.)

Details of options granted to Directors are disclosed in the section on Directors’ interests in this report.

OTHER STATUTORY INFORMATION

(a) Before the statements of comprehensive income and statements of financial position of the Group and of the Company were
made out, the Directors took reasonable steps:

(i) to ascertain that proper action had been taken in relation to the writing off of bad debts and the making of allowance
for doubtful debts and satisfied themselves that all known bad debts had been written off and that adequate allowance
had been made for doubtful debts; and

(ii) to ensure that any current assets which were unlikely to realise their values as shown in the accounting records in the
ordinary course of business had been written down to an amount which they might be expected so to realise.

(b) At the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances which would render:

(i) the amount written off for bad debts or the amount of the allowance for doubtful debts in the financial statements of the
Group and of the Company inadequate to any substantial extent; and

(ii) the values attributed to the current assets in the financial statements of the Group and of the Company misleading.

(c) At the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances which have arisen which would render adherence
to the existing method of valuation of assets or liabilities of the Group and of the Company misleading or inappropriate.

(d) At the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances not otherwise dealt with in this report or financial
statements of the Group and of the Company which would render any amount stated in the financial statements misleading.

(e) At the date of this report, there does not exist:

(i) any charge on the assets of the Group or of the Company which has arisen since the end of the financial year which
secures the liabilities of any other person; or

(ii) any contingent liability of the Group or of the Company which has arisen since the end of the financial year.

(f) In the opinion of the Directors:

(i) no contingent or other liability has become enforceable or is likely to become enforceable within the period of twelve
months after the end of the financial year which will or may affect the ability of the Group or of the Company to meet
their obligations when they fall due; and

(ii) no item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature has arisen in the interval between the end of the financial
year and the date of this report which is likely to affect substantially the results of the operations of the Group or of the
Company for the financial year in which this report is made.

SIGNIFICANT EVENT

Details of a significant event are disclosed in Note 34 to the financial statements.
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AUDITORS

The auditors, Ernst & Young PLT, have expressed their willingness to continue in office. 

Auditors' remuneration is as follows:

                                                                                                                                        Group       Company
                                                                                                                                      RM'000          RM'000

Ernst & Young PLT                                                                                                                     180                  51  

To the extent permitted by law, the Company has agreed to indemnify its auditors, Ernst & Young PLT, as part of the terms of its
audit engagement against claims by third parties arising from the audit (for an unspecified amount). No payment has been paid
to indemnify Ernst & Young PLT for the financial year ended 30 June 2021.

Signed on behalf of the Board in accordance with a resolution of the Directors dated 24 August 2021.

Dato' Sri Mohd Mokhtar Bin Mohd Shariff                                   Wan Nadiah Binti Wan Mohd Abdullah Yaakob
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We, Dato' Sri Mohd Mokhtar Bin Mohd Shariff and Wan Nadiah Binti Wan Mohd Abdullah Yaakob, being two of the Directors
of TMC Life Sciences Berhad, do hereby state that, in the opinion of the Directors, the accompanying financial statements set out
on pages 106 to 164 are drawn up in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial
Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia so as to give a true and fair view of the
financial position of the Group and of the Company as at 30 June 2021 and of their financial performance and cash flows for
the financial year then ended.

Signed on behalf of the Board in accordance with a resolution of the Directors dated 24 August 2021.

Dato' Sri Mohd Mokhtar Bin Mohd Shariff                                   Wan Nadiah Binti Wan Mohd Abdullah Yaakob

I, Wong Yu Chee, being the Officer primarily responsible for the financial management of TMC Life Sciences Berhad, do solemnly
and sincerely declare that the accompanying financial statements set out on pages 106 to 164 are to the best of my knowledge
and belief, correct and I make this solemn declaration conscientiously believing the same to be true and by virtue of the provisions
of the Statutory Declarations Act, 1960.

Subscribed and solemnly declared 
by the abovenamed Wong Yu Chee 
at Petaling Jaya                                                                                      Wong Yu Chee
on 24 August 2021                                                                                MIA 16689
                                                                                                           

Before me,

Wong Kai Fen (No: B456) 
Commissioner for Oath
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Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of TMC Life Sciences Berhad, which comprise the statements of financial position as at
30 June 2021 of the Group and of the Company, and the statements of comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity
and statements of cash flows of the Group and of the Company for the financial year then ended, and notes to the financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, as set out on pages 106 to 164.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the
Company as at 30 June 2021, and of their financial performance and cash flows for the financial year then ended in accordance
with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies
Act 2016 in Malaysia.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards on Auditing.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion.

Independence and other ethical responsibilities

We are independent of the Group and of the Company in accordance with the By-Laws (on Professional Ethics, Conduct and
Practice) of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (‘‘By-Laws”) and the International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(including International Independence Standards) (‘‘IESBA Code’’), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the By-Laws and the IESBA Code.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the financial
statements of the Group and of the Company for the current financial year. We have determined that there are no key audit
matters to communicate in our report on the financial statements of the Company. The key audit matters for the audit of the
financial statements of the Group are described below. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial
statements of the Group as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of
our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures designed to
respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements. The results of our audit procedures,
including the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis of our audit opinion on the accompanying
financial statements.

(A) Revenue recognition - hospital division

(Refer to Notes 2.18 and 4 to the financial statements)

During the financial year ended 30 June 2021, the Group had recognised a total revenue of RM181 million from the hospital
division, which represents about 90% of the Group’s total revenue.

Given the nature of the hospital operations and that the Group relies heavily on information technology system in accounting
for its revenue, where such information technology system processes large volumes of data for numerous types of products
and services which consist of individually low value transactions, we assessed the risk of material misstatement in respect of
revenue recognition to be higher and therefore identified it as an area of focus.

INDEPENDENT
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Report on the audit of the financial statements (contd.)

Key audit matters (contd.)

(A) Revenue recognition - hospital division (contd.)

(Refer to Notes 2.18 and 4 to the financial statements) (contd.)

In addressing this area of focus, we performed, amongst others, the following procedures:

• We obtained an understanding of the management's internal controls over the timing and amount of revenue
recognised;

• We involved our information technology specialist to test the operating effectiveness of automated controls over the
billing system;

• We tested the non-automated controls in place to ensure completeness and accuracy of revenue recognised, including
timely updating of approved billing rate changes in the system and the data interface between the billing system and
the general ledger;

• We inspected samples of documents which evidenced the rendering of services and sales of products to customers;

• We inspected samples of documents to establish whether transactions were recorded in the correct accounting period;
and

• Using data analytics, we performed correlation analysis between revenue, trade receivables and cash and bank
balances.

(B) Impairment assessment of goodwill

(Refer to Notes 3.2(a) and 14(a) to the financial statements)

As at 30 June 2021, the carrying amount of goodwill recognised by the Group amounted to RM193 million, representing
22% and 18% of the Group's total non-current assets and total assets respectively. This goodwill relates to a subsidiary
principally engaged in healthcare services. The Group is required to perform annual impairment assessment of the cash
generating unit ("CGU") to which this goodwill has been allocated.

The Group estimated the recoverable amount of its CGU to which the goodwill is allocated based on value-in-use ("VIU").
Estimating the VIU involves estimating the CGU’s future cash inflows and outflows and discounting it at an appropriate
discount rate (“discounted cash flow approach”).

We identified this as our area of audit focus due to the significance of the amount, the complexity and the significant
judgement involved in determining the recoverable amount of the CGU using a discounted cash flow approach. Specifically,
we focused on the evaluation of the assumptions on revenue growth rate, terminal growth rate and discount rate.

In addressing this area of focus, we performed, amongst others, the following procedures:

• We obtained an understanding of the relevant internal controls over estimating the recoverable amount of the CGUs;

• We evaluated the management’s key assumptions on revenue growth rate and terminal growth rate, by taking into
consideration the current and expected future economic conditions. We also compared these key assumptions against
past actual outcomes of another subsidiary of the Group which operates in similar activity;

• Together with EY valuation specialist, we evaluated the appropriateness of the discount rate used to determine the
present value of the cash flows and assessed whether the rate used reflects the current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset; and

• We also assessed the sensitivity analysis performed by management on the key assumptions used in the impairment
model, to understand the impact that reasonable alternative assumptions would have on the carrying amount.

We also evaluated the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures of each key assumption on which the Group has based its cash
flow projections. Key assumptions are those to which the recoverable amount is most sensitive, as disclosed in Note 14(a)
to the financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
to the Members of TMC Life Sciences Berhad

Report on the audit of the financial statements (contd.)

Information other than the financial statements and auditors’ report thereon

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included
in the annual report and the Directors' report, but does not include the financial statements of the Group and of the Company
and our auditors’ report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements of the Group and of the Company does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements of the
Group and of the Company or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors for the financial statements

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of financial statements of the Group and of the Company that
give a true and fair view in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards
and the requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia. The Directors are also responsible for such internal control as the
Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements of the Group and of the Company that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group's
and the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or the Company or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements of the Group and of the Company as
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards on Auditing will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards on Auditing,
we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control;

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's and of the
Company’s internal control;

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the Directors;

`
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Report on the audit of the financial statements (contd.)

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements (contd.)

As part of an audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards on Auditing,
we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also (contd.):

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the Group's or the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we
are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the financial statements of the Group and
of the Company or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group or the
Company to cease to continue as a going concern;

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, including
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements of the Group and of the Company represent the underlying transactions
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation; and

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the financial statements of the Group. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,
and where applicable actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
financial statements of the Group and of the Company for the current financial year and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Other matters 

This report is made solely to the members of the Company, as a body, in accordance with Section 266 of the Companies Act
2016 in Malaysia and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility to any other person for the content of this report.

Ernst & Young PLT                                                                              Ng Kim Ling
202006000003 (LLP0022760-LCA) & AF 0039                                       No. 03236/04/2022 J
Chartered Accountants                                                                            Chartered Accountant

Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia 
24 August 2021
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                                                                                                                   Group                           Company
                                                                                                     1.7.2020       1.9.2019       1.7.2020       1.9.2019
                                                                                                               to                 to                 to                 to
                                                                                      Note     30.6.2021    30.6.2020    30.6.2021    30.6.2020
                                                                                                      RM'000        RM'000        RM'000        RM'000

Revenue                                                                               4           201,024       153,406         13,372           3,000
Other income                                                                        5               1,063            1,401            6,028                    -
Inventories and consumables                                                                 (66,762)        (49,637)                   -                    -
Staff costs                                                                             8            (64,759)        (55,406)                   -                (32)
Other operating expenses                                                                    (31,620)        (24,540)          (1,179)          (2,742)
Depreciation and amortisation                                                              (13,020)          (9,944)                   -                    -
Interest income                                                                                       2,187            3,462            1,122            2,590
Finance costs                                                                         6                 (441)             (322)                   -                    -

Profit before tax                                                                7             27,672         18,420         19,343           2,816
Income tax expense                                                              10             (7,418)          (5,145)             (258)             (497)

Profit for the financial year/period                                                  20,254         13,275         19,085           2,319

Other comprehensive income/(loss) that may reclassify                                                                                              
to profit or loss in subsequent years (net of tax):                                                                                                      

Foreign currency translation                                                                            2                  (1)                   -                    -

Total comprehensive income
for the financial year/period                                                          20,256         13,274         19,085           2,319

Profit attributable to owners of the parent                                                20,254         13,275         19,085           2,319

Total comprehensive income 
for the financial year/period 
attributable to owners of the parent                                                      20,256         13,274         19,085           2,319

Earnings per share unit attributable
to owners of the parent (sen):

Basic                                                                                   11                1.16              0.76
Diluted                                                                                11                1.16              0.76

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

STATEMENTS OF
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
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                                                                                                                  Group                           Company
                                                                                      Note             2021            2020            2021            2020
                                                                                                      RM'000        RM'000        RM'000        RM'000

Assets                                                                                                                             

Non-current assets                                                                                                          
Property, plant and equipment                                                13          677,334       569,606                    -                    -
Intangible assets                                                                   14          194,943       194,949                    -                    -
Investment property                                                               15              2,278                    -                    -                    -
Investment in subsidiaries                                                       16                      -                    -        643,741       532,230

                                                                                                       874,555       764,555       643,741       532,230

Current assets                                                                                                                   
Inventories                                                                           17            10,296         11,465                    -                    -
Trade and other receivables                                                   18            26,519         25,906           3,386          89,362
Tax recoverable                                                                                      8,957          12,058                84               254
Cash and bank balances                                                       19          139,906       136,456         49,122         59,056

                                                                                                       185,678       185,885         52,592       148,672

Total assets                                                                                  1,060,233       950,440       696,333       680,902

Current liabilities                                                                                                              
Trade and other payables                                                      20            72,828         68,002              491            1,424
Borrowings                                                                          21              2,440            1,606                    -                    -
Provision                                                                              22                 181               278                    -                    -
Income tax payable                                                                                        -                   1                    -                    -

                                                                                                         75,449         69,887              491            1,424

Net current assets                                                                           110,229       115,998         52,101       147,248

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings                                                                          21          172,163         86,794                    -                    -
Provision                                                                              22                 363                 42                    -                    -
Deferred tax liabilities                                                           24            22,637         21,599                    -                    -

                                                                                                       195,163       108,435                    -                    -

Total liabilities                                                                                 270,612       178,322              491            1,424

Net assets                                                                                       789,621       772,118       695,842       679,478

Represented by:

Equity attributable to owners of the parent
Share capital                                                                        25          625,986       625,986       625,986       625,986
Reserves                                                                              26              3,668            3,496            3,668            3,466
Retained profits                                                                    27         159,967       142,636         66,188         50,026

Total equity                                                                                      789,621       772,118       695,842       679,478

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statement.

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 107

STATEMENTS OF
FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 30 June 2021



   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 A
tt

ri
bu

ta
bl

e 
to

 o
w

ne
rs

 o
f 

th
e 

pa
re

nt
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  N
on

-d
is

tr
ib

ut
ab

le
   

   
   

   
   

D
is

tr
ib

ut
ab

le
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
Fo

re
ig

n
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

Sh
ar

e 
   

   
   

   
   

cu
rr

en
cy

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

Sh
ar

e
   

   
   

   
op

tio
ns

   
   

   
   

tr
an

sl
at

io
n

   
   

   
   

   
Re

ta
in

ed
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  c

ap
ita

l  
   

   
   

 r
es

er
ve

   
   

   
   

   
  r

es
er

ve
   

   
   

   
   

   
 p

ro
fit

s 
   

   
   

   
 T

ot
al

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

N
ot

e
   

   
   

 R
M

'0
00

   
   

   
   

RM
'0

00
   

   
   

   
   

  R
M

'0
00

   
   

   
   

   
  R

M
'0

00
   

   
   

 R
M

'0
00

G
ro

up

A
t 1

 J
ul

y 
20

20
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  6

25
,9

86
   

   
   

   
   

3,
46

6
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  3

0 
   

   
   

   
   

 1
42

,6
36

   
   

   
77

2,
11

8

Pr
of

it 
fo

r t
he

 fi
na

nc
ia

l y
ea

r 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
- 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 -

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  -

   
   

   
   

   
   

 2
0,

25
4

   
   

   
  2

0,
25

4
O

th
er

 c
om

pr
eh

en
si

ve
 lo

ss
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  -

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  -

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 2

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  -

   
   

   
   

   
   

  2

To
ta

l c
om

pr
eh

en
si

ve
 in

co
m

e 
fo

r t
he

 fi
na

nc
ia

l y
ea

r 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

- 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 - 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

2 
   

   
   

   
   

   
20

,2
54

   
   

   
  2

0,
25

6

Tr
an

sa
ct

io
ns

 w
ith

 o
w

ne
rs

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

Fa
ir 

va
lu

e 
ch

ar
ge

s 
on

 s
ha

re
 o

pt
io

ns
 g

ra
nt

ed
 u

nd
er

 E
SO

S 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  -
   

   
   

   
   

   
20

2
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  -
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  -
   

   
   

   
   

 2
02

Liq
ui

da
tio

n 
of

 a
 s

ub
si

di
ar

y 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
- 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 - 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

(3
2)

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 -

   
   

   
   

   
  (

32
)

D
iv

id
en

d 
on

 o
rd

in
ar

y 
sh

ar
es

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  1

2
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
- 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 -

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  -

   
   

   
   

   
   

  (
2,

92
3)

   
   

   
  (

2,
92

3)

To
ta

l t
ra

ns
ac

tio
ns

 w
ith

 o
w

ne
rs

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  -
   

   
   

   
   

   
20

2
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 (3

2)
   

   
   

   
   

   
 (2

,9
23

) 
   

   
   

 (2
,7

53
)

A
t 3

0 
Ju

ne
 2

02
1 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  6

25
,9

86
   

   
   

   
   

3,
66

8
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  -
   

   
   

   
   

  1
59

,9
67

   
   

   
78

9,
62

1

108 TMC LIFE SCIENCES BERHAD 200301021989 (624409-A)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the financial year ended 30 June 2021



   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  A
tt

ri
bu

ta
bl

e 
to

 o
w

ne
rs

 o
f 

th
e 

pa
re

nt
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  N

on
-d

is
tr

ib
ut

ab
le

   
   

   
   

   
  D

is
tr

ib
ut

ab
le

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

Fo
re

ig
n

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
Sh

ar
e 

   
   

   
   

   
cu

rr
en

cy
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

Sh
ar

e
   

   
   

   
op

tio
ns

   
   

   
   

tr
an

sl
at

io
n

   
   

   
   

   
Re

ta
in

ed
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  N

ot
e 

   
   

   
   

   
ca

pi
ta

l  
   

   
   

 r
es

er
ve

   
   

   
   

   
  r

es
er

ve
   

   
   

   
   

   
 p

ro
fit

s 
   

   
   

   
 T

ot
al

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 R
M

'0
00

   
   

   
   

RM
'0

00
   

   
   

   
   

  R
M

'0
00

   
   

   
   

   
  R

M
'0

00
   

   
   

 R
M

'0
00

G
ro

up
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  

A
t 1

 S
ep

te
m

be
r 

20
19

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 6

25
,9

86
   

   
   

   
   

3,
35

2
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  3

1 
   

   
   

   
   

 1
32

,8
67

   
   

   
76

2,
23

6

Pr
of

it 
fo

r t
he

 fi
na

nc
ia

l p
er

io
d

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 -

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  -

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  -

   
   

   
   

   
   

 1
3,

27
5

   
   

   
  1

3,
27

5
O

th
er

 c
om

pr
eh

en
si

ve
 in

co
m

e 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  -

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  -

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
(1

) 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

- 
   

   
   

   
   

   
(1

)

To
ta

l c
om

pr
eh

en
si

ve
 in

co
m

e 
fo

r t
he

 fi
na

nc
ia

l p
er

io
d

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 -
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  -
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

(1
)  

   
   

   
   

   
 1

3,
27

5
   

   
   

  1
3,

27
4

Tr
an

sa
ct

io
ns

 w
ith

 o
w

ne
rs

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

Fa
ir 

va
lu

e 
ch

ar
ge

s 
on

 s
ha

re
 o

pt
io

ns
 g

ra
nt

ed
 u

nd
er

 E
SO

S 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  -
   

   
   

   
   

   
11

4
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  -
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  -
   

   
   

   
   

 1
14

D
iv

id
en

d 
on

 o
rd

in
ar

y 
sh

ar
es

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 1

2
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  -

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  -

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  -

   
   

   
   

   
   

  (
3,

50
6)

   
   

   
  (

3,
50

6)

To
ta

l t
ra

ns
ac

tio
ns

 w
ith

 o
w

ne
rs

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  -
   

   
   

   
   

   
11

4
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  -
   

   
   

   
   

   
  (

3,
50

6)
   

   
   

  (
3,

39
2)

A
t 3

0 
Ju

ne
 2

02
0

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  6

25
,9

86
   

   
   

   
   

3,
46

6
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  3

0 
   

   
   

   
   

 1
42

,6
36

   
   

   
77

2,
11

8

Th
e 

ac
co

m
pa

ny
in

g 
ac

co
un

tin
g 

po
lic

ie
s 

an
d 

ex
pl

an
at

or
y 

no
te

s 
fo

rm
 a

n 
in

te
gr

al
 p

ar
t o

f t
he

 fi
na

nc
ia

l s
ta

te
m

en
ts.

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 109

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the financial year ended 30 June 2021



   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
A

tt
ri

bu
ta

bl
e 

to
 o

w
ne

rs
 o

f 
th

e 
pa

re
nt

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 N

on
-d

ist
rib

ut
ab

le
   

   
   

   
  D

ist
rib

ut
ab

le
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 S
ha

re
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  S
ha

re
   

   
   

   
  o

pt
io

ns
   

   
   

   
  R

et
ai

ne
d

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
N

ot
e

   
   

   
   

   
 c

ap
ita

l 
   

   
   

   
 r

es
er

ve
   

   
   

   
   

   
pr

ofi
ts

   
   

   
   

   
 T

ot
al

 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  R

M
'0

00
   

   
   

   
  R

M
'0

00
   

   
   

   
   

 R
M

'0
00

   
   

   
   

RM
'0

00
Co

m
pa

ny
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

A
t 1

 J
ul

y 
20

20
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 6
25

,9
86

   
   

   
   

   
   

3,
46

6
   

   
   

   
   

  5
0,

02
6

   
   

   
  6

79
,4

78

Pr
of

it 
fo

r t
he

 fi
na

nc
ia

l y
ea

r, 
re

pr
es

en
tin

g 
to

ta
l c

om
pr

eh
en

si
ve

 
in

co
m

e 
fo

r t
he

 fi
na

nc
ia

l y
ea

r 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  -

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  -
   

   
   

   
   

  1
9,

08
5

   
   

   
   

 1
9,

08
5

Tr
an

sa
ct

io
ns

 w
ith

 o
w

ne
rs

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
Fa

ir 
va

lu
e 

ch
ar

ge
s 

on
 s

ha
re

 o
pt

io
ns

 g
ra

nt
ed

 u
nd

er
 E

SO
S

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 - 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  2

02
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 - 
   

   
   

   
   

  2
02

D
iv

id
en

d 
on

 o
rd

in
ar

y 
sh

ar
es

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  1

2
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  -

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  -
   

   
   

   
   

   
 (2

,9
23

) 
   

   
   

   
(2

,9
23

)

To
ta

l t
ra

ns
ac

tio
ns

 w
ith

 o
w

ne
rs

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 - 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  2
02

   
   

   
   

   
   

 (2
,9

23
) 

   
   

   
   

(2
,7

21
)

A
t 3

0 
Ju

ne
 2

02
1

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 6
25

,9
86

   
   

   
   

   
   

3,
66

8
   

   
   

   
   

  6
6,

18
8

   
   

   
  6

95
,8

42

COMPANY STATEMENT
OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

110 TMC LIFE SCIENCES BERHAD 200301021989 (624409-A)

For the financial year ended 30 June 2021



   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
A

tt
ri

bu
ta

bl
e 

to
 o

w
ne

rs
 o

f 
th

e 
pa

re
nt

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 N

on
-d

ist
rib

ut
ab

le
   

   
   

   
  D

ist
rib

ut
ab

le
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 S
ha

re
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  S
ha

re
   

   
   

   
  o

pt
io

ns
   

   
   

   
  R

et
ai

ne
d

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
N

ot
e

   
   

   
   

   
 c

ap
ita

l 
   

   
   

   
 r

es
er

ve
   

   
   

   
   

   
pr

ofi
ts

   
   

   
   

   
 T

ot
al

 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  R

M
'0

00
   

   
   

   
  R

M
'0

00
   

   
   

   
   

 R
M

'0
00

   
   

   
   

RM
'0

00
Co

m
pa

ny
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

A
t 1

 S
ep

te
m

be
r 

20
19

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
62

5,
98

6
   

   
   

   
   

   
3,

35
2

   
   

   
   

   
  5

1,
21

3
   

   
   

  6
80

,5
51

Pr
of

it 
fo

r t
he

 fi
na

nc
ia

l p
er

io
d,

 re
pr

es
en

tin
g 

to
ta

l c
om

pr
eh

en
si

ve
 

in
co

m
e 

fo
r t

he
 fi

na
nc

ia
l p

er
io

d
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
- 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 -
   

   
   

   
   

   
 2

,3
19

   
   

   
   

   
2,

31
9

Tr
an

sa
ct

io
ns

 w
ith

 o
w

ne
rs

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

Fa
ir 

va
lu

e 
ch

ar
ge

s 
on

 s
ha

re
 o

pt
io

ns
 g

ra
nt

ed
 u

nd
er

 E
SO

S
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 - 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  1
14

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 -

   
   

   
   

   
   

11
4

D
iv

id
en

d 
on

 o
rd

in
ar

y 
sh

ar
es

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  1

2
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  -

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  -
   

   
   

   
   

   
 (3

,5
06

) 
   

   
   

   
(3

,5
06

)

To
ta

l t
ra

ns
ac

tio
ns

 w
ith

 o
w

ne
rs

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 - 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  1
14

   
   

   
   

   
   

 (3
,5

06
) 

   
   

   
   

(3
,3

92
)

A
t 3

0 
Ju

ne
 2

02
0

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 6
25

,9
86

   
   

   
   

   
   

3,
46

6
   

   
   

   
   

  5
0,

02
6

   
   

   
  6

79
,4

78

Th
e 

ac
co

m
pa

ny
in

g 
ac

co
un

tin
g 

po
lic

ie
s 

an
d 

ex
pl

an
at

or
y 

no
te

s 
fo

rm
 a

n 
in

te
gr

al
 p

ar
t o

f t
he

 fi
na

nc
ia

l s
ta

te
m

en
ts.

COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
For the financial year ended 30 June 2021

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 111



                                                                                                                   Group                           Company
                                                                                                     1.7.2020      1.9.2019      1.7.2020      1.9.2019
                                                                                                               to                to                to                to
                                                                                                  30.6.2021    30.6.2020    30.6.2021    30.6.2020
                                                                                                      RM'000       RM'000       RM'000        RM'000

Operating activities

Profit before tax                                                                                   27,672         18,420         19,343           2,816
Adjustments for:

Allowance/(reversal of allowance)
for expected credit losses:
- trade receivables                                                                                840              500                   -                   -
- other receivables                                                                                      -                   -          (5,727)          1,156

Amortisation of intangible assets                                                                 896              697                   -                   -
Property, plant and equipment:

- depreciation                                                                                    12,079           9,247                   -                   -
- written off                                                                                               50                  9                   -                   -
- net gain on disposal                                                                                 (4)                (4)                  -                   -

Depreciation of investment property                                                              45                   -                   -                   -
Gain on liquidation of a subsidiary                                                              (39)                  -                   -                   -
Gain on derecognition of lease liability                                                        (27)                  -                   -                   -
Reversal of impairment of investment

in subsidiaries                                                                                             -                   -             (301)                  -
Inventory written off                                                                                  129                   -                   -                   -
Interest expense                                                                                        441              322                   -                   -
Interest income                                                                                     (2,187)         (3,462)         (1,122)         (2,590)
Dividend income                                                                                            -                   -        (13,372)         (3,000)
Rental concessions                                                                                       (1)            (223)                  -                   -
Fair value charges on share

options granted under ESOS                                                                    202              114                81                83

Operating profit/(loss) before changes in 
working capital carried forward                                                          40,096         25,620          (1,098)         (1,535)

STATEMENTS OF
CASH FLOWS
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                                                                                                                   Group                           Company
                                                                                                     1.7.2020      1.9.2019      1.7.2020      1.9.2019
                                                                                                               to                to                to                to
                                                                                                  30.6.2021    30.6.2020    30.6.2021    30.6.2020
                                                                                                      RM'000        RM'000        RM'000        RM'000

Operating activities (contd.)

Operating profit/(loss) before changes in
working capital brought forward                                                         40,096         25,620          (1,098)         (1,535)

Changes in working capital:
Inventories                                                                                          1,040             (635)                  -                   -
Receivables                                                                                        (1,453)          7,559        (19,386)       (79,767)
Payables                                                                                          (10,174)       (10,014)            (933)             439

Cash flows from/(used in) operation                                                      29,509         22,530        (21,417)       (80,863)
Interest paid                                                                                         (3,780)            (312)                  -                   -
Income taxes paid                                                                                 (3,280)         (7,599)               (88)            (789)

Net cash flows from/(used in) operating activities                          22,449         14,619        (21,505)       (81,652)

Investing activities

(Placement)/uplift of deposits placed with:
- financial institutions with original

maturity of more than three months                                                      6,571         38,441           5,000         26,882
- deposits pledged                                                                                    (48)               10                   -                   -
- cash restricted in use                                                                         (1,343)                  -                   -                   -

Interest received                                                                                     2,187           3,462           1,122           2,590
Proceeds from disposals of
property, plant and equipment                                                                    23                  5                   -                   -

Purchase of property, plant and equipment                                          (102,632)     (136,353)                  -                   -
Purchase of intangible assets                                                                     (890)            (206)                  -                   -
Dividend from subsidiaries                                                                              -                   -         13,372           3,000

Net cash flows (used in)/from investing activities                          (96,132)       (94,641)        19,494         32,472 

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
For the financial year ended 30 June 2021
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STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
For the financial year ended 30 June 2021

                                                                                                                   Group                           Company
                                                                                                     1.7.2020      1.9.2019      1.7.2020      1.9.2019
                                                                                                               to                to                to                to
                                                                                                  30.6.2021   30.6.2020    30.6.2021    30.6.2020
                                                                                                      RM'000       RM'000       RM'000        RM'000

Financing activities

Dividends paid                                                                                      (2,923)         (3,506)         (2,923)         (3,506)
Drawdown of term loan                                                                        83,241         80,062                   -                   -
Drawdown of finance lease obligation
- industrial hire purchase                                                                      4,410                   -                   -                   -

Repayments of:
- lease liabilities                                                                                  (1,911)         (1,286)                  -                   -
- finance lease obligation
- industrial hire purchase                                                                       (441)              (12)                  -                   -

- term loans                                                                                             (65)              (52)                  -                   -

Net cash flows from/(used in) financing activities                           82,311         75,206          (2,923)         (3,506)

Net changes in cash and cash equivalents                                        8,628          (4,816)         (4,934)       (52,686)

Effects of exchange rate changes                                                             2                 (2)                  -                   -

Cash and cash equivalents at the
beginning of financial year/period                                                96,697       101,515         21,444         74,130

Cash and cash equivalents at the
end of financial year/period (Note 19)                                        105,327         96,697         16,510         21,444

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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1. Corporate information

TMC Life Sciences Berhad ("the Company") is a public limited liability company, incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia,
and is listed on the Main Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad ("Bursa Securities"). The registered office of the
Company is located at 7th Floor, Menara Milenium, Jalan Damanlela, Pusat Bandar Damansara, Damansara Heights,
50490 Kuala Lumpur. The principal place of business of the Company is located at C-13-09 Sunway Nexis, No.1, Jalan
PJU 5/1, Dataran Sunway, Kota Damansara, 47810 Petaling Jaya, Selangor Darul Ehsan.

The immediate, penultimate and ultimate holding companies are Sasteria (M) Pte. Ltd., Sasteria Pte. Ltd. and Thomson
Medical Group Limited respectively, all of which are incorporated in The Republic of Singapore. The ultimate holding
company is listed on the Main Board of Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of the subsidiaries are disclosed in Note
16 to the financial statements.

In the previous financial period, the Company changed its financial year end from 31 August to 30 June. The previous
period financial statements of the Group and of the Company are prepared for the period of ten (10) months from 1
September 2019 to 30 June 2020. As a result, the comparative information stated in the statements of comprehensive
income, statements of changes in equity and statements of cash flows and the related notes to the financial statements, which
was prepared for a ten (10) month-period ended 30 June 2020, are not comparable.

There have been no significant changes in the nature of these activities during the financial year ended.

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution of the Directors
on 24 August 2021.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies

2.1 Basis of preparation

The financial statements of the Group and of the Company have been prepared in accordance with Malaysian Financial
Reporting Standards ("MFRS"), International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") and the requirements of the
Companies Act 2016 (the "Act") in Malaysia. At the beginning of the current financial year, the Group and the
Company adopted new and amended MFRSs which are mandatory for annual financial periods beginning on or after
1 January 2020 described fully in Note 2.2.

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except otherwise disclosed in the accounting
policies below.

The financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia ("RM"), and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
(RM'000) except when otherwise indicated.

2.2 Changes in accounting policies

On 1 July 2020, the Group and the Company adopted the following new and amended MFRSs which are effective
for annual financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

                                                                                                                                   Effective for annual
                                                                                                                                   periods beginning
Description                                                                                                                             on or after

•     Amendments to MFRS 3: Definition of a Business                                                                 1 January 2020
•     Amendments to MFRS 101 and MFRS 108: Definition of Material                                         1 January 2020
•     Amendments to MFRS 9, MFRS 139 and MFRS 7: Interest Rate Benchmark Reform                 1 January 2020
•     Amendments to MFRS 16: COVID-19 - Related Rent Concessions                                               1 June 2020

Adoption of the above standards did not have any material effect on the financial performance or position of the Group
and of the Company.

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 115

NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

30 June 2021



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
30 June 2021

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (contd.)

2.3 Standards issued but not yet effective

The standards that are issued but not yet effective up to the date of issuance of the Group’s and of the Company’s
financial statements are disclosed below. The Group and the Company intend to adopt these standards, if applicable,
when they become effective.

                                                                                                                                   Effective for annual
                                                                                                                                  periods beginning
Description                                                                                                                             on or after

•     Amendments to MFRS 9, MFRS 139 and MFRS 7, MFRS 4 and
       MFRS 16: Interest rate benchmark reform - phase 2                                                          1 January 2021
•     Amendments to MFRS 16: COVID-19 - Related Rent
       Concessions beyond 30 June 2021                                                                                      1 April 2021
•     Annual Improvements to MFRSs 2018 - 2020                                                                     1 January 2022
•     Amendments to MFRS 3: Reference to the Conceptual Framework                                         1 January 2022
•     Amendments to MFRS 116: Property, Plant and Equipment -
       Proceeds before Intended Use                                                                                         1 January 2022
•     Amendments to MFRS 137: Onerous Contracts Cost of Fulfilling a Contract                            1 January 2022
•     Amendments to MFRS 17: Insurance Contracts                                                                    1 January 2023
•     Amendments to MFRS 101: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current                    1 January 2023
•     Amendments to MFRS 101: Disclosure of Accounting Policies                                                1 January 2023
•     Amendments to MFRS 108: Definition of Accounting Estimates                                              1 January 2023
•     Amendments to MFRS 112: Deferred Tax related to Assets and
       Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction                                                                       1 January 2023
•     Amendments to MFRS 10 and MFRS 128: Sale or
       Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture                                   Deferred

The directors expect that the adoption of the above standards will have no material impact on the financial statements in the
period of initial application.

2.4 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries. Control
is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee.

Specifically, the Group controls an investee if, and only if, the Group has:

(i) power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee);

(ii) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its investment with the investee; and

(iii) the ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights result in control. To support this presumption and when
the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts
and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(i) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;

(ii) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(iii) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (contd.)

2.4 Basis of consolidation (contd.)

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes
to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the financial year are included in the consolidated financial statements
from the date the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income ("OCI") are attributed to the owners of the parent
of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance. When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation except
for unrealised losses which are not eliminated if there are indications of impairment.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, non-
controlling interest and other components of equity while any resultant gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any
investment retained is recognised at fair value.

Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the
aggregate of the consideration transferred measured at acquisition date's fair value and the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred and included in administrative
expenses.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the
acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, any previously held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition
date's fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Contingent consideration classified as equity is not remeasured and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability that is a financial instrument and within the scope of
MFRS 9: Financial Instruments is measured at fair value with the changes in fair value recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income in accordance with MFRS 9. Other contingent consideration that is not within the scope of
MFRS 9 is measured at fair value at each reporting date with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration transferred
and the amount recognised for non-controlling interests, and any previous interest held, over the fair value of the net
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the fair value of the net assets acquired is in excess of the
aggregate fair value of the consideration transferred, the Group re- assesses whether it has correctly identified all of
the assets acquired and all of the liabilities assumed and reviews the procedures used to measure the amounts to be
recognised at the acquisition date. If the reassessment still results in an excess of the fair value of net assets acquired
over the aggregate consideration transferred, then the gain is recognised in profit or loss on acquisition date.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (contd.)

2.5 Transactions with non-controlling interest

Non-controlling interest represents the equity in subsidiaries not attributable, directly or indirectly, to owners of the
parent of the Group, and is presented separately in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income and within
equity in the consolidated statement of financial position, separately from equity attributable to owners of the parent.

Changes in the Company owners’ ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted
for as equity transactions. In such circumstances, the carrying amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount by
which the non-controlling interest is adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised
directly in equity and attributed to owners of the parent.

Total comprehensive income within a subsidiary is attributed to the non-controlling interest even if it results in a deficit
balance.

2.6 Subsidiaries

In the Company’s separate financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment
losses. On disposal of such investments, the difference between net disposal proceeds and their carrying amounts is
included in profit or loss.

2.7 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses,
if any. Such cost includes the cost of replacing part of the property, plant and equipment. When significant parts of
plant and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group depreciates them separately based on their
specific useful lives. Likewise, when a major inspection is performed, its cost is recognised in the carrying amount of
the plant and equipment as a replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied. All other repair and maintenance
costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. The present value of the expected cost for the decommissioning of an
asset after its use is included in the cost of the respective asset if the recognition criteria for a provision are met.

Freehold land has an unlimited useful life and is not depreciated. Capital work-in- progress ("WIP") are also not
depreciated as these assets are not available for use. Depreciation of buildings constructed on leasehold land is
provided for on a straight- line basis to write off the cost of the asset to its residual value over the shorter of the estimated
useful life of 50 years or the respective remaining lease periods of the leasehold land.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets, as follows:

Buildings                                                                                                                                                  2%
Electrical and mechanical equipment                                                                                                         10%
Motor vehicles                                                                                                                                        20%
Medical equipment                                                                                                                        10% - 20%
Furniture and fittings                                                                                                                      10% - 20%
Renovation                                                                                                                                   10% - 15%
Office equipment and computers                                                                                              10% - 33 1/3%

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.

An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal
or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal on derecognition
of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is
included in the profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

The residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation of property, plant and equipment are reviewed at each
financial year end, and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (contd.)

2.8 Intangible assets

(a) Goodwill

Goodwill recognised in a business combination is an asset at the acquisition date and is initially measured at cost
being the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest (if any) in the entity over net of the
acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment, the
interest of the Group in the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets exceeds the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain
purchase gain.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit ("CGU") and part of the operation within that unit
is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the disposed operation is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal. Goodwill disposed in these circumstances is measured
based on the relative values of the disposed operation and the portion of the CGU retained.

(b) Other intangible assets

Intangible assets other than goodwill acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of
intangible assets acquired in a business combination is represent fair value at the date of acquisition. Following
initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses. Internally generated intangibles, excluding capitalised development costs, are not capitalised
and the related expenditure is reflected in profit or loss in the period in which the expenditure is incurred.

The useful life of intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite.

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the expected useful life and assessed for impairment whenever
there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation
method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at the end of each reporting period.
Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied
in the asset are considered to modify the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as
changes in accounting estimates. The amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite lives is recognised in
the statement of comprehensive income in the expense category that is consistent with the function of the intangible
assets.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortised, but are tested for impairment annually, either
individually or at the CGU level. The assessment of indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether the
indefinite life continues to be supportable. If not, the change in useful life from indefinite to finite is made on a
prospective basis.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income when the asset is derecognised.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (contd.)

2.8 Intangible assets (contd.)

(b) Other intangible assets (contd.)

Computer software

Computer software is measured initially at cost. Following initial acquisition, computer software is measured at
cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

The useful life of computer software is assessed to be finite. Computer software is amortised on a straight-line
basis over the estimated useful life at annual rates of 10% - 33% and assessed for impairment whenever there is
an indication that it may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for computer software
with finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end. Changes in the expected useful life or the
expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset is accounted for by changing
the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and is treated as changes in accounting estimates. The
amortisation expense on computer software with finite life is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of computer software are measured as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income when the asset is derecognised.

2.9 Investment property

Investment property is property which is held to earn rental yields or for capital appreciation or for both and is not
occupied by the Group. Investment property also include property that is being constructed or developed for future use
as investment property. Investment property is initially measured at cost, which includes transaction costs.

Subsequent costs are included in the carrying amount of the investment property or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when the costs are incurred and it is probable that the future economic benefits associated with the
asset would flow to the Group and the costs of the asset could be measured reliably. The carrying amount of parts that
are replaced is derecognised. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of investment property is recognised in the statement
of comprehensive income as incurred. Cost also comprises the initial estimate of dismantling and removing the asset
and restoring the site on which it is located for which the Group is obligated to incur when the investment property is
acquired, if applicable.

After initial recognition, investment property is stated at cost less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost or valuation of the investment property to its residual value on a straight-
line basis over its estimated useful life. The principal depreciation period for the investment property is fifty (50) years.

At the end of each reporting period, the carrying amount of an item of the investment property is assessed for impairment
when events or changes in circumstances indicate that its carrying amount may not be recoverable. A write down is
made if the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount.

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period to ensure
that the amount, method and period of depreciation are consistent with previous estimates and the expected pattern of
consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the investment property. If expectations differ from previous
estimates, the changes are accounted for as a change in an accounting estimate.

Investment property is derecognised when either it has been disposed of or when it is permanently withdrawn from use
and no future economic benefit is expected from their disposal. The gain or loss arising from the retirement or disposal
of investment property is determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income in the period of the retirement or
disposal.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (contd.)

2.10 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost, which is determined on the weighted average basis, and net realisable
value. Cost includes expenditure incurred in bringing inventories to their present location and condition. Net realisable
value is based on estimated selling price less any further costs expected to be incurred to completion and disposal.

2.11 Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group and the Company assess, at each reporting date, whether there is an indication that an asset may be
impaired. If any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group and the
Company estimate the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or CGU's
fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of
assets. When the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired
and is written down to its recoverable amount.

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In determining
fair value less costs of disposal, recent market transactions are taken into account. If no such transactions can be
identified, an appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples, quoted
share prices for publicly traded companies or other available fair value indicators.

The Group and the Company base their impairment calculation on detailed budgets and forecast calculations, which
are prepared separately for each of the Group’s and of the Company's CGUs to which the individual assets are
allocated. These budgets and forecast calculations generally cover a period of five years. For longer periods, a long-
term growth rate is calculated and applied to project future cash flows after the fifth year.

Impairment losses of continuing operations, including impairment on inventories, are recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income in expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset, except for properties
previously revalued with the revaluation taken to OCI. For such properties, the impairment is recognised in OCI up to
the amount of any previous revaluation.

For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date to determine whether there is an indication
that previously recognised impairment losses no longer exist or have decreased. If such indication exists, the Group
and the Company estimate the asset’s or CGU’s recoverable amount. A previously recognised impairment loss is
reversed only if there has been a change in the assumptions used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since
the last impairment loss was recognised. The reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed
its recoverable amount, nor exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case, the reversal is treated as a
revaluation increase.

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually or when circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.

Impairment is determined for goodwill by assessing the recoverable amount of each CGU (or group of CGUs) to which
the goodwill relates. When the recoverable amount of the CGU is less than its carrying amount, an impairment loss is
recognised. Impairment loss relating to goodwill cannot be reversed in future periods.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment annually at the CGU level, as appropriate, and
when circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (contd.)

2.12 Financial instruments

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity
instrument of another entity.

(a) Financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income ("FVOCI") or fair value through profit or loss ("FVTPL").

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group's and the Company's business model for managing them. With the exception of
trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for which the Group and the Company
have applied the practical expedient, the Group and the Company initially measure a financial asset at its fair
value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at FVTPL, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a
significant financing component or for which the Group and the Company have applied the practical expedient
are measured at the transaction price determined under MFRS 15: Revenue from Contracts with Customers.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost or FVOCI, it needs to give rise to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest ("SPPI") on the principal amount outstanding. This
assessment is referred to as the SPPI test and is performed at an instrument level.

The Group's and the Company's business model for managing financial assets refers to how they manage their
financial assets in order to generate cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result
from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.

Subsequent measurement

For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in four categories:

• Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments);
• Financial assets at FVOCI with recycling of cumulative gains and losses (debt instruments);
• Financial assets designated at FVOCI with no recycling of cumulative gains and losses upon derecognition

(equity instruments); and
• Financial assets at FVTPL.

The Group and the Company have no financial assets carried at FVOCI for equity instruments and FVTPL.

(i) Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

The Group and the Company measure financial assets at amortised cost if both of the following conditions
are met:

• The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows; and

• The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are SPPI on
the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest rate ("EIR") method
and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.

The Group's and the Company's financial assets at amortised cost include cash and bank balances and
trade and other receivables.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (contd.)

2.12 Financial instruments (contd.)

(a) Financial assets (contd.)

Derecognition

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets)
is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group's and the Company's statements of financial position)
when:

• The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

• The Group and the Company have transferred their rights to receive cash flows from the asset or have
assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a
‘pass-through’ arrangement; and either (a) the Group and the Company have transferred substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group and the Company have neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group and the Company have transferred their rights to receive cash flows from an asset or have
entered into a pass-through arrangement, they evaluate if, and to what extent, they have retained the risks and
rewards of ownership. When they have neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and rewards
of the asset, nor transferred control of the asset, the Group and the Company continue to recognise the transferred
asset to the extent of their continuing involvement. In that case, the Group and the Company also recognise an
associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the
rights and obligations that the Group and the Company have retained.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group and the Company recognise an allowance for expected credit losses ("ECLs") for all debts instruments
not held at FVTPL. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with
the contract and all the cash flows that the Group and the Company expect to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original EIR. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sales of collateral
held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

ECLs are recognise in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are possible
within next 12 months ("a 12 months ECL"). For those credit exposures for which there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default ("a lifetime ECL").

For trade receivables, the Group applies simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Therefore, the Group does not
track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance base on lifetime ECL at each reporting date.
The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on historical credit experience. The Group considers
forward looking factors do not have significant impact to credit risk given the nature of its industry and the amount
ECLs is insensitive to changes to forecast economic conditions.

The Group and the Company consider a financial assets to be default when internal and external information
indicates that the Group and the Company are unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full
before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group and the Company. Financial assets is
written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 123

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
30 June 2021



2. Summary of significant accounting policies (contd.)

2.12 Financial instruments (contd.)

(b) Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at FVTPL, loans and borrowings,
payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables,
net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group's and the Company's financial liabilities include lease liabilities, trade and other payables, loans and
borrowings including financial guarantee contracts, if any.

Subsequent measurement

For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial liabilities are classified in two categories:

• Financial liabilities at FVTPL; and
• Financial liabilities at amortised cost

(i) Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at FVTPL include financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities designated
upon initial recognition as at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are incurred for the purpose of repurchasing in
the near term. This category also includes derivative financial instruments entered into by the Group that are
not designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships as defined by MFRS 9. Separated embedded
derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments.

Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in the profit or loss.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition at FVTPL are designated at the initial date of
recognition, and only if the criteria in MFRS 9 are satisfied. The Group has not designated any financial
liability as at FVTPL.

(ii) Financial liabilities at amortised cost

This is the category most relevant to the Group. After initial recognition, these financial liabilities are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the EIR method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or
loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the EIR amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs in the statements of
comprehensive income.

This category generally applies to trade and other payables, interest-bearing loans and borrowings, lease
liabilities as further disclosed in Note 20, 21 and 23 respectively.

Derecognition

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.
When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the
derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in the profit or loss.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (contd.)

2.12 Financial instruments (contd.)

(c) Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statements of financial
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to
settle on a net basis, to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

2.13 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and bank balances comprise cash at banks and on hand and short-term deposits with a maturity of three months
or less, which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

For the purpose of the statements of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash at banks, net of outstanding
bank overdrafts, if any, as they are considered an integral part of the Group's and of the Company’s cash management.

2.14 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that necessarily takes a
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of the asset. All
other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they occur. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other
costs that the Group incur in connection with the borrowing of funds.

2.15 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. When the Group expects some or all of a provision to
be reimbursed, for example, under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset, but
only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to a provision is presented in the statement of
comprehensive income net of any reimbursement.

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects,
when appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the
passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.

Provision for restoration costs are in respect of management's best estimate of the costs necessary to be incurred to
restore rented premises. The initial estimated amount is capitalised as part of the cost for property, plant and equipment.

2.16 Share capital and share issuance expenses

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group and of the Company
after deducting all of their liabilities. Ordinary shares are equity instruments.

Ordinary shares are recorded at the proceeds received, net of directly attributable incremental transaction costs.
Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised in equity in the period in which they are declared.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (contd.)

2.17 Leases

The determination of whether an arrangement is (or contains) a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement at
the inception of the lease. The arrangement is, or contains, a lease if fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the
use of a specific asset or assets and the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset or assets, even if that right is not
explicitly specified in an arrangement.

(a) Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term leases
and leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use
assets representing the right to use the underlying assets.

(i) Right-of-use assets

The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the underlying
asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets
includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at
or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received. Right-of- use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful lives of the assets, as follows:

Long term leasehold land                                                                                                     99 years
Buildings                                                                                                                         1 - 9 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group at the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the
exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset. The right-
of-use assets are also subject to impairment. The accounting policy of impairment of non- financial assets is
disclosed in Note 2.11.

(ii) Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value
of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an
index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also
include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as expenses
(unless they are incurred to produce inventories) in the period in which the event or condition that triggers
the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the lease payments (e.g., changes to future payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate used to determine such lease payments) or a change in the
assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.

The Group’s lease liabilities are included in financial liabilities in Note 21.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (contd.)

2.17 Leases (contd.)

(a) Group as a lessee (contd.)

(iii) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short- term leases of machinery and
equipment (i.e., those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and
do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the lease of low-value assets recognition exemption to
leases of office equipment that are considered to be low value. Lease payments on short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

(b) Group as a lessor

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an
asset are classified as operating leases. Rental income arising is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the
lease terms and is included in revenue in the statement of comprehensive income due to its operating nature.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of
the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are
recognised as revenue in the period in which they are earned.

2.18 Revenue and other income recognition

Revenue is recognised when the Group satisfies a performance obligation by transferring a promised good or service
to the customer, which is when the customer obtains control of the good or service. A performance obligation may be
satisfied at a point in time or over time. The amount of revenue recognised is the amount allocated to the satisfied
performance obligation.

(a) Sale of goods and rendering of services

Revenue from hospital operations comprises inpatient and outpatient hospital charges and sales of pharmaceutical
products, medical and consumable supplies. These are recognised at a point in time upon transfer of control of
goods and services to the customers net of discounts, rebates and returns.

Other hospital revenue mainly consists of clinic rental from consultants. These are recognised on an accrual basis
in accordance with the substance of the relevant agreements.

(b) Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the Company's right to receive payment is established.

(c) Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.

(d) Membership fees

Membership fees are recognised upon customers registration with the Group.

(e) Rental income

Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms. The aggregate costs of incentives
provided to lessees are recognised as a reduction of rental income over the lease term on a straight-line basis.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (contd.)

2.19 Taxes

(a) Current income tax

Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to
the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or
substantively enacted, at the reporting date in the countries where the Group operates and generates taxable
income.

Current income tax relating to items recognised directly in equity is recognised in equity and not in the statement
of comprehensive income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where
appropriate.

(b) Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at the reporting date.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

- when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit; and

- in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associate and joint
ventures, when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable
that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax credits
and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits
and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

- when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit; and

- in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associate and
joint ventures, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are re-assessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax assets to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss. Deferred tax
items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in OCI or directly in equity.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation
authority.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (contd.)

2.19 Taxes (contd.)

(b) Deferred tax (contd.)

Tax benefits acquired as part of a business combination, but not satisfying the criteria for separate recognition at
that date, are recognised subsequently if new information about facts and circumstances change. The adjustment
is either treated as a reduction in goodwill (as long as it does not exceed goodwill) if it was incurred during the
measurement period or recognised in profit or loss.

(c) Sales and services tax ("SST")

Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of SST except:

(i) when the SST incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in
which case, the SST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the assets or as part of the expense
item as applicable; and

(ii) when receivables and payables are stated with the amount of SST included.

The payable amount of SST to the taxation authority is included as part of payables in the statements of financial
position.

2.20 Foreign currencies

The Group’s consolidated financial statements are presented in RM, which is also the Company's functional currency.
For each entity, the Group determines the functional currency and items included in the financial statements of each
entity are measured using that functional currency. The Group uses the direct method of consolidation and on disposal
of a foreign operation, the gain or loss that is reclassified to profit or loss reflects the amount that arises from using this
method.

(a) Transactions and balances

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded by the Group’s entities at their respective functional currency
spot rates at the date the transaction first qualifies for recognition.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency spot
rates of exchange at the reporting date.

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss with the exception
of monetary items that are designated as part of the hedge of the Group’s net investment of a foreign operation.
These are recognised in OCI until the net investment is disposed of, at which time, the cumulative amount is
reclassified to profit or loss. Tax charges and credits attributable to exchange differences on those monetary items
are also recorded in OCI.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value is determined. The gain or loss
arising on translation of non-monetary items measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the
gain or loss on the change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation differences on items whose fair value gain or
loss is recognised in OCI or profit or loss are also recognised in OCI or profit or loss, respectively).
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (contd.)

2.20 Foreign currencies (contd.)

(b) Group companies

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into RM at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the reporting date and their statements of comprehensive income are translated at exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. The exchange differences arising on translation for consolidation are
recognised in OCI. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of OCI relating to that particular foreign
operation is recognised in profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities arising on the acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
operation and translated at the spot rate of exchange at the reporting date.

2.21 Cash dividend and non-cash distribution to equity holders of the parent

The Company recognises a liability to make cash or non-cash distributions to equity holders of the parent when the
distribution is authorised and the distribution is no longer at the discretion of the Company.

A corresponding amount is recognised directly in equity.

Non-cash distributions are measured at the fair value of the assets to be distributed with fair value re-measurement
recognised directly in equity.

Upon distribution of non-cash assets, any difference between the carrying amount of the liability and the carrying
amount of the assets distributed is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

2.22 Employee benefits

(a) Short term benefits

Wages, salaries, bonuses and social security contributions are recognised as an expense in the financial year in
which the associated services are rendered by employees. Short term accumulating compensated absences such
as paid annual leave are recognised when services are rendered by employees that increase their entitlement to
future compensated absences. Short term non-accumulating compensated absences such as sick leave, maternity
and paternity leave are recognised when the absences occur.

(b) Defined contribution plan

The Group and the Company participate in the national pension schemes as defined by the laws of the countries
in which it has operations. The Malaysian companies in the Group make contributions to the Employees Provident
Fund in Malaysia, a defined contribution pension scheme. Contributions to defined contribution pension schemes
are recognised as an expense in the period in which the related service is performed.

(c) Share-based payments

Employees' share options scheme ("ESOS")

The Company operates an equity-settled, share-based compensation plan, allowing the employees of the Group
to acquire ordinary shares of the Company at predetermined prices. The total fair value of share options granted
to employees is recognised as an expense with a corresponding increase in the share options reserve within
equity over the vesting period and taking into account the probability that the options will be vested.

The fair value of share options is measured at grant date, taking into account, if any, the market vesting conditions
upon which the options were granted but excluding the impact of any non-market vesting conditions. Non-market
vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the number of options that are expected to become
exercisable on vesting date.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (contd.)

2.22 Employee benefits (contd.)

(c) Share-based payments (contd.)

Employees' share options scheme ("ESOS") (contd.)

At the end of each reporting period, the Company revises its estimates of the number of options that are expected
to become exercisable on vesting date. The Company recognises the impact of the revision of original estimates,
if any, in profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to equity over the remaining vesting period.

2.23 Segment reporting

Operating segments are defined as components of the Group that:

(a) Engages in business activities from which it could earn revenues and incur expenses (including revenues and
expenses relating to transactions with other components of the Group);

(b) Whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker of the Group (i.e. the
Group’s Chief Executive Officer) in making decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assessing
its performance; and

(c) For which discrete financial information is available.

An operating segment may engage in business activities for which it has yet to earn revenues.

The Group reports separately information about each operating segment that meets any of the following quantitative
thresholds:

(a) Its reported revenue, including both sales to external customers and intersegment sales or transfers, is ten percent
(10%) or more of the combined revenue, internal and external, of all operating segments.

(b) The absolute amount of its reported profit or loss is ten percent (10%) or more of the greater, in absolute amount of:

(i) the combined reported profit of all operating segments that did not report a loss; and

(ii) the combined reported loss of all operating segments that reported a loss.

(c) Its assets are ten percent (10%) or more of the combined assets of all operating segments.

Operating segments that do not meet any of the quantitative thresholds may be considered reportable, and separately
disclosed, if the management believes that information about the segment would be useful to users of the financial
statements.

Total external revenue reported by operating segments shall constitute at least seventy five percent (75%) of the revenue
of the Group. Operating segments identified as reportable segments in the current financial period in accordance with
the quantitative thresholds would result in a restatement of prior period segment data for comparative purposes.

2.24 Contingencies

A contingent liability or asset is a possible obligation or asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be
confirmed only by the occurrence or non- occurrence of uncertain future event(s) not wholly within the control of the
Group and of the Company.

Contingent liabilities and assets are not recognised in the statements of financial position of the Group and of the
Company.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (contd.)

2.25 Current versus non-current classification

The Group and the Company present assets and liabilities in the statements of financial position based on current/non-
current classification. An asset is current when it is:

- expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in normal operating cycle;

- held primarily for the purpose of trading;

- expected to be realised within 12 months after the reporting period; or

- cash or cash equivalents unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least 12 months
after the reporting period.

All other assets are classified as non-current. 

A liability is current when:

- it is expected to be settled in normal operating cycle;

- it is held primarily for the purpose of trading;

- it is due to be settled within 12 months after the reporting period; or

- there is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting
period.

The Group and the Company classify all other liabilities as non-current.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets and liabilities.

3. Significant accounting judgements and estimates

The preparation of the Group's and of the Company's financial statements requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities, at the reporting date. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in
outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in the future periods.

3.1 Critical judgements made in applying accounting policies

In the process of applying the Group’s and the Company’s accounting policies, management has made the following
judgements, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

(a) Determining the lease term of contracts with renewal and termination options - Group as lessee

The Group determines the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together with any periods covered
by an option to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or any periods covered by an option
to terminate the lease, if it is reasonably certain not to be exercised.

The Group included the renewal period as part of the lease term for leases of properties with shorter non-
cancellable period such as one to three years. The Group typically exercises its option to renew for these leases
because there will be a significant negative effect on operation if a replacement asset is not readily available.
The renewal periods for leases with longer non-cancellable periods are not included as part of the lease term as
these are not reasonably certain to be exercised. Furthermore, the periods covered by termination options are
included as part of the lease term only when they are reasonably certain not to be exercised.
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3. Significant accounting judgements and estimates (contd.)

3.1 Critical judgements made in applying accounting policies (contd.)

(a) Determining the lease term of contracts with renewal and termination options - Group as lessee
(contd.)

The Group included the renewal period as part of the lease term for leases of properties with shorter non-
cancellable period such as one to six years. The Group typically exercises its option to renew for these leases
because there will be a significant negative effect on operation if a replacement asset is not readily available.
The renewal periods for leases with longer non-cancellable periods are not included as part of the lease term as
these are not reasonably certain to be exercised. Furthermore, the periods covered by termination options are
included as part of the lease term only when they are reasonably certain not to be exercised.

3.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainties

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation and uncertainty at the reporting date,
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year are discussed below:

(a) Impairment of goodwill

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually and other times when such indicators exist. This requires management
to estimate the expected future cash flows of the CGU to which goodwill is allocated and to apply a suitable
discount rate in order to determine the present value of those cash flows. The future cash flows are most sensitive
to terminal growth rates and pre-tax discount rate used. If the expectation is different from estimation, such
difference will impact the carrying value of goodwill. The carrying amount of goodwill as at 30 June 2021 was
RM193,045,000 (2020: RM193,045,000). Further details are disclosed in Note 14(a).

(b) Impairment of loans and receivables

The Group assesses at each reporting date impairments on financial assets at amortised cost to be based on a
forward-looking ECL model. ECL is the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the
terms of the contract and the cash flows the Group expects to receive. The Group applies the simplified approach,
which allows expected lifetime credit losses to be recognised for trade receivables. The ECL is determined based
on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and
the economic environment. The carrying amount of the Group's financial assets at amortised cost at reporting
date is disclosed in Note 18.

(c) Leases - Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in the lease, therefore, it uses its incremental borrowing
rate ("IBR") to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the Group would have to pay to borrow
over a similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the
right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the Group ‘would have to
pay’, which requires estimation when no observable rates are available or when they need to be adjusted to
reflect the terms and conditions of the lease. The Group estimates the IBR using incremental borrowing rate in the
accounting period in which the leases commence.
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4. Revenue

                                                                                                          Group                           Company
                                                                                              1.7.2020      1.9.2019      1.7.2020      1.9.2019
                                                                                                        to                to                to                to
                                                                                           30.6.2021    30.6.2020    30.6.2021    30.6.2020
                                                                                               RM'000        RM'000        RM'000        RM'000

Revenue from contracts with customer
Hospital and ancillary services                                                   177,041       136,039                   -                   -
Clinic services                                                                            16,703         13,240                   -                   -
Clinic rental income                                                                      1,897           1,390                   -                   -
Hospital administration fee                                                            1,906           1,504                   -                   -
Membership fees                                                                               17                22                   -                   -

                                                                                                197,564       152,195                   -                   -

Revenue from other sources
Dividend income from subsidiaries                                                          -                   -         13,372           3,000
Others                                                                                         3,460           1,211                   -                   -

                                                                                                    3,460           1,211         13,372           3,000

Total revenue                                                                              201,024       153,406         13,372           3,000

Timing of revenue recognition
Goods and services at a point in time                                           201,024       153,406                   -                   -

5. Other income

                                                                                                            Group                           Company
                                                                                              1.7.2020      1.9.2019      1.7.2020      1.9.2019
                                                                                                        to                to                to                to
                                                                                           30.6.2021    30.6.2020    30.6.2021    30.6.2020
                                                                                               RM'000        RM'000        RM'000        RM'000

Rental income                                                                                   700              523                   -                   -
Bad debt recovered                                                                           136                   -                   -                   -
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment                                 23                  5                   -                   -
Gain on liquidation of a subsidiary                                                        39                   -                   -                   -
Gain on derecognition of lease liability (Note 23(b))                               27                   -                   -                   -
Rental concessions (Note 23(b))                                                              1              223                   -                   -
Reversal of allowance for expected credit loss on amount 
due from subsidiaries (Note 18(d))                                                          -                   -           5,727                   -

Reversal of impairment on investment in subsidiaries (Note 16)                    -                   -              301                   -
Others                                                                                              137              650                   -                   -

                                                                                                    1,063           1,401           6,028                   -
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6. Finance costs

                                                                                                                                                    Group
                                                                                                                                      1.7.2020      1.9.2019
                                                                                                                                                to                to
                                                                                                                                   30.6.2021    30.6.2020
                                                                                                                                       RM'000        RM'000

Interest expense on:
- lease liabilities (Note 23(b))                                                                                                     293              261
- term loans                                                                                                                                57                61
- finance lease obligation - industrial hire purchase                                                                         68                   -
- unwinding discount on provision for restoration (Note 22)                                                             23                   -

                                                                                                                                                441              322

7. Profit before tax

In addition to the other items disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the following items have been included in
arriving at profit before tax:

                                                                                                            Group                           Company
                                                                                              1.7.2020      1.9.2019      1.7.2020      1.9.2019
                                                                                                        to                to                to                to
                                                                                           30.6.2021    30.6.2020    30.6.2021    30.6.2020
                                                                                               RM'000        RM'000        RM'000       RM'000

Auditors’ remuneration:
- statutory audit (EY Malaysia)                                                           180              175                51                46
- other services (EY Malaysia)                                                                5                  5                  5                  5

Director's remuneration, excluding benefits-in-kind (Note 9):
- Executive Directors                                                                      1,108           1,162                   -                   -
- Non-Executive Directors                                                                  297              245              297              245

Inventory written off                                                                           129                   -                   -                   -
Property, plant and equipment (Note 13):
- depreciation                                                                             12,079           9,247                   -                   -
- written off                                                                                       50                  9                   -                   -
- loss on disposal                                                                               19                  1                   -                   -

Depreciation of investment property (Note 15)                                        45                   -                   -                   -
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 14)                                           896              697                   -                   -
Expenses related to short-term leases (Note 23(b)):
- equipment                                                                                     161                99                   -                   -
- premises                                                                                         95                60                   -                   -

Allowance for expected credit losses:
- trade receivables (Note 18(a))                                                         840              500                   -                   -
- other receivables (Note 18(d))                                                              -                   -                   -           1,156

Realised loss on foreign exchange                                                           5                  4                    -                   -
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8. Staff costs

                                                                                                            Group                           Company
                                                                                              1.7.2020      1.9.2019      1.7.2020      1.9.2019
                                                                                                        to                to                to                to
                                                                                           30.6.2021    30.6.2020    30.6.2021    30.6.2020
                                                                                               RM'000        RM'000        RM'000        RM'000

Salaries, wages and bonuses                                                         46,888         41,105                   -                   -
Social security contributions                                                                684              573                   -                   -
Contributions to defined contribution plans                                        6,317           5,427                   -                   -
Fair value charges on share options granted under ESOS                       121                63                   -                32
Allowances                                                                                    6,806           5,218                   -                   -
Other benefits                                                                                3,943           3,020                   -                   -

                                                                                                  64,759        55,406                   -                32

The Directors' remuneration of the Group and of the Company are disclosed in Note 9.

9. Directors' remuneration

                                                                                                            Group                           Company
                                                                                              1.7.2020      1.9.2019      1.7.2020      1.9.2019
                                                                                                        to                to                to                to
                                                                                           30.6.2021   30.6.2020    30.6.2021    30.6.2020
                                                                                               RM'000        RM'000        RM'000       RM'000

Executive Directors' remuneration:
Salaries and bonuses (Note 7)                                                       1,108           1,162                   -                    -
Estimated money value of benefits-in-kind:
- ESOS expense                                                                               40                32                   -                32
- other emoluments                                                                         171              165                   -                    -

                                                                                                    1,319           1,359                   -                32

Non-Executive Directors' remuneration:
Director fees (Note 7)                                                                       297              245              297              245
Estimated money value of benefits-in-kind:
- ESOS expense                                                                               81                51                81                51
- other emoluments                                                                           27              136                27                36

                                                                                                       405              432              405              332

Total Directors' remuneration including benefits-in-kind                        1,724           1,791              405              364
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9. Directors' remuneration (contd.)

The number of Directors of the Company whose total remuneration during the financial year fell within the following bands
(excluding the award of ESOS) are analysed below:

                                                                                                                                         Number of Directors
                                                                                                                                      1.7.2020      1.9.2019
                                                                                                                                                to                to
                                                                                                                                   30.6.2021    30.6.2020

Executive Directors:
RM350,001 - RM400,000                                                                                                              1                  1
RM850,001 - RM900,000                                                                                                              1                   -
RM900,001 - RM950,000                                                                                                               -                  1

Non-Executive Directors:
Below RM50,000                                                                                                                            -                  1
RM50,001 - RM100,000                                                                                                                5                  4

10. Income tax expense

                                                                                                            Group                           Company
                                                                                              1.7.2020      1.9.2019      1.7.2020      1.9.2019
                                                                                                        to                to                to                to
                                                                                           30.6.2021    30.6.2020    30.6.2021    30.6.2020
                                                                                               RM'000        RM'000        RM'000        RM'000

Statements of comprehensive income:
Current income tax:
Malaysian income tax                                                                     5,727           2,456              255              513
Under/(over) provision in prior financial period/year                            653              498                  3               (16)

                                                                                                    6,380           2,954              258              497

Deferred income tax (Note 24):
Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences                  832           1,571                   -                   -
Underprovision in prior financial period/year                                       206              620                   -                   -

                                                                                                    1,038           2,191                   -                   -

                                                                                                    7,418           5,145              258              497

Domestic current income tax is calculated at the Malaysian statutory tax rate of 24% (2020: 24%) of the estimated assessable
profit for the financial year.

Taxation for other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in the respective jurisdictions.
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10. Income tax expense (contd.)

The reconciliation between tax expense and the product of accounting profit multiplied by the applicable corporate tax rate
for the respective financial year/period are as follows:

                                                                                                            Group                           Company
                                                                                              1.7.2020      1.9.2019      1.7.2020      1.9.2019
                                                                                                        to                to                to                to
                                                                                           30.6.2021    30.6.2020   30.6.2021    30.6.2020
                                                                                               RM'000        RM'000        RM'000       RM'000

Profit before tax                                                                            27,672         18,420         19,343          2,816

Taxation at Malaysian statutory 
tax rate of 24% (2020: 24%)                                                         6,641           4,421           4,642              676

Effect of expenses not deductible for tax purposes                                 241              906          (1,178)             557
Income not subject to tax                                                                         -                   -          (3,209)            (720)
Expenses capitalised but deductible for tax purposes                            (877)                  -                   -                   -
Effect of utilisation of prior period unrecognised investment
tax allowance                                                                                      -          (1,539)                  -                   -

Deferred tax assets not recognised during the financial
year/period                                                                                    554              239                   -                   -

Under/(over) provision of income tax in prior financial
period/year                                                                                   653              498                  3               (16)

Underprovision of deferred tax in prior financial
period/year                                                                                    206              620                   -                   -

                                                                                                    7,418           5,145              258              497

11. Earnings per ordinary share

(a) Basic

Basic earnings per ordinary share is calculated by dividing the profit for the financial year/period, net of tax,
attributable to owners of the parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the financial
year/period.

                                                                                                                                             Group
                                                                                                                               1.7.2020      1.9.2019
                                                                                                                                         to                to
                                                                                                                            30.6.2021    30.6.2020

Profit attributable to owners of the parent (RM'000)                                                            20,254        13,275

Weighted average number of ordinary shares
in issue ('000)                                                                                                         1,741,882    1,741,882

Basic earnings per share (sen)                                                                                             1.16             0.76
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11. Earnings per ordinary share (contd.)

(b) Diluted

For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share, the profit for the financial year/period attributable to owners
of the parent and the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the financial year/period have
been adjusted for the dilutive effects of all potential ordinary shares.

                                                                                                                                             Group
                                                                                                                               1.7.2020      1.9.2019
                                                                                                                                         to                to
                                                                                                                            30.6.2021   30.6.2020

Profit attributable to owners of the parent (RM'000)                                                            20,254         13,275

Weighted average number of ordinary shares
in issue ('000)                                                                                                         1,741,882    1,741,882

Diluted earnings per share (sen)                                                                                           1.16             0.76

There was no dilution in the earning per share of the Group in the current financial year and previous financial period
as the share price of the Company as at reporting date was lower than the exercise prices. The effect of assumed
conversion ESOS outstanding will be anti-dilutive and as such, the diluted earning per share is the same as the basic
earning per share.

12. Dividends

                                                                                                                                            Group/Company
                                                                                                                                      1.7.2020       1.9.2019
                                                                                                                                                to                to
                                                                                                                                   30.6.2021    30.6.2020
                                                                                                                                       RM'000       RM'000

Recognised during the financial year/period:

First and final single-tier dividend in respect
of financial year ended 31 August 2019 of 0.2013 sen
ordinary share paid on 25 March 2020                                                                                          -           3,506

First and final single-tier dividend in respect
of financial period ended 30 June 2020 of 0.1678 sen
ordinary share paid on 4 January 2021                                                                                  2,923                   -

A first and final single-tier dividend in respect of the financial year ended 30 June 2021, of 0.2215 sen per ordinary share
had been declared on 24 August 2021. The financial statements for the current financial year do not reflect this proposed
dividend. Such dividend will be accounted for in equity as an appropriation of retained profits in the following financial
year end.
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13. Property, plant and equipment (contd.)

During the financial year, the Group made the following cash payments to purchase property, plant and equipment:

                                                                                                                                                      Group
                                                                                                                                           2021            2020
                                                                                                                                       RM'000        RM'000

Purchase of property, plant and equipment                                                                             122,137       150,226
Right of use assets                                                                                                                     (582)            (377)
Provision for restoration costs (Note 22)                                                                                       (221)                  -
Interest capitalised                                                                                                                  (3,656)            (607)
Unsettled and remained as other payables                                                                              (14,997)       (12,889)
Others (Note 21)                                                                                                                         (49)                  -

Cash payments on purchase of property, plant and equipment                                                  102,632       136,353 

14. Intangible assets

Intangible assets represent goodwill arising from acquisition of a subsidiary and computer software.

                                                                                                                                      Computer
                                                                                                                 Goodwill     software            Total
                                                                                                                   RM'000        RM'000       RM'000
                                                                                                                            (a)               (b)

Group

2021

Cost
At 1 July 2020                                                                                               193,045           5,088       198,133
Additions                                                                                                                    -              890              890

At 30 June 2021                                                                                            193,045           5,978       199,023

Accumulated amortisation and impairment
At 1 July 2020                                                                                                           -           3,184           3,184
Amortisation charge for the financial year (Note 7)                                                         -              896              896

At 30 June 2021                                                                                                        -           4,080           4,080

Net carrying amount                                                                                   193,045           1,898       194,943

2020

Cost
At 1 September 2019                                                                                      193,045           4,882       197,927
Additions                                                                                                                   -              206              206

At 30 June 2020                                                                                            193,045           5,088       198,133

Accumulated amortisation and impairment
At 1 September 2019                                                                                                  -           2,487           2,487
Amortisation charge for the financial period (Note 7)                                                      -              697              697

At 30 June 2020                                                                                                         -           3,184           3,184

Net carrying amount                                                                                   193,045           1,904       194,949
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14. Intangible assets (contd.)

(a) Goodwill

Goodwill has been allocated to the operating division of the Group, which represents the lowest level within the Group
at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes. The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to
the CGU of the Group is as follow:

                                                                                                                                               Group
                                                                                                                                    2021           2020
                                                                                                                                RM'000        RM'000

Healthcare services segment                                                                                          193,045       193,045  

Healthcare services segment represents a subsidiary, BB Waterfront Sdn. Bhd., which was acquired by the Company
on 23 June 2015.

For the purpose of impairment testing, the recoverable amount of a CGU is determined based on its value in use. The
value in use is determined by discounting the pre-tax cash flows based on financial forecast and financial projections
approved by the management based on the following key assumptions:

                                                                                                                                       2021           2020
                                                                                                                                         %                %

Terminal growth rate                                                                                                             3.0               3.5
Pre-tax discount rate                                                                                                             6.6               6.8

(i) Terminal growth rate

Rate is based on management expectation of the terminal growth rate used to extrapolate cash flows beyond the
budget period.

(ii) Pre-tax discount rate

The pre-tax discount rate reflects the market assessment of the risks specific to the CGU. This reflected the
management's best estimate of return on capital employed in the Group.

(iii) Revenue growth rate

Revenue growth rate is determined based on management’s estimate of the number of beds, occupancy rate,
average length of stay and inflation rate based on the industry trends and past performances of the segment.

The management believes that there is no reasonably possible change in the key assumptions on which management
has based its determination of the CGU’s recoverable amount, which would cause the CGU’s carrying amount to
materially exceed its recoverable amount.

Based on the annual impairment testing undertaken by the Group, no impairment loss is required for the carrying
amount of the goodwill as at 30 June 2021.

(b) Computer software

Computer software represents license, professional services, data migration and integration of PMO software that are
not an integral part of property, plant and equipment. Software assets are recorded at cost and have finite useful life
based on the term of the license or other contractual basis. The cost is amortised over the asset's expected useful life.
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15. Investment property

                                                                                                                                                                Group
                                                                                                                                                                2021
                                                                                                                                                            RM'000

Cost

At the beginning of financial year                                                                                                                          -
Transfer from property, plant and equipment                                                                                                   2,978

At 30 June 2021                                                                                                                                         2,978

Accumulated depreciation

At the beginning of financial year                                                                                                                          -
Transfer from property, plant and equipment                                                                                                      655
Depreciation charge for the financial year (Note 7)                                                                                              45

At 30 June 2021                                                                                                                                            700

Net carrying amount                                                                                                                               2,278

Rental income derived from investment property                                                                                                   14

Estimated fair value at the end of financial year

Freehold building                                                                                                                                         4,600

The fair value of investment property for disclosure purposes, which is at Level 3 fair value, was recommended by the
Directors as at the end of reporting year based on indicative market value of similar properties in the vicinity on a price per
square feet basis prior to COVID-19 pandemic. The current market was slightly affected due to current pandemic situation,
however, the property market will rebound after the pandemic and the current market value is not the willing selling price
by the Group. Prior to COVID-19 pandemic, the Directors are of the opinion that this value adopted is fair and reasonable
for disclosure purposes. Any changes in the price per square feet will result in a reasonable change in the fair value of the
investment properties.

As at the end of the financial year, the investment property of the Group has been charged to a bank for credit facilities
granted to the Company as disclosed in Note 21 to the financial statements.
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16. Investment in subsidiaries

                                                                                                                                                    Company
                                                                                                                                           2021            2020
                                                                                                                                       RM'000        RM'000

Unquoted shares at cost
- ordinary shares                                                                                                               381,564       381,564
- redeemable preference shares                                                                                           261,089       150,000

Less: Accumulated impairment losses                                                                                                 -             (301)

                                                                                                                                         642,653      531,263
Add: Equity contribution to subsidiaries pursuant to ESOS                                                            1,088              967

                                                                                                                                         643,741      532,230

Movement in impairment accounts:

                                                                                                                                                    Company
                                                                                                                                           2021            2020
                                                                                                                                       RM'000        RM'000

At the beginning of financial year/period                                                                                    (301)            (301)
Reversal during the year/period (Note 5)                                                                                      301                   -

At the end of financial year/period                                                                                                   -             (301)

During the financial year, the Company increased its investment in subsidiaries amounting to RM111,089,000 (2020:
RM48,000,000) by way of capitalisation of certain amounts due from subsidiaries.

Details of the subsidiaries are as follows:

                                                                                                             Proportion                     Non-
Name of                     Country of                                                        of ownership               controlling
subsidiaries            incorporation            Principal activities                 interest                     interests

                                                                                                         2021         2020         2021        2020
                                                                                                           %              %              %             %

Thomson Hospitals           Malaysia               Multi-disciplinary                 100           100              -               -
Sdn. Bhd.                                                  tertiary care

                                                                  services
                                                                                                                                
IVF Technologies              Malaysia                Provision of fertility              100           100              -                -
Sdn. Bhd.                                                  services and

                                                                  operation of
                                                                  women’s clinic                                        

TMC Biotech                    Malaysia               Provision of fertility              100           100             -                -
Sdn. Bhd.                                                  consultancy, laboratory

                                                                  and embryology  
                                                                  services and research
                                                                  and development
                                                                  
TMC Lifestyle                   Malaysia               Development, marketing       100           100              -                -
Sdn. Bhd.                                                    and management of
                                                                  healthcare programmes

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 145

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
30 June 2021



16. Investment in subsidiaries (contd.)

Details of the subsidiaries are as follows (contd.):

                                                                                                             Proportion                     Non-
Name of                     Country of                                                        of ownership               controlling
subsidiaries            incorporation            Principal activities                 interest                     interests

                                                                                                         2021         2020         2021        2020
                                                                                                           %              %              %             %

TMC Properties                Malaysia               Property investment             100           100              -                -
Sdn. Bhd.                                                   

Thomson TCM                 Malaysia               Provision of traditional          100           100              -                -
Sdn. Bhd.                                                   and complementary 

                                                                  services
                                                                  
BB Waterfront                  Malaysia                Provision of healthcare         100            100              -                 -

Sdn. Bhd.                                                   services

TMC Care                       Malaysia                Provision of pharmacy          100            100              -                 -
Sdn. Bhd.                                                   services and products

i) Subsidiaries of Thomson Hospitals Sdn. Bhd.

TMC Women’s                Malaysia               Business of operating           100           100              -               -
Specialist Holdings                                     fertility centres and
Sdn. Bhd.                                                  providing related

                                                                  services

PT Tropicana                   Indonesia               Liquidated                             -               96               -               4
Healthcare
Indonesia*#

* Audited by firms of auditors other than Ernst & Young
# The non-controlling interest of the subsidiary is deemed to be immaterial to the Group.

Accordingly, the disclosures required by MFRS 12: Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities are not presented.

PT Tropicana Healthcare Indonesia (“PTTHI”), a 95.57% owned indirect subsidiary of the Company, had been liquidated
with effect from 26 January 2021 following the notification of deregistration dated 26 January 2021 issued by Republic
of Indonesia Ministry of Law and Human Right Indonesia. The liquidation of PTTHI did not give rise to any material effect
on the earnings or net assets of the Group for the financial year ended 30 June 2021.

17. Inventories

                                                                                                                                                      Group
                                                                                                                                           2021           2020
                                                                                                                                       RM'000        RM'000

At cost:

Pharmaceutical products                                                                                                           4,503           5,326
Medical and consumable supplies                                                                                             5,793           6,139

                                                                                                                                           10,296         11,465

During the financial year, the amount of inventories recognised as an expense in cost of sales of the Group was
RM66,762,000 (2020: RM49,637,000).
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18. Trade and other receivables

                                                                                                            Group                             Company
                                                                               Note            2021            2020            2021            2020
                                                                                               RM'000        RM'000        RM'000       RM'000

Trade receivables
Third parties                                                                               18,931         17,368                   -                   -
Less: Allowance for expected credit losses                                      (5,586)         (5,464)                  -                   -

Trade receivables, net                                                 (a)           13,345         11,904                   -                   -

Other receivables
Other receivables                                                       (b)             9,811         10,492             281              727
Amounts due from subsidiaries                                      (c)                      -                   -           2,761         94,188
Deposits                                                                                      1,251           1,315                  1                  1
Prepayments                                                                                2,314           2,447              343              333

                                                                                                  13,376         14,254           3,386         95,249

Less: Allowance for expected credit losses:
         - other receivables                                                                   (202)            (252)                  -                   -
         - amounts due from subsidiaries                                                      -                   -                   -          (5,887)

                                                                                                      (202)            (252)                  -          (5,887)

Other receivables, net                                                 (d)           13,174         14,002           3,386         89,362

Total trade and other receivables                                                    26,519         25,906           3,386         89,362
Less: Prepayments                                                                          (2,314)         (2,447)            (343)            (333)
Add: Cash and bank balances (Note 19)                                      139,906       136,456         49,122         59,056

Total financial assets carried at amortised cost                               164,111       159,915         52,165       148,085  

(a) Trade receivables

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30 to 60 (2020: 30 to 60) days terms. Other credit
terms are assessed and approved on a case-by-case basis. Trade receivables are recognised at their original invoice
amounts which represent their fair values on initial recognition.

Ageing analysis of trade receivables

The ageing analysis of the Group's total trade receivables is as follows:

                                                                                                                                               Group
                                                                                                                                    2021            2020
                                                                                                                                RM'000       RM'000

Neither past due nor impaired                                                                                           8,365           7,303

1 to 30 days past due not impaired                                                                                    2,786           2,100
31 to 60 days past due not impaired                                                                                  1,106              415
61 to 90 days past due not impaired                                                                                     246              565
91 to 120 days past due not impaired                                                                                   141              647
More than 121 days past due not impaired                                                                            701              874

Past due but not impaired                                                                                                  4,980           4,601
Impaired                                                                                                                         5,586           5,464

                                                                                                                                    18,931        17,368
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18. Trade and other receivables (contd.)

(a) Trade receivables (contd.)

Receivables that are neither past due nor impaired

Trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are creditworthy debtors with good payment records with the
Group. The Group uses ageing analysis to monitor the credit quality of the trade receivables. Any receivables having
significant balances past due or more than 90 days, which are deemed to have higher credit risk, are monitored
individually.

Receivables that are past due but not impaired

The Group has trade receivables amounting to RM4,980,000 (2020: RM4,601,000) that are past due at the reporting
date but not impaired.

These receivables are unsecured. Management is confident that these receivables are recoverable as these accounts
are still active.

Receivables that are past due and impaired

The Group's trade receivables that are impaired at the reporting date and the movement of the allowance accounts
used to record the expected credit losses are as follows:

                                                                                                                                               Group
                                                                                                                                    2021            2020
                                                                                                                                RM'000        RM'000

Trade receivables - nominal amount                                                                                    5,586           5,464
Less: Allowance for expected credit losses                                                                          (5,586)         (5,464)

                                                                                                                                              -                   -

Movement in allowance accounts:

                                                                                                                                               Group
                                                                                                                                    2021            2020
                                                                                                                                RM'000        RM'000

At the beginning of financial year/period                                                                           5,464           8,999
Allowance for expected credit losses (Note 7)                                                                         840              500
Written off                                                                                                                         (718)         (4,035)

At the end of financial year/period                                                                                    5,586           5,464

Trade receivables that are individually determined to be impaired at the reporting date relate to debtors that are in
significant financial difficulties and have defaulted on payments. These receivables are not secured by any collateral
or credit enhancements.

(b) Other receivables

Other receivables of the Group include patient billings made on behalf of doctors amounting to RM8,891,000 (2020:
RM9,149,000) reclassified from trade receivables balance to conform with current year’s presentation. Other
receivables are unsecured and non-interest bearing.
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18. Trade and other receivables (contd.)

(c) Amounts due from subsidiaries

The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, non-interest bearing and are repayable upon demand.

(d) Other receivables

Other receivables that are impaired

The Group's and the Company's other receivables that are impaired at the reporting date and the movement of the
allowance accounts used to record the expected credit losses are as follows:

                                                                                                            Group                             Company
                                                                                            2021            2020            2021            2020
                                                                                        RM'000        RM'000        RM'000        RM'000

Other receivables
- nominal amount                                                                      202              252                   -           5,887

Less: Allowance for expected credit losses                                    (202)            (252)                  -          (5,887)

                                                                                                     -                   -                   -                   -

Movement in allowance accounts:

At the beginning of financial year/period
- other receivables                                                                    252              252                   -                   -
- amounts due from subsidiaries                                                       -                   -           5,887           4,731

Allowance for expected credit losses
- amounts due from subsidiaries                                                                                                                      

- addition (Note 7)                                                                       -                   -                   -           1,156
- write back (Note 5)                                                                    -                   -          (5,727)                  -

Written off
- other receivables                                                                     (50)                  -                   -                   -
- amounts due from subsidiaries                                                       -                   -             (160)                  -

At the end of financial year/period                                              202              252                   -           5,887

Included in other receivables of the Group is an amount of RM78,883 (2020: RM78,883) owing from a related
company. Information arising from related party transaction on these outstanding balances are disclosed in Note 28.

19. Cash and bank balances

                                                                                                            Group                             Company
                                                                                            2021           2020            2021            2020
                                                                                        RM'000        RM'000        RM'000        RM'000

Cash at banks and on hand                                                    81,521         76,282           3,510         10,270
Deposits with licensed banks                                                   58,385         60,174         45,612         48,786

                                                                                         139,906      136,456         49,122         59,056

(a) Included in deposits with licensed banks of the Group is an amount of RM548,000 (2020: RM500,000) which is
pledged as securities for facilities granted to the Group.

(b) Cash restricted in use of the Group amounting to RM1,343,000 (2020: Nil) are assigned and charged as security for
a Debt Service Reserve Account.
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19. Cash and bank balances (contd.)

(c) The weighted average EIR and average maturity of deposits of the Group and of the Company at the reporting date
were as follows:

                                                                                                             Group                            Company
                                                                                            2021            2020            2021            2020

Weighted average effective fixed interest rates (%)                        2.04             3.20             2.07             3.34
Range of maturities (months)                                                        1-12             1-12               2-6               3-6

For the purpose of statements of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following:

                                                                                                           Group                            Company
                                                                                            2021            2020           2021           2020
                                                                                        RM'000        RM'000       RM'000        RM'000

Cash at banks and on hand                                                   81,521         76,282          3,510         10,270
Deposits with licensed banks                                                   58,385         60,174         45,612         48,786

                                                                                         139,906       136,456         49,122         59,056

Less:
Deposits with licensed banks 
(for more than 3 months)                                                   (32,688)       (39,259)       (32,612)       (37,612)

Deposit pledged to a licensed bank                                           (548)            (500)                  -                   -
Cash restricted in use                                                            (1,343)                  -                   -                   -

Total cash and cash equivalents                                             105,327         96,697         16,510         21,444

20. Trade and other payables

                                                                                                             Group                            Company
                                                                               Note            2021            2020            2021            2020
                                                                                               RM'000        RM'000        RM'000        RM'000

Trade payables
Third parties                                                               (a)           16,430         13,772                   -                   -

Other payables
Amounts due to subsidiaries                                         (b)                     -                   -                  5              848
Other payables                                                           (c)           45,015        35,508               29                34
Deposits received                                                                            670              603                   -                   -
Accruals                                                                                    10,713         18,119             457              542

                                                                                                  56,398        54,230              491           1,424

Total trade and other payables                                                       72,828         68,002              491           1,424
Add: Borrowings (Note 21)                                                         174,603        88,400                   -                   -

Total financial liabilities carried at amortised cost                           247,431       156,402              491           1,424

(a) Trade payables

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and the normal trade credit terms granted to the Group ranged from 30 to 90
(2020: 30 to 90) days.
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20. Trade and other payables (contd.)

(b) Amounts due to subsidiaries

The amounts due to subsidiaries are unsecured, non-interest bearing and are repayable upon demand.

(c) Other payables

Other payables of the Group include patient billings made on behalf of doctors and payable to doctors upon collection
from patients, amounting to RM15,474,000 (2020: RM14,347,000) reclassified from trade payables balance to
conform with current year’s presentation. Other payables are non-interest bearing. Other payables are normally settled
on an average term of two months (2020: average term of two months).

Included in other payables of the Group as at end of the previous financial period is an amount of RM8,436 owing to
related companies. Information arising from related party transactions of these outstanding balances are disclosed in
Note 28.

21. Borrowings

                                                                                                                                             Group
                                                                                                                  Maturity            2021            2020
                                                                                                                                       RM'000       RM'000

Current
Lease liabilities                                                                                                  2022              1,447           1,544
Secured:
Term loans                                                                                                      2022                   99                62
Finance lease obligation - industrial hire purchase                                               2022                 894                   -

                                                                                                                                             2,440           1,606

Non-current
Lease liabilities                                                                                            2023 - 2028        4,305           5,210
Secured:
Term loans                                                                                                 2023 - 2030    164,772         81,584
Finance lease obligation - industrial hire purchase                                          2023 - 2025        3,086                   -

                                                                                                                                         172,163        86,794

Total borrowings
Lease liabilities (Note 23(b))                                                                                                     5,752           6,754
Secured:
Term loans                                                                                                                        164,871         81,646
Finance lease obligation - industrial hire purchase                                                                     3,980                   -

                                                                                                                                         174,603        88,400

As at reporting date, the weighted average EIR for the borrowings were as follows:

                                                                                                                                               Group
                                                                                                                                           2021            2020
                                                                                                                                                %                 %

Floating rate
Term loans                                                                                                                              3.34             3.88
Finance lease obligation - industrial hire purchase                                                                       3.26                   -

Fixed rate
Lease liabilities                                                                                                                        4.55             4.55
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21. Borrowings (contd.)

The remaining maturities of the borrowings as at 30 June 2021 and 30 June 2020 are as follows:

                                                                                                                                               Group
                                                                                                                                           2021            2020
                                                                                                                                       RM'000        RM'000

On demand                                                                                                                            2,440           1,606
1 to 2 years                                                                                                                            9,479           1,409
3 to 5 years                                                                                                                          79,916         47,646
> 5 years                                                                                                                             82,768         37,739

                                                                                                                                         174,603        88,400

On 8 April 2010, a wholly-owned subsidiary, TMC Properties Sdn. Bhd. ("TMCP"), has entered into a term loan facility of
up to RM2,125,000 with Public Bank Berhad to finance the purchase of a unit of 3 ½ storey shop office located at Bandar
Puchong Jaya. The first drawdown was made in May 2010, and the first principal repayment shall commence in June 2010.
The term loan is secured by a first legal charge over an investment property of the Group as disclosed in Note 15 and a
corporate guarantee from the Company as disclosed in Note 30(a).

On 14 January 2020, a wholly-owned subsidiary, Thomson Hospitals Sdn. Bhd. ("THSB"), has entered into a term loan
facility of up to RM300 million with Malayan Banking Berhad to facilitate the construction of hospital related expansions
plan undertaken by THSB at Kota Damansara, Petaling Jaya ("the Project") with development cost of the Project. The first
drawdown was made on 11 March 2020, and the first principal repayment shall commence on the 36-month from the date
of first drawdown.

The securities for THSB's facilities are as follows:

(i) First legal charge over the development land intended for the building to be erected thereon;
(ii) Corporate Guarantee from the Company; and
(iii) General debenture by way of fixed and floating charge over the present and future assets of the Project under the term

loan facility.

The term loans are secured by corporate guarantees from the Company as disclosed in Note 30(a) and charges over a
long term leasehold land, a building and assets under construction of the Group as disclosed in Note 13 and Note 15.

On 30 October 2020, THSB has entered into an industrial hire purchase facility up to RM4,410,000 with OCBC Bank
Berhad to finance the purchase of a medical equipment. The hire purchase was drawdown in December 2020, and the first
principal repayment shall commence in the same month. The hire purchase is secured by corporate guarantee from the
Company as disclosed in Note 30(a).
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21. Borrowings (contd.)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

                                                                                                                                            Non-
                                                                                                                    Current        current            Total
                                                                                                                   RM'000        RM'000        RM'000

Group

At 1 July 2020                                                                                                   1,606         86,794         88,400
Cash flows                                                                                                        (2,391)        87,625        85,234
Non-cash changes (Note 13)                                                                                        -                49                49
Lease liabilities                                                                                                     (229)          1,138              909
Reclassifications                                                                                                  3,443          (3,443)                  -
Other changes                                                                                                         11                   -                11

At 30 June 2021                                                                                                2,440       172,163       174,603

Group

At 1 September 2019                                                                                               88           1,542           1,630
Effect of adoption of MFRS 16                                                                              1,130           6,495           7,625

                                                                                                                         1,218           8,037           9,255
Cash flows                                                                                                        (1,218)        81,216         79,998
Lease liabilities                                                                                                           -             (853)            (853)
Reclassifications                                                                                                  1,606          (1,606)                  -

At 30 June 2020                                                                                                1,606         86,794        88,400

Included in the other changes are the effects of accrued but not yet paid interest on interest-bearing loans and borrowings.

22. Provision

                                                                                                                                       Restoration costs 
                                                                                                                                    of property, plant 
                                                                                                                                      and equipment

                                                                                                                                           2021            2020
                                                                                                                                       RM'000        RM'000
Group

At beginning of financial year/period                                                                                           320              320
Arising during the financial year/period (Note 13)                                                                         221                   -
Reversal                                                                                                                                      (20)                  -
Unwinding discount (Note 6)                                                                                                          23                   -

At the end of financial year/period                                                                                              544              320

Current                                                                                                                                      181              278

Non-current:
- More than 2 years and less than 7 years                                                                                     363                42

                                                                                                                                                544              320

Provision for restoration costs are the estimated costs of dismantling, removal or restoration of property, plant and equipment
arising from the use of such assets.
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23. Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for various properties and equipment used in its operations. Leases of properties generally
have lease terms between 1 to 9 years. The Group’s obligation under its leases is secured by the lessor’s title to the leased
assets. There are several lease contracts that include extension options, which are further discussed below.

The Group also has certain leases of premises with lease terms of 12 months or less. The Group applies the ‘short-term
lease’ recognition exemptions for these leases.

(a) Right-of-use assets

The carrying amounts of right-of-use assets recognised and the movements during the financial year is disclosed in
Note 13 to the financial statements under right-of-use assets-building category and long term leasehold land category.

The leases of premises are mainly used for the Group's hospital operation and clinics, except for six of the premises
used for the Group's office and one of the premise used for staff hostel.

(b) Lease liabilities

Set out below are the carrying amounts of lease liabilities and the movements during the financial year/period:

                                                                                                                                               Group
                                                                                                                                    2021            2020
                                                                                                                                RM'000        RM'000

At the beginning of financial year/period                                                                           6,754                   -
Effect of adoption of MFRS 16                                                                                                    -           7,625

                                                                                                                                      6,754           7,625
Additions (Note 13)                                                                                                             582              377
Derecognition                                                                                                                    (322)                  -
Modification                                                                                                                       357                   -
Interest expense on lease liabilities (Note 6)                                                                           293              261
Payments                                                                                                                       (1,911)         (1,286)
Rental concessions (Note 5)                                                                                                     (1)            (223)

At the end of financial year/period                                                                                    5,752           6,754

The Group has applied the practical expedient to account for the rental concessions as if the change was not a lease
modification. The rental concessions are mainly related to the leases of premises used for the Group's operation for clinics.

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities are disclosed in Note 31. 

The following are the amounts recognised in profit or loss:

                                                                                                                                               Group
                                                                                                                                    2021            2020
                                                                                                                                RM'000        RM'000

Depreciation expense of right-of-use assets:
- long term leasehold land (Note 13)                                                                                   204              170
- building (Note 13)                                                                                                       1,732           1,376

Interest expense on lease liabilities (Note 6)                                                                           293              261
Rental concessions (Note 5)                                                                                                     (1)            (223)
Expenses related to short-term leases (Note 7):
- equipment                                                                                                                       161                99
- premises                                                                                                                           95                60

Derecognition of lease liability (Note 5)                                                                                  (27)                  -

Total amount recognised in profit or loss                                                                              2,253           1,573

During the year, the Group had total cash outflows for leases of RM2,167,000 (2020: RM1,445,000). The Group
also had non-cash additions to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of RM582,000 (2020: RM377,000).
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24. Deferred tax assets/(liabilities)

                                                                                                                                                      Group
                                                                                                                                           2021            2020
                                                                                                                                       RM'000       RM'000

At the beginning of financial year/period                                                                              (21,599)       (19,408)
Recognised in profit or loss (Note 10)                                                                                       (1,038)         (2,191)

At the end of financial year/period                                                                                        (22,637)       (21,599)

The Group offsets tax assets and liabilities if and only if it has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets and
current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same tax
authority.

The components and movements of deferred tax assets and liabilities during the financial year before and after offsetting
are as follows:

Deferred tax assets of the Group

                                                                                                                 Provisions    Offsetting            Total
                                                                                                                   RM'000        RM'000        RM'000

At 1 September 2019                                                                                          2,737          (2,737)                  -
Recognised in profit or loss                                                                                     (436)             436                   -

At 30 June 2020                                                                                                2,301          (2,301)                  -

At 1 July 2020                                                                                                   2,301          (2,301)                  -
Recognised in profit or loss                                                                                    (713)             713                   -

At 30 June 2021                                                                                                1,588          (1,588)                  -

Deferred tax liabilities of the Group

                                                                                             Fair value
                                                                                          adjustment     Property,
                                                                                         on business    plant and
                                                                                        combination   equipment    Offsetting            Total
                                                                                               RM'000       RM'000       RM'000       RM’000

At 1 September 2019                                                                  (16,573)         (5,572)          2,737        (19,408)
Recognised in profit or loss                                                                      -          (1,755)            (436)         (2,191)

At 30 June 2020                                                                         (16,573)         (7,327)          2,301        (21,599)

At 1 July 2020                                                                            (16,573)         (7,327)          2,301        (21,599)
Recognised in profit or loss                                                                      -             (325)            (713)         (1,038)

At 30 June 2021                                                                         (16,573)         (7,652)          1,588        (22,637)
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24. Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) (contd.)

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following items:

                                                                                                                                                      Group
                                                                                                                                           2021            2020
                                                                                                                                       RM'000        RM'000

Unused tax losses                                                                                                                    9,547           8,398
Unabsorbed capital allowances                                                                                                2,252           1,095

                                                                                                                                           11,799           9,493

Deferred tax benefit at 24% (2020: 24%), if recognised                                                              2,832           2,278

The availability of unused tax losses for offsetting against future taxable profits of the respective subsidiaries are subject to
a 7-year limitation on the carry forward of those losses under the Finance Bill 2018 and guidelines issued by the tax authority.
The availability of unused tax losses and unabsorbed capital allowances for offsetting against future taxable profits of the
respective subsidiaries are also subject to no substantial changes in shareholdings of the respective subsidiaries under Income
Tax Act, 1967 and guidelines issued by the tax authority. Deferred tax assets of certain subsidiaries have not been recognised
as it is not probable that their future taxable profits will be available against which they may be utilised.

25. Share capital

                                                                                                                               Group/Company 
                                                                                                   Number of shares                  Amount
                                                                                                   2021            2020            2021            2020
                                                                                                    '000             '000        RM'000        RM'000

Issued and fully paid                                                                1,741,882    1,741,882       625,986       625,986

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote
per share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets.

26. Reserves

                                                                                                             Group                            Company
                                                                               Note            2021           2020           2021            2020
                                                                                               RM'000        RM'000        RM'000        RM'000
Distributable: 

Retained profits                                                           27         159,967       142,636         66,188         50,026

Non distributable:
Share options reserve                                                  (a)             3,668           3,466           3,668           3,466
Foreign exchange translation reserve                            (c)                     -                30                   -                   -

                                                                                                    3,668           3,496           3,668           3,466

(a) Share options reserve

The share options reserve represents the effect of equity-settled share options granted to employees. This reserve is
made up of the cumulative value of services received from employees recorded on the grant date of share options.
When options are exercised, the amount from the share options reserve is transferred to share capital. The share options
reserve in relation to the unexercised options at the expiry of the share option scheme will be transferred to retained
profits.
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26. Reserves (contd.)

(b) Employees' share options scheme

The Company implemented an ESOS, which is in force for a period of five (5) years until 28 May 2020 ("the option
period"). On 28 April 2020, the Company resolved to extend the duration of the exercisable of unexercised ESOS
shares, expired on 28 May 2020 for another 5 years to 28 May 2025 in accordance with the provisions of the ESOS
By-Laws.

The main features of the ESOS are as follows:

(i) Eligible Directors and employees must be at least eighteen (18) years of age on the Date of Offer, who are
confirmed on the Date of Offer (in respect of Employee only) and have served full time for at least a period of one
(1) year of continuous services before the date of offer;

(ii) The total number of shares offered under the ESOS shall not, in aggregate, exceed 15% of the issued and paid-
up ordinary share capital (excluding treasury shares) of the Company at any time during the existence of the
ESOS;

(iii) The option price per ordinary share under ESOS granted in 2015 and 2021 were RM0.75, 2017 and 2018
were RM0.94 respectively;

(iv) The option granted to an Eligible Person shall be subject to a minimum of one hundred (100) Options and in
multiples of one hundred (100) Options and is subject to the following:

- Not more than 10% of the shares available under the ESOS shall be allocated to an eligible person, who
either singly or collectively through persons connected with eligible persons, holds 20% or more of the issued
and paid-up ordinary share capital (excluding treasury shares of the Company);

(v) An option granted under ESOS in 2015, 2017, 2018 and 2021 may be exercised by the grantee upon achieving
the vesting conditions set by the ESOS Committee and is subject to the allotment of shares over the vesting periods
of 10 years, 8.34 years, 7.44 years, 6.67 years and 4.53 years, respectively after the extension of another 5
years of exercisable period; and

(vi) The shares shall on issue and allotment rank pari passu in all respect with the then existing issued shares of the
Company.

The details of the options over the ordinary shares of the Company are as follows:

                                                                          Number of options over ordinary shares       Exercisable
                                                             Option price     1.7.2020     Granted   Exercised        Lapsed  30.6.2021  30.6.2021
                                                           RM         '000         '000         '000         '000         '000         '000

Grant date

11 June 2015                                       0.75       7,500               -               -      (3,500)      4,000       4,000
28 August 2015                                   0.75       5,066               -               -         (455)      4,611       4,611
25 January 2017                                 0.94       3,550               -               -           (80)      3,470       3,470
19 December 2017                              0.94               -               -               -               -               -               -
26 September 2018                              0.94       2,000               -               -               -       2,000       2,000
17 November 2020                              0.75               -     10,000               -               -     10,000     10,000

                                                                       18,116     10,000               -      (4,035)    24,081     24,081

There was no share options exercised during the financial year.
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26. Reserves (contd.)

(b) Employees' share options scheme (contd.)

The fair value of share options granted during the financial year were estimated by using a Black-Scholes Model, taking
into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. The key inputs of the options are as follows:

                                                                                                                          
                                                                                                               Grant dates

                                                17.11.2020   26.9.2018  19.12.2017   25.1.2017   28.8.2015   11.6.2015

ESOS expiry date                         28.5.2025 28.5.2025* 28.5.2025* 28.5.2025* 28.5.2025* 28.5.2025*
Share price at grant date 
(per share)                                   RM0.535     RM0.735     RM0.940     RM0.940     RM0.520     RM0.635

Potentially dilutive share price 
(per share)                                   RM0.535     RM0.735     RM0.940     RM0.940     RM0.512     RM0.625

Exercise price per share 
at grant date                                RM0.750     RM0.940     RM0.940     RM0.940     RM0.750     RM0.750

Historical volatility                             29.81%       20.94%       22.06%       17.79%       36.73%       36.73%
Risk free rate of return 
at grant date                                    2.11%         3.44%         3.19%         3.40%         3.91%         3.63%

Dividend yield                                    0.38%         0.21%         0.21%         0.16%         0.57%         0.57%

* In the previous financial period, the Company resolved to extend the duration of the exercisable of unexercised
ESOS shares, expired on 28 May 2020 for another 5 years to 28 May 2025 in accordance with the provisions
of the ESOS By-Laws.

(c) Foreign exchange translation reserve

In the previous financial period, the exchange translation reserve was used to record foreign currency exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations whose functional currency were
different from that of the Group’s presentation currency. It was also used to record the exchange differences arising
from monetary items which form part of the Group’s net investment in foreign operations, where the monetary item
was denominated in either the functional currency of the reporting entity or the foreign operation.

27. Retained profits

The Company may distribute dividends out of its entire retained profits as of 30 June 2021 and 30 June 2020 under the
single-tier system.

28. Related party transactions

(a) In addition to the related party information disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the following significant
transactions between the Group and the Company with related parties took place at terms agreed between the parties
during the financial year/period:

                                                                                                      Group                            Company
                                                                                            2021           2020           2021           2020
                                                                                        RM'000        RM'000        RM'000        RM'000

Administration service charges payable to:
- subsidiaries                                                                                 -                   -              355              502
- related companies                                                                       -                47                   -                   -

Dividend income from a subsidiary                                                    -                   -         13,372           3,000

Procurement of services from:
- related companies                                                                    92           1,301                   -                   -

Related companies are fellow subsidiaries of ultimate holding company and shareholder controlled companies.

The transactions between related parties are set on terms mutually agreed between the parties.

Information regarding outstanding balances arising from related party transactions as at 30 June 2021 and 30 June
2020 are disclosed in Note 18 and Note 20.
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28. Related party transactions (contd.)

(b) Compensation of key management personnel

Key management personnel is defined as those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and
controlling the activities of the Group and of the Company, directly or indirectly including any Directors of the Group.

                                                                                                      Group                            Company
                                                                                            2021            2020            2021            2020
                                                                                        RM'000       RM'000        RM'000        RM'000

Short term employee benefits                                                    2,089           2,085                   -                   -
Share options granted under ESOS                                                 44                17                   -                17

                                                                                             2,133           2,102                   -                17

29. Commitments

(a) Capital commitments

Capital expenditure as at 30 June 2021 and 30 June 2020 are as follows:

                                                                                                                                               Group
                                                                                                                                    2021           2020
                                                                                                                                RM'000       RM'000

Capital expenditure in respect of purchase of property, plant and equipment:
- approved and contracted for                                                                                      106,356       159,757
- approved but not contracted for                                                                                        136              143

                                                                                                                                  106,492       159,900

(b) Operating lease commitments - the Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its property. The leases have remaining non-cancellable
lease terms of between one to three years. Certain leases include a clause to enable upward revision of the rental
charge upon renewal of tenancy based on prevailing market conditions.

Future minimum rentals receivable under non-cancellable operating leases at the reporting date are as follows:

                                                                                                                                               Group
                                                                                                                                    2021            2020
                                                                                                                                RM'000       RM'000

Not later than 1 year                                                                                                           431              396
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years                                                                           339              224

                                                                                                                                         770              620
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30. Guarantees and contingencies

(a) Financial guarantees

                                                                                                                                             Company 
                                                                                                                                    2021            2020
                                                                                                                                RM'000        RM'000

Unsecured

Corporate guarantees given to licensed bank for banking
facility granted to wholly-owned subsidiaries                                                                 168,851         81,646

Letter of guarantee given to suppliers                                                                                  3,535           1,067

                                                                                                                                  172,386         82,713

No value has been placed on the corporate guarantees provided by the Company as the Directors regard the value
of the credit enhancement provided by the said corporate guarantees as minimal. This is because the credit facilities
granted under the guarantees are collateralised by fixed charges over a long term leasehold land, buildings, assets
under construction and medical equipment of the Group as disclosed in Note 13 and Note 15.

(b) Contingent liabilities

The Group is subject to litigations in the ordinary course of business, mainly arising from its subsidiary's hospital
operations. The Directors are of the opinion, based on legal advice, management assessment and sufficiency of medical
malpractice insurance, that no significant exposure will arise that requires recognition.

31. Financial instruments

(a) Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s and the Company's financial risk management policy seeks to ensure that adequate financial resources
are available for the development of the Group’s and of the Company's businesses whilst managing their interest rate
risks (both fair value and cash flow), liquidity risk and credit risk. The Board reviews and agrees policies for managing
each of these risks and they are summarised below.

(b) Interest rate risk

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes
in market interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due
to changes in market interest rates. The Group’s and the Company's income and operating cash flows are substantially
independent of changes in market interest rates.

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from interest-bearing borrowings. Borrowings at floating rates expose the
Group to cash flow interest rate risk. Deposits with licensed banks at fixed rates expose the Group to fair value interest
rate risk. The Group manages its interest rate exposure by maintaining a mix of fixed and floating rate of interest.
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31. Financial instruments (contd.)

(b) Interest rate risk (contd.)

Sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates on that portion of
deposits with licensed banks and borrowing affected. With all other variables held constant, the Group’s profit before
tax are affected through the impact on floating rate borrowings, as follows:

                                                                                                                       Increase/
                                                                                                                      (decrease)       (Decrease)/increase
                                                                                                                in basis points        in profit before tax

                                                                                                                               1.7.2020      1.9.2019
                                                                                                                                         to                to
                                                                                                                            30.6.2021    30.6.2020
                                                                                                                                RM'000        RM'000

Group

Borrowing - floating rate                                                                                    25             (422)            (204)
                                                                                                                     (25)             422              204

(c) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group or the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting financial obligations due to
shortage of funds. The Group's and the Company's exposure to liquidity risk arises primarily from mismatches of the
maturities of financial assets and liabilities. The Group’s and the Company's objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of stand-by credit facilities.

The Group and the Company actively manage their debt maturity profile, operating cash flows and the availability of
funding so as to ensure that all refinancing, repayment and funding needs are met. As part of its overall prudent liquidity
management, the Group and the Company maintain sufficient levels of cash or cash equivalents and credit facilities to
meet their working capital requirements as well as the expansion. At the reporting date, approximately 1.4% (2020:
1.8%) of the Group's loans and borrowings (Note 21) will mature in less than one year based on the carrying amount
reflected in the financial statements.

Analysis of financial instruments by remaining contractual maturities

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group's and of the Company's liabilities at the reporting date
based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations.

                                                                                               On          1 to 5
                                                                                       demand           years     > 5 years            Total
                                                                                        RM'000        RM'000        RM'000        RM'000

2021

Group

Financial liabilities:
Trade and other payables                                                      72,828                   -                   -         72,828
Lease liabilities                                                                       1,671           3,825              963           6,459
Borrowings                                                                             6,522       104,390         84,905       195,817

Total undiscounted financial liabilities                                       81,021       108,215         85,868       275,104

Company

Financial liabilities:
Trade and other payables, representing total
undiscounted financial liabilities                                                 491                   -                   -              491 
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31. Financial instruments (contd.)

(c) Liquidity risk (contd.)

Analysis of financial instruments by remaining contractual maturities (contd.)

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group's and of the Company's liabilities at the reporting date
based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations (contd.).

                                                                                               On          1 to 5
                                                                                       demand           years     > 5 years            Total
                                                                                        RM'000        RM'000        RM'000        RM'000

2020

Group

Financial liabilities:
Trade and other payables                                                       68,002                   -                   -         68,002
Lease liabilities                                                                        1,811           4,214           1,647           7,672
Borrowings                                                                             2,801         54,787         37,047         94,635

Total undiscounted financial liabilities                                      72,614        59,001         38,694       170,309

Company

Financial liabilities:
Trade and other payables, representing total

undiscounted financial liabilities                                              1,424                   -                   -           1,424

(d) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument, leading to a financial
loss. The Group is exposed to credit risk from its operating activities (primarily trade and other receivables) and from
its financing activities, including deposits with banks and financial institutions.

The Group's objective is to seek continual revenue growth while minimising losses incurred due to increased credit risk
exposure. The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties. It is the Group's policy that all
customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In addition, receivable
balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Group's exposure to bad debts is not significant.

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses.
The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of various customer type and rating. The calculation
reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and supportable information that
is available at the reporting date about past events and current conditions of economic conditions.

Exposure to credit risk

At the reporting date, the Group's maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each
class of financial assets recognised in the statements of financial position.

Information regarding credit enhancements for trade and other receivables is disclosed in Note 18.

Credit risk concentration profile

The Group’s major concentration of credit risk relates to the amounts owing by 10 (2020: 10) customers, which
constituted approximately 45% (2020: 50%) of its trade receivables as at the end of the reporting period.
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31. Financial instruments (contd.)

(d) Credit risk (contd.)

Financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired

Information regarding trade and other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired is disclosed in Note 18.
Deposits with banks and other financial institutions that are neither past due nor impaired are placed with reputable
financial institutions.

Financial assets that are either past due or impaired

Information regarding financial assets that are either past due or impaired is disclosed in Note 18.

(e) Fair values

Financial instruments that are not carried at fair value and whose carrying amounts are reasonable approximation of
fair value

The following are classes of financial instruments that are not carried at fair value and whose carrying amounts are
reasonable approximation of fair value:

                                                                                                                                                 Note
Trade and other receivables                                                                                                            18
Cash and bank balances                                                                                                                19
Trade and other payables                                                                                                               20
Borrowings - with floating rate                                                                                                         21

The carrying amounts of these financial assets and liabilities are reasonable approximation of fair values, either due
to their short-term nature or that they are floating rate instruments that are re-priced to market interest rates on or near
the reporting date as the impact of discounting is immaterial.

32. Capital management

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue in operations as a
going concern in order to provide fair returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal
capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. In order to maintain the optimal capital structure, the Group may, from time to
time, adjust the dividend payout to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares, redeem debts or sell
assets to reduce debts, where necessary.

The Group considers its capital to comprise its ordinary share capital, retained profits, share options reserve and its foreign
exchange translation reserve which are classified as equity in the statement of financial position.

Pursuant to the requirements of Practice Note No.17/2005 of the Bursa Malaysia Securities, the Group is required to
maintain a consolidated shareholders’ equity equal to or not less than the 25% of the issued and paid-up share capital
(excluding treasury shares) and such shareholders’ equity is not less than RM40.0 million. The Group has complied with this
requirement for the financial year ended 30 June 2021.
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33. Segment information

No segmental information is provided as the Group is primarily involved in the healthcare industry and the Group’s activities
are predominantly in Malaysia.

Financial information is presented to management in accordance with the measurement policies of MFRS and IFRS. There
are no adjustments or eliminations made in preparing the Group's financial statements from the reportable segment revenues,
profit or loss, assets and liabilities.

Major customers

The Group does not have significant reliance on a single major customer, with whom the Group transacted ten percent
(10%) or more of its revenue during the financial year.

34. Significant event

The new Delta variant of the SARS-CoV2-2019 virus has led to a resurgence of COVID-19 cases worldwide. COVID-19 still
at a critical point where high number reported and increasing trend in worldwide. Throughout the pandemic, private
healthcare players in Malaysia have supported the government in pandemic control from participating in the National
COVID-19 Immunisation Plan, to treating COVID-19 patients and accepting non-COVID-19 patients from government
hospitals in an effort to create more COVID-19 ICU beds. In addition, occupational health and safety has become extremely
important as frontliners risk not only infection but also burnout from the volume of highly acute cases. The Group remains
cautious of the current trajectory of COVID-19 cases in Malaysia and neighbouring countries and will continue to assess
and innovate its responses to the challenges posed by this ongoing pandemic.
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                                                                   Approximate                                                                                 Net book
                                             Description/                age of                                       Gross                                  value at
Location                               Existing use              building       Land area        floor area             Tenure    30.06.2021
                                                                                 (years)    (square feet)    (square feet)                                   RM'000

Land and building at             Private hospital              13.75         261,369          235,256        Leasehold          70,023
Lot No. 11,                                                                                                                          for 99 years                     
Jalan Teknologi                                                                                                                           expiring 
Taman Sains Selangor 1                                                                                                      17 April 2108
PJU 5, Kota Damansara                                                                                                                           
47810 Petaling Jaya
Selangor Darul Ehsan

Shoplot at                            Ground Floor -               12.75             1,873              6,625          Freehold            2,278
No. 5, Jalan Merbah 3         Rented 
Bandar Puchong Jaya           1st Floor - Vacant
47800 Puchong                   2nd Floor - Vacant
Selangor Darul Ehsan            3rd Floor - Vacant

PTB No.24436,                    Vacant                                  -         180,292                      -          Freehold        180,000
Title No. H.S (D) 566005      A parcel of 
Town District of                     development land
Johor Bahru State of              approved for
Johor Darul Takzim                develoment of
(Located along                      private medical
Jalan Stulang Darat,              centre
in the vicinity of                     
Stulang Darat,
Johor Bahru)
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NUMBER OF ISSUED SHARES      :    1,741,882,393 ORDINARY SHARES
CLASS OF SHARES                     :    ORDINARY SHARES 
VOTING RIGHTS                         :    ONE VOTE PER ORDINARY SHARE
NUMBER OF SHAREHOLDERS      :    4,104

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS

                                                                                       No. of                  % of                 No. of         % of Issued
Size of Holding                                                   Shareholders    Shareholders                Shares      Share Capital

LESS THAN 100                                                                    187                  4.55                  6,773                    0.00
100 TO 1,000                                                                      407                  9.92              235,741                    0.01
1,001 TO 10,000                                                              1,710                41.67         10,468,265                    0.60
10,001 TO 100,000                                                          1,495                36.43         52,714,397                    3.03
100,001 TO LESS THAN
5% OF ISSUED SHARES                                                       303                  7.38       323,819,062                  18.59

5% AND ABOVE OF
ISSUED SHARES                                                                      2                  0.05    1,354,638,155                  77.77

TOTAL                                                                             4,104              100.00    1,741,882,393                100.00

THIRTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS
(WITHOUT AGGREGATING SECURITIES FROM DIFFERENT SECURITIES ACCOUNTS BELONGING TO THE SAME
REGISTERED HOLDER)

                                                                                                                                             No. of       % of Issued
  No.     Name                                                                                                                    Shares    Share Capital
                                                                                                                                                        
    1.      UOB KAY HIAN NOMINEES (ASING) SDN. BHD.                                            1,221,638,155                 70.13
             [QUALIFIER: UOB KAY HIAN PTE. LTD. FOR SASTERIA (M) PTE. LTD.]                                                                    
                                                                                                                                                        
    2.      DYAM TUNKU ISMAIL IBNI SULTAN IBRAHIM                                                      133,000,000                   7.64

    3.      HSBC NOMINEES (ASING) SDN. BHD.                                                                83,641,300                   4.80
             [QUALIFIER: EXEMPT AN FOR CREDIT SUISSE (HK BR-TST-ASING)]                                                                       
                                                                                                                                                        
    4.      CIMSEC NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN. BHD.                                                       35,000,000                   2.01
             [QUALIFIER: CIMB FOR SIOW WONG YEN @ SIOW KWANG HWA (PB)]                                                          
                                                                                                                                                        
    5.      UOB KAY HIAN NOMINEES (ASING) SDN. BHD.                                                  30,933,933                   1.76
             [QUALIFIER: EXEMPT AN FOR UOB KAY HIAN PTE. LTD. (A/C CLIENTS)]                                                             

    6.      CGS-CIMB NOMINEES (ASING) SDN. BHD.                                                         16,566,600                   0.95
             [QUALIFIER: EXEMPT AN FOR CGS-CIMB SECURITIES  
             (SINGAPORE) PTE. LTD. (RETAIL CLIENTS)]                                                                                                         

    7.      LEMBAGA TABUNG AMANAH WARISAN NEGERI TERENGGANU                         13,109,300 0.75

    8.      HSBC NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN. BHD.                                                          12,380,350                   0.71
             [QUALIFIER: EXEMPT AN FOR CREDIT SUISSE AG (SG-CLT-T-OS PR)]                                                                    

9.      MERCSEC NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN. BHD.                                                      5,658,800                   0.32
             [QUALIFIER: PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR
             SIOW WONG YEN @ SIOW KWANG HWA]

   10.     ALLIANCEGROUP NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN. BHD.                                           5,130,000                   0.30
             [QUALIFIER: PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR
             SIOW WONG YEN @ SIOW KWANG HWA (7003958)]
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THIRTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS
(WITHOUT AGGREGATING SECURITIES FROM DIFFERENT SECURITIES ACCOUNTS BELONGING TO THE SAME
REGISTERED HOLDER) (contd.)

                                                                                                                                             No. of       % of Issued
  No.     Name                                                                                                                    Shares    Share Capital
                                                                                                                                                        
   11.     LIM GAIK BWAY @ LIM CHIEW AH                                                                        4,708,400                   0.27

   12.     SURINDER SINGH A/L RANBIR SINGH                                                                   4,533,333                   0.26

   13.     MERCSEC NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN. BHD.                                                      4,150,000                   0.24
             [QUALIFIER: PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR HO LIH MENG]

   14.     MERCSEC NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN. BHD.                                                      4,065,000                   0.23
             [QUALIFIER: PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR WONG FUEI BOON]

   15.     MAYBANK NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN. BHD.                                                     2,400,000                   0.14
             [QUALIFIER: PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR LIM ZHONG YONG]

   16.     CHIEW POH CHENG                                                                                           2,300,000                   0.13

   17.     MERCSEC NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN. BHD.                                                      2,150,000                   0.12
             [QUALIFIER: PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR NG AIK SERN]

  18.     UOB KAY HIAN NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN. BHD.                                              1,915,100                   0.11
             [QUALIFIER: EXEMPT AN FOR UOB KAY HIAN PTE. LTD. (A/C CLIENTS)]

   19.     WONG WAI KONG                                                                                            1,850,000                   0.11

   20.     KOH CHUN CHEUK                                                                                             1,550,000                   0.09

   21.     ALLIANCEGROUP NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN. BHD.                                           1,520,000                   0.09
             [QUALIFIER: PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR 
             WONG WAI KONG (7003764)]

   22.     MOHD SALLEH BIN HJ HARUN                                                                              1,517,600                   0.09

   23.     HOOI THIEN ENG                                                                                                1,419,466                   0.08

   24.     AFFIN HWANG NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN. BHD.                                              1,300,000                   0.08
             [QUALIFIER: PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR YEW
             BOON HEAN (YEW0048C)]

   25.     TAN LI LIAN                                                                                                         1,300,000                   0.08

   26.     MAYBANK NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN. BHD.                                                     1,286,598                   0.08
             [QUALIFIER: CHIEW LIK ING]

   27.     CHAI KOK KUM                                                                                                   1,274,500                   0.07

   28.     LEMBAGA TABUNG AMANAH WARISAN NEGERI TERENGGANU                           1,230,200                   0.07

   29.     SU MING YAW                                                                                                    1,227,000                   0.07

   30.     MAYBANK NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN. BHD.                                                     1,159,000                   0.07
             [QUALIFIER: CHOW HUNG KHIM]                                                                                         

                                                                                                                              1,599,914,635                91.85
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ SHAREHOLDINGS AS PER REGISTER OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

                                                                                                Direct                                         Indirect
Name                                                                    No. of Shares       % of Issued   No. of Shares         % of Issued
                                                                                          Held    Share Capital                  Held      Share Capital

SASTERIA (M) PTE. LTD.                                           1,221,638,155                 70.13                         -                           -
SASTERIA PTE. LTD.                                                                       -                         -  1,221,638,155(1)                  70.13
LIM ENG HOCK                                                                           -                         -  1,221,638,155(2)                  70.13
DYAM TUNKU ISMAIL IBNI                                         133,000,000                   7.64                         -                           -
SULTAN IBRAHIM

THOMSON MEDICAL GROUP                                                       -                         - 1,221,638,155(3)                  70.13
LIMITED

Notes:

(1) Deemed interested through its 100% shareholdings in Sasteria (M) Pte. Ltd. pursuant to Section 8 of the Companies Act,
2016.

(2) Deemed interested by virtue of his ultimate shareholdings in Sasteria (M) Pte. Ltd., Sasteria Pte. Ltd. and Thomson Medical
Group Limited pursuant to Section 8 of the Companies Act, 2016.

(3) Deemed interested through its 100% shareholdings in Sasteria (M) Pte. Ltd. and Sasteria Pte. Ltd. pursuant to Section 8 of
the Companies Act, 2016.

DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDINGS AS PER REGISTER OF DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDING

                                                                                       Ordinary Shares                                          ESOS
                                                                            Direct                             Indirect
Name                                                                                             % of                                       % of                                              
                                                                              No. of             Issued             No. of             Issued             No. of                      
                                                                            Shares             Share            Shares             Share            Option  % of Option
                                                                               Held            Capital                Held            Capital         Granted       Granted#

DATO’ SRI MOHD MOKHTAR                                 -                   -                   -                   -    2,000,000            8.31
BIN MOHD SHARIFF                                             

GARY HO KUAT FOONG                                      -                   -                   -                   -    2,000,000            8.31
CLAIRE LEE SUK LENG                                           -                   -                   -                   -    2,000,000            8.31
WAN NADIAH BINTI WAN                                    -                   -                   -                   -    4,000,000          16.61

MOHD ABDULLAH YAAKOB                                  
KAN KHEONG NG                                               -                    -                    -                    -     2,000,000            8.31
DR. LAM LEE G                                                      -                    -                    -                    -     2,000,000            8.31
WILSON SAM                                                       -                    -                    -                    -                    -                   -

Notes:

# Based on the options granted as at 1 September 2021 under Employees’ Share Option Scheme (“ESOS”)
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL 
GENERAL MEETING

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Nineteenth Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held on a fully virtual basis
via online meeting platform hosted on Securities Services e-Portal at https://sshsb.net.my/ provided by SS E Solutions Sdn. Bhd.
at Level 7, Menara Milenium, Jalan Damanlela, Pusat Bandar Damansara, Damansara Heights, 50490 Kuala Lumpur, Wilayah
Persekutuan on Wednesday, 3 November 2021 at 10:00 a.m. for the following purposes: 

AGENDA

1. To receive the Audited Financial Statements for the financial year ended 30 June 2021 together
with the Reports of the Directors and the Auditors thereon.

2. To approve the declaration and payment of a final single-tier dividend of 0.2215 sen per
ordinary share in respect of the financial year ended 30 June 2021. 

3. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees amounting to RM500,000 for the financial year
ending 30 June 2023.

4. To approve the payment of Directors’ benefits amounting to RM120,000 for the financial year
ending 30 June 2023.

5. To re-elect the following Directors who are due to retire pursuant to Clause 97 of the Company’s
Constitution and being eligible, have offered themselves for re-election:

(a) Ms. Wan Nadiah binti Wan Mohd Abdullah Yaakob; and

(b) Mr. Kan Kheong Ng.

6. To re-appoint Ernst & Young PLT as the Company’s Auditors until the conclusion of the next Annual
General Meeting and to authorise the Directors to fix their remuneration.

AS SPECIAL BUSINESS

To consider and, if thought fit, with or without any modification, to pass the following ordinary
resolutions:

7. AUTHORITY TO ISSUE SHARES PURSUANT TO THE COMPANIES ACT 2016

“THAT subject to the Companies Act 2016 and approvals of the relevant
governmental/regulatory authorities, the Directors be and are hereby empowered to issue and
allot shares in the Company, at any time to such persons and upon such terms and conditions
and for such purposes as the Directors may, in their absolute discretion, deem fit, provided that
the aggregate number of shares to be issued does not exceed ten per centum (10%) of the total
number of issued shares of the Company for the time being and that the Directors be and are
also empowered to obtain the approval for the listing of and quotation for the additional shares
so issued on Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad;

AND THAT such authority shall commence immediately upon the passing of this Resolution and
continue to be in force until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company.”

8. RETENTION OF MR. GARY HO KUAT FOONG AS AN INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTOR

“THAT Mr. Gary Ho Kuat Foong be and is hereby retain as an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company in accordance with the Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance.”

(Please refer to
Explanatory Note 1)

(Resolution 1)

(Resolution 2)

(Resolution 3)

(Resolution 4)

(Resolution 5)

(Resolution 6)

(Resolution 7)

(Resolution 8)
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9. RETENTION OF MS. CLAIRE LEE SUK LENG AS AN INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTOR

“THAT Ms. Claire Lee Suk Leng be and is hereby retain as an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company in accordance with the Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance.”

10 SPECIAL RESOLUTION
- PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO THE CONSTITUTION OF THE COMPANY

“THAT approval be and is hereby given for the Company to amend its existing Clause 142 in
the form and manner as set out in Appendix I of the Annual Report 2021; 

AND THAT the Directors be and are hereby authorised to assent to any modifications, variations
and/or amendments as may be required by any relevant authorities and to do all acts and take
all such steps as may be considered necessary to give effect to the foregoing.” 

11. To transact any other ordinary business for which due notice has been given.

NOTICE OF DIVIDEND ENTITLEMENT AND PAYMENT

NOTICE IS ALSO HEREBY GIVEN that a final single-tier dividend of 0.2215 sen per ordinary share in respect of the financial
year ended 30 June 2021, if approved by shareholders, will be payable on 3 January 2022 to shareholders whose names
appear in the Record of Depositors on 6 December 2021. 

A depositor shall qualify for entitlement to the dividend only in respect of: 

a) Securities transferred into the Depositor’s Securities Account before 4:30 p.m. on 6 December 2021 in respect of transfers;
and 

b) Securities bought on Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad on a cum entitlement basis according to the Rules of Bursa Malaysia
Securities Berhad. 

By Order of the Board

Chua Siew Chuan (SSM PC No. 201908002648) (MAICSA No.: 0777689)
Chin Mun Yee (SSM PC No. 201908002785) (MAICSA No.: 7019243)
Company Secretaries 

Kuala Lumpur
5 October 2021

(Resolution 9)

(Resolution 10)



Notes:

1. A member of the Company entitled to attend, participate, speak and vote at the Meeting is entitled to appoint not more than
two (2) proxies to attend, participate, speak and vote in his stead. A proxy may, but need not, be a member of the Company
and there shall be no restriction as to the qualification of the proxy. 

2. Where a member appoints two (2) proxies, he shall specify the proportions of his holdings to be represented by each proxy,
failing which, the appointment shall be invalid.

In light of the COVID-19 pandemic and the National Recovery Plan implemented by the Government of Malaysia, the
Securities Commission Malaysia had on 16 July 2021 revised its Guidance Note and FAQs on the Conduct of General
Meetings for Listed Issuers (“Guidance Note”), which states that listed issuers are encouraged to conduct fully virtual general
meetings during Phase 2, 3 and 4 of the National Recovery Plan and all meeting participants including the chairperson of
the meeting, board members, senior management and shareholders shall participate in the meeting online. 

According to the Guidance Note, an online meeting platform can be recognised as the meeting venue or place under
Section 327(2) of the Companies Act 2016 provided that the online platform is located in Malaysia.

3. Where a member is an authorised nominee as defined in the Securities Industry (Central Depositories) Act, 1991, such
member may appoint not more than two (2) proxies in respect of each securities account it holds in ordinary shares of the
Company standing to the credit of the said securities account. 

4. Where a member of the Company is an exempt authorised nominee which holds ordinary shares in the Company for multiple
beneficial owners in one securities account (“omnibus account”), there is no limit to the number of proxies which the exempt
authorised nominee may appoint in respect of each omnibus account it holds.

5. If no name is inserted in the space provided for the name of your proxy, the Chairman of the Meeting will act as your proxy. 

6. The appointment of a proxy may be made in a hard copy form or by electronic means in the following manner and must be
received by the Company not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time appointed for holding the Meeting at which
the person named in the appointment proposes to vote:

i. In hard copy form 
In the case of an appointment made in hard copy form, the proxy form must be deposited at SS E Solutions Sdn. Bhd.,
Level 7, Menara Milenium, Jalan Damanlela, Pusat Bandar Damansara, Damansara Heights, 50490 Kuala Lumpur,
Wilayah Persekutuan. 

ii. By electronic means via email 
In the case of an appointment made via email transmission, this proxy form must be received via email at
eservices@sshsb.com.my.

For option (ii), the Company will require the member to deposit the original executed proxy form as in (i) above no later
than Monday, 1 November 2021 at 10:00 a.m. for verification purpose.

iii. Online
In the case of an appointment made via online lodgement facility, please submit the proxy form electronically via
Securities Services e-Portal at https://sshsb.net.my/. 

7. Should you wish to personally participate at the Meeting remotely, please register electronically via Securities Services e-
Portal at https://sshsb.net.my/ by the registration cut-off date and time. Please refer to the Administrative Guide on the
Conduct of a Fully Virtual General Meeting for further details as attached in the Annual Report.

8. The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly authorised in
writing or, if the appointor is a corporation, either under the corporation’s seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney
duly authorised. The Directors may, but shall not be bound to require evidence of the authority of any such attorney or
officer. An instrument appointing a proxy to vote at a meeting shall be deemed to include the power to demand a poll on
behalf of the appointor.

9. For the purpose of determining who shall be entitled to attend this Meeting, the Company shall be requesting Bursa Malaysia
Depository Sdn. Bhd. to make available to the Company pursuant to Clause 62 of the Constitution of the Company, a Record
of Depositors as at 28 October 2021 and only a depositor whose name appears on such Record of Depositors shall be
entitled to attend this Meeting.
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Explanatory Notes to Ordinary and Special Business:

1. Audited Financial Statements for the financial year ended 30 June 2021

This Agenda is meant for discussion only as the provision of Section 340(1)(a) of the Companies Act 2016 does not require
a formal approval of the shareholders and hence, is not put forward for voting.

2. Resolution 2 - Directors’ fees

The proposed Resolution 2 is for the purpose of approving the payment of Directors’ fees amounting to RM500,000 for the
financial year ending 30 June 2023.

3. Resolution 3 - Directors’ benefits

The proposed Resolution 3 is for the purpose of approving the payment of Directors’ benefits amounting to RM120,000 for
the financial year ending 30 June 2023. The Directors’ benefits comprise meeting allowances. The total estimated amount
of Directors’ benefits payable is calculated based on the size of the Board of Directors and Board Committees and the
number of meetings estimated to be held during the financial year ending 30 June 2023.

Payment of the Directors’ benefits would be made by the Company on a monthly basis and/or as and when incurred if the
proposed Resolution 3 has been passed at the Nineteenth Annual General Meeting. The Board of Directors is of the view
that it is just and equitable for the Directors to be paid on Directors’ benefits on such basis, particularly after they have
discharged their responsibilities and rendered their services to the Company and its subsidiaries (if any) throughout the
period as stated therein. 

4. Resolution 7 - Authority to issue and allot shares

The proposed Resolution 7 is primarily to give flexibility to the Board of Directors to issue and allot shares to such persons
at any time in their absolute discretion without convening a general meeting. This authorisation will expire at the conclusion
of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company. 

This is the renewal of the mandate obtained from the members at the last Annual General Meeting (“the previous mandate”).
The purpose of this general mandate is for possible fund-raising exercises including but not limited to further placement of
shares, for purpose of funding current and/or future investment projects, working capital, repayment of borrowings and/or
acquisitions. 

The previous mandate was not utilised and accordingly no proceeds were raised.

5. Resolutions 8 and 9 - Retention of Mr. Gary Ho Kuat Foong and Ms. Claire Lee Suk Leng as an Independent Non-Executive
Directors

The proposed Resolution 8 is for the purpose of retaining Mr. Gary Ho Kuat Foong, who has served the Company for more
than nine (9) years as an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company and has met the independence guidelines
as set out in Chapter 1 of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Main Market Listing Requirements. The Board, therefore,
considers him to be independent and recommends that he should be retained as an Independent Non-Executive Director of
the Company.

The proposed Resolution 9 is for the purpose of retaining Ms. Claire Lee Suk Leng as an Independent Non-Executive Director
of the Company when she reaches her cumulative term of nine (9) years on 18 October 2021.

As at the date of the Notice of the AGM of the Company, Ms. Claire Lee Suk Leng has served the Company for almost nine
(9) years as an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company. She has met the independence guidelines as set out
in Chapter 1 of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Main Market Listing Requirements. The Board, therefore, considers her to
be independent and recommends that she should be retained as an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company.

6. Resolution 10 - Proposed Amendments to the Constitution of the Company

The proposed Resolution 10 is intended to update the Company’s Constitution to enable the signing of the minutes of meetings
via electronic means by the Chairman of the meeting at which the proceedings were held or by the Chairman of the next
succeeding meeting and if so signed, shall be conclusive evidence without any further proof of the facts thereon stated.
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PROXY 
FORM

or *THE CHAIRMAN OF THE MEETING, as *my/our *proxy/proxies, to vote for *me/us and on *my/our behalf at the NINETEENTH
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING of the Company to be held on a fully virtual basis via online meeting platform hosted on Securities
Services e-Portal at https://sshsb.net.my/ provided by SS E Solutions Sdn. Bhd. at Level 7, Menara Milenium, Jalan Damanlela, Pusat
Bandar Damansara, Damansara Heights, 50490 Kuala Lumpur, Wilayah Persekutuan on Wednesday, 3 November 2021 at 10:00
a.m. and at any adjournment thereof. 

Please indicate with an “X” in the spaces provided, how you wish your vote to be cast in respect of the following resolutions. In the
absence of specific directions, your proxy may vote or abstain at his/her discretion. If you appoint two (2) proxies, please specify the
proportions of holdings to be represented by each proxy. 

*My/our *proxy/proxies *is/are to vote as indicated below:

      1.         To receive the Audited Financial Statements for the financial year ended 30 June 2021 together with the Reports of the 
                  Directors and the Auditors thereon.

    No.      Resolutions                                                                                        Resolution       For        Against

      2.                                                                                                                                     1
                  

      3.                                                                                                                                    2
                  

      4.                                                                                                                                     3
                  

    5(a).                                                                                                                                   4
                  

    5(b).                                                                                                                                   5
                  

      6.                                                                                                                                     6
                  

                As Special Business:

      7.         Authority to issue shares pursuant to the Companies Act 2016.                                    7

      8.         Retention of Mr. Gary Ho Kuat Foong as an Independent Non-Executive Director.          8

      9.         Retention of Ms. Claire Lee Suk Leng as an Independent Non-Executive Director.            9                  

     10.        Special Resolution                                                                                                  10
                  - Proposed Amendments to the Constitution of the Company.

*  Delete if not applicable

                                                                                                            Number of shares held:
                                                                                                            
Dated this ________ day of ____________2021                                          CDS account no.:

                                                                                                            Telephone no.:
                                                                                                            
                                                                                                            Email address:
____________________________________
Signature/Common Seal of Shareholder

*I/We (full name) _____________________________________________________________________________________________________

*NRIC/Passport/Company/Registration No. _______________________________________________________________________________

of (full address) _________________________________________________________________________________________________________
being a *member/members of TMC LIFE SCIENCES BERHAD [Registration No. 200301021989 (624409-A)] hereby appoint:-

*and

Name Address NRIC/Passport No. Telephone no. Proportion of
Shareholdings (%)

To approve the payment of Directors’ fees amounting to RM500,000 for the
financial year ending 30 June 2023.

To approve the payment of Directors’ benefits amounting to RM120,000 for the
financial year ending 30 June 2023.

To re-elect Ms. Wan Nadiah binti Wan Mohd Abdullah Yaakob who is due to retire
as a Director pursuant to Clause 97 of the Company’s Constitution.

To re-elect Mr. Kan Kheong Ng who is due to retire as a Director pursuant to Clause
97 of the Company’s Constitution. 

To re-appoint Ernst & Young PLT as the Company’s Auditors and to authorise the
Directors to fix their remuneration.

To approve the declaration and payment of a final single-tier dividend of 0.2215
sen per ordinary share in respect of the financial year ended 30 June 2021.



Lastly, fold this flap for sealing

Fold here

Fold here

Poll Administrator
SS E Solutions Sdn. Bhd.
Level 7, Menara Milenium,
Jalan Damanlela, Pusat Bandar Damansara,
Damansara Heights,
50490 Kuala Lumpur,
Wilayah Persekutuan.

Affix
Stamp
Here

Notes:

1. A member of the Company entitled to attend, participate, speak and vote at the Meeting is entitled
to appoint not more than two (2) proxies to attend, participate, speak and vote in his stead. A proxy
may, but need not, be a member of the Company and there shall be no restriction as to the
qualification of the proxy. 

2. Where a member appoints two (2) proxies, he shall specify the proportions of his holdings to be
represented by each proxy, failing which the appointment shall be invalid.

In light of the COVID-19 pandemic and the National Recovery Plan implemented by the Government
of Malaysia, the Securities Commission Malaysia had on 16 July 2021 revised its Guidance Note
and FAQs on the Conduct of General Meetings for Listed Issuers (“Guidance Note”), which states
that listed issuers are encouraged to conduct fully virtual general meetings during Phase 2, 3 and 4
of the National Recovery Plan and all meeting participants including the chairperson of the meeting,
board members, senior management and shareholders shall participate in the meeting online. 

According to the Guidance Note, an online meeting platform can be recognised as the meeting
venue or place under Section 327(2) of the Companies Act 2016 provided that the online platform
is located in Malaysia.

3. Where a member is an authorised nominee as defined in the Securities Industry (Central Depositories)
Act, 1991, such member may appoint not more than two (2) proxies in respect of each securities
account it holds in ordinary shares of the Company standing to the credit of the said securities
account. 

4. Where a member of the Company is an exempt authorised nominee which holds ordinary shares in
the Company for multiple beneficial owners in one securities account (“omnibus account”), there is
no limit to the number of proxies which the exempt authorised nominee may appoint in respect of
each omnibus account it holds.

5. If no name is inserted in the space provided for the name of your proxy, the Chairman of the Meeting
will act as your proxy. 

6. The appointment of a proxy may be made in a hard copy form or by electronic means in the following
manner and must be received by the Company not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time
appointed for holding the Meeting at which the person named in the appointment proposes to vote:

i. In hard copy form
In the case of an appointment made in hard copy form, the proxy form must be deposited at SS
E Solutions Sdn. Bhd., Level 7, Menara Milenium, Jalan Damanlela, Pusat Bandar Damansara,
Damansara Heights, 50490 Kuala Lumpur, Wilayah Persekutuan.

ii. By electronic means via email
In the case of an appointment made via email transmission, this proxy form must be received
via email at eservices@sshsb.com.my. 

For option (ii), the Company will require the member to deposit the original executed proxy form as
in (i) above no later than Monday, 1 November 2021 at 10:00 a.m. for verification purpose.

iii. Online
In the case of an appointment made via online lodgement facility, please submit the proxy form
electronically via Securities Services e-Portal at https://sshsb.net.my/. 

7. Should you wish to personally participate at the Meeting remotely, please register electronically via
Securities Services e-Portal at https://sshsb.net.my/ by the registration cut-off date and time. Please
refer to the Administrative Guide on the Conduct of a Fully Virtual General Meeting for further details
as attached in the Annual Report.

8. The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the appointor or of his
attorney duly authorised in writing or, if the appointor is a corporation, either under the corporation’s
seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised. The Directors may, but shall not be
bound to require evidence of the authority of any such attorney or officer. An instrument appointing
a proxy to vote at a meeting shall be deemed to include the power to demand a poll on behalf of
the appointor.

9. For the purpose of determining who shall be entitled to attend this Meeting, the Company shall be
requesting Bursa Malaysia Depository Sdn. Bhd. to make available to the Company pursuant to Clause
62 of the Constitution of the Company, a Record of Depositors as at 28 October 2021 and only a
depositor whose name appears on such Record of Depositors shall be entitled to attend this Meeting.



APPENDIX I 

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO OUR CONSTITUTION

Our Constitution shall be amended as follows:

(i) That the existing Clause 142 be deleted in its entirely and substitute with the following new Clause 142 to be read as
follows:-

Minutes and Registers

142. The Directors shall cause minutes to be duly entered in books provided for the purpose:                           Minutes

142.1 of all appointments of officers;

142.2 of the names of all the Directors present at each meeting of the Directors and of
any Committee of Directors and of the Company in general meeting;

142.3 of all resolutions and proceedings of general meetings and of meetings of the
Directors and Committees of Directors; and

142.4 of all orders made by the Directors and any Committee of Directors.
                                                                                                                          
Such minutes shall be signed or signed by electronic means by the Chairman of the
meeting at which the proceedings were held or by the Chairman of the next succeeding
meeting and if so signed, shall be conclusive evidence without any further proof of the
facts thereon stated.



SECURITIES SERVICES e-PORTAL

WHAT IS Securities Services e-Portal?

Securities Services e-Portal is an online platform that will allow both individual shareholders and body corporate shareholders
through their appointed representatives, to -
• Submit proxy form electronically - paperless submission
• Register for remote participation and voting at meetings
• Participate in meetings remotely via live streaming  
• Vote online remotely on resolution(s) tabled at meetings 
(referred to as “e-Services”).

The usage of the e-Portal is dependent on the engagement of the relevant e-Services by TMC Life Sciences Berhad and is by no
means a guarantee of availability of use, unless we are so engaged to provide. All users are to read, agree and abide to
all the Terms and Conditions of Use and Privacy Policy as required throughout the e-Portal.

Please note that the e-Portal is best viewed on the latest versions of Chrome, Firefox, Edge and Safari.

REQUIRE ASSISTANCE?
Please contact Mr. Wong Piang Yoong (DID: +603 2084 9168) or Ms. Lee Pei Yeng (DID: +603 2084 9169) or Ms. Evangeline
Yeoh (DID: +603 2084 9007) or our general line (DID: +603 2084 9000) to request for e-Services Assistance during our office
hours on Monday to Friday from 8:30 a.m. to 12:15 p.m. and from 1:15 p.m. to 5:30 p.m. Alternatively, you may email us at
eservices@sshsb.com.my.

ADMINISTRATIVE
GUIDE

ON THE DAY OF 
THE MEETING

BEFORE THE MEETING

OR

AND

(A) Sign up for a user account at Securities Services e-Portal
Only if you are not an existing registered user

(B) Register for Remote Participation

Where you wish to participate remotely at the
meeting

(C) Submit e-Proxy Form

Where you wish to appoint proxy(ies) to
participate remotely on your behalf (you may
also submit the hard copy Proxy Form)

(D) Join the Live Stream Meeting (eLive) (E) Vote Online Remotely during the
Meeting (eVoting)



(A) Sign up for a user account at Securities Services e-Portal

To register for the meeting under (B) below, please sign up for a user account by 1 NOVEMBER 2021.

To submit e-Proxy Form under (C) below, please sign up for a user account by 28 OCTOBER 2021, failing you
which may only be able to submit the hard copy proxy form.

This is a ONE-TIME sign up only. If you already have a user account,
please proceed to either (B) or (C) below.

(B) Register for Remote Participation at the Meeting

 Log in to https://sshsb.net.my/ with your registered email and password
 Look for TMC Life Sciences Berhad under Company Name and 19th AGM on 3 November 2021 at 10:00 a.m. -

Registration for Remote Participation under Corporate Exercise / Event and click “>” to register for remote
participation at the meeting.

Step 1   Check if you are attending as -
          •    Individual shareholder
            •    Corporate or authorised representative of a body corporate
                 For body corporates, the appointed corporate / authorised representative has to upload the evidence of authority 
                  (e.g. Certificate of Appointment of Corporate Representative, Power of Attorney, letter of authority or other 
                  documents proving authority). All documents that are not in English or Bahasa Malaysia have to be accompanied 
                  by a certified translation in English in 1 file. The original evidence of authority and translation thereof, if required, 
                  have to be submitted at the SS E Solutions Sdn. Bhd. at Level 7, Menara Milenium, Jalan Damanlela, Pusat Bandar 
                  Damansara, Damansara Heights, 50490 Kuala Lumpur, Wilayah Persekutuan for verification before the registration 
                  closing date and time above.
Step 2   Submit your registration.

• All shareholders must register for remote participation at the meeting and are highly encouraged to register as early as
possible and before the eLive access date and time [see (D) below] in order to ensure timely access to the meeting. Access
shall be granted only to eligible shareholders in accordance with the General Meeting Record of Depositors as at 28
October 2021. 

• A copy of your e-Registration for remote participation can be accessed via My Records (refer to the left navigation panel).
• Your registration will apply to all the CDS account(s) of each individual shareholder / body corporate shareholder that

you represent. If you are both an individual shareholder and representative of body corporate(s), you need to register as
an individual and also as a representative for each body corporate.

• As the meeting will be conducted on a fully virtual basis, we highly encourage all shareholders to remotely participate and vote
at the meeting, failing which, please appoint the Chairman of the meeting as proxy or your own proxy(ies) to represent you.

(C) Submit e-Proxy Form

                       Meeting Date and Time                                   Proxy Form Submission Closing Date and Time

         Wednesday, 3 November 2021 at 10:00 a.m.                            Monday, 1 November 2021 at 10:00 a.m.

 Log in to https://sshsb.net.my/ with your registered email and password
 Look for TMC Life Sciences Berhad under Company Name and 19th AGM on 3 November 2021 at 10:00 a.m. -

Submission of Proxy Form under Corporate Exercise / Event and click “>” to submit your proxy forms online for the
meeting by the submission closing date and time above.

Step 1   Visit https://sshsb.net.my/
Step 2   Sign up for a user account
Step 3   Wait for our notification email that will be sent within 
            one (1) working day
Step 4   Verify your user account within seven (7) days of the 
            notification email and log in

• We require 1 working day to process all user sign-ups. If
you do not have a user account with the e-Portal, you will
need to sign up for a user account by the deadlines
stipulated below.

• Your registered email address is your User ID.

BEFORE
THE MEETING



Step 1   Check if you are submitting the proxy form as -
       •    Individual shareholder
       •    Corporate or authorised representative of a body corporate
                  For body corporates, the appointed corporate / authorised representative is to upload the evidence of authority 
                  (e.g. Certificate of Appointment of Corporate Representative, Power of Attorney, letter of authority or other 
                  documents proving authority). All documents that are not in English or Bahasa Malaysia have to be accompanied 
                  by a certified translation in English in 1 file. The original evidence of authority and translation thereof, if required, 
                  have to be submitted at SS E Solutions Sdn. Bhd. at Level 7, Menara Milenium, Jalan Damanlela, Pusat Bandar 
                  Damansara, Damansara Heights, 50490 Kuala Lumpur, Wilayah Persekutuan for verification before the proxy 
                  form submission closing date and time above.
Step 2   Enter your CDS account number or the body corporate’s CDS account number. Then enter the information of your 
            proxy(ies) and the proportion of your securities to be represented by your proxy(ies).
            You may appoint the Chairman of the meeting as your proxy where you are not able to participate remotely.
Step 3   Proceed to indicate how your votes are to be casted against each resolution.
Step 4   Review and confirm your proxy form details before submission.

• A copy of your submitted e-Proxy Form can be accessed via My Records (refer to the left navigation panel).
• You need to submit your e-Proxy Form for every CDS account(s) you have or represent.

PROXIES

All appointed proxies need not register for remote participation under (B) above but if they are not registered
users of the e-Portal, they will need to sign up as users of the e-Portal under (A) above by 28 OCTOBER 2021.
PLEASE NOTIFY YOUR PROXY(IES) ACCORDINGLY. Upon processing the proxy forms, we will grant the proxy access to
remote participation at the meeting to which he/she is appointed for instead of the shareholder, provided the proxy must be a
registered user of the e-Portal, failing which, the proxy will not be able to participate at the meeting as the meeting will be
conducted on a fully virtual basis.

ON THE DAY OF
THE MEETING

Log in to https://sshsb.net.my/ with your registered email and password

(D) Join the Live Stream Meeting (eLive)

                       Meeting Date and Time                                                 eLive Access Date and Time

         Wednesday, 3 November 2021 at 10:00 a.m.                          Wednesday, 3 November 2021 at 9:30 a.m.

 Look for TMC Life Sciences Berhad under Company Name and 19th AGM on 3 November 2021 at 10:00 a.m. -
Live Stream Meeting under Corporate Exercise / Event and click “>” to join the meeting.

• The access to the live stream meeting will open on the abovementioned date and time.
• If you have any questions to raise, you may use the text box to transmit your question. The Chairman / Board / Management

/ relevant adviser(s) will endeavour to broadcast your question and their answer during the meeting. Do take note that the
quality of the live streaming is dependent on the stability of the internet connection at the location of the user.



(E) Vote Online Remotely during the Meeting (eVoting)

                        Meeting Date and Time                                                 eVoting Access Date and Time

          Wednesday, 3 November 2021 at 10:00 a.m.                          Wednesday, 3 November 2021 at 10:00 a.m.

 If you are already accessing the Live Stream Meeting, click Proceed to Vote under the live stream player.
OR

 If you are not accessing from the Live Stream Meeting and have just logged in to the e-Portal, look for TMC Life
Sciences Berhad under Company Name and 19th AGM on 3 November 2021 at 10:00 a.m. - Remote Voting
under Corporate Exercise / Event and click “>” to remotely cast and submit the votes online for the resolutions tabled
at the meeting.

Step 1 Cast your votes by clicking on the radio buttons against each resolution.
Step 2 Review your casted votes and confirm and submit the votes.

• The access to eVoting will open on the abovementioned date and time. 
• Your votes casted will apply throughout all the CDS accounts you represent as an individual shareholder, corporate /

authorised representative and proxy. Where you are attending as a proxy, and the shareholder who appointed you
has indicated how the votes are to be casted, we will take the shareholder's indicated votes in the proxy form.

• The access to eVoting will close as directed by the Chairman of the meeting.
• A copy of your submitted e-Voting can be accessed via My Records (refer to the left navigation panel).
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